

# JRC TECHNICAL REPORTS

# **Meteorological Droughts in Europe**

Events and Impacts

Past Trends and Future Projections

Jonathan Spinoni, Gustavo Naumann, Jürgen Vogt and Paulo Barbosa

2016





This publication is a Technical Report by the Joint Research Centre, the European Commission's in-house science service. It aims to provide evidence-based scientific support to the European policy-making process. The scientific output expressed does not imply a policy position of the European Commission. Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of this publication.

JRC Science Hub https://ec.europa.eu/jrc

JRC100394

EUR 27748 EN

ISBN 978-92-79-55098-0 (PDF) ISBN 978-92-79-55097-3 (print)

ISSN 1831-9424 (online) ISSN 1018-5593 (print)

doi:10.2788/450449 (online) doi:10.2788/79637 (print)

© European Union, 2016

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Cover page photo by Abuelo Ramiro, © Fotolia.com

How to cite:

Spinoni, J., Naumann, G., Vogt, J., Barbosa, P. (2016). Meteorological Droughts in Europe: Events and Impacts – Past Trends and Future Projections. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, EUR 27748 EN, doi:10.2788/450449.

## **Table of Contents**

Exe	ecutive	e Summary	4
			_
1.	Introd	uction	9
2.	Constr	ructing composite meteorological drought indicators	12
	2.1	Input data and variables	12
	2.2	Meteorological drought indicators	13
	2.3	Composite drought indicators	15
3.	Databa	ase of past European meteorological drought events	17
	3.1	How to define a drought event	17
	3.2	Assigning a set of parameters to each drought event	18
	3.3	Regional and country characteristics of drought events	19
	3.4	Biggest drought events from 1950 to 2012	24
4.	Europe	ean drought climatologies and trends	28
	4.1	Drought hotspots in 1951-1970, 1971-1990, and 1991-2010	28
	4.2	Drought trends for the period 1950-2012	29
	4.3	Temporal evolution of areas under drought conditions	32
	4.4	Have the drought trends been driven by rainfall or temperature?	34
5.	Databa	ase of drought impacts	38
	5.1	Review of drought impacts by sector (synthesis of the literature)	38
	5.2	Present databases of drought impacts	45
	5.3	Quantifying the impacts of drought by sector	48
	5.4	First collection of data to be used to assess the impacts of drought events	50
6.	Linking	g past drought events with their impacts	52
	6.1	How to exploit the drought events and impacts databases	52
	6.2	Definition of damage functions to relate drought events to impacts	55
	6.3	Applying the damage functions to cereal yields and hydropower	60
	6.4	Sensitivity analysis and model validation	69

7. Projec	ting drought events towards 210073
7.1	Projecting the input variables according to the scenario A1b
7.2	Computing the drought indicators over the period 1950-2100
7.3	Drought frequency, duration, severity, and intensity in the near future (2041-2070)
7.4	Drought frequency, duration, severity, and intensity in the far future (2071-2100)
7.5	Overview of future European drought tendencies
8. Projec	ting drought impacts
8.1	Use of damage functions to project drought impacts at country level91
8.2	Example of projected impacts: cereal yields92
8.3	Example of projected impacts: hydropower production94
9. Direct	ions for future research
9.1	Improving the database of past drought events and impacts
9.2	Testing new damage functions/methodologies for different sectors97
9.3	Refining drought projections with an ensemble of models and scenarios97
9.4	Coupling drought information with other climate extremes
9.5	Increase the spatial resolution (local/small-scale) and involve more experts
10. Conc	lusions and highlights
11. Refei	rences
List of ac	ronyms
List of fig	jures

-	
List of figures	 125
List of tables	 129

## **Acknowledgements**

We would like to acknowledge the valuable discussions with our colleagues from the drought and floods groups at the JRC. They helped to shape our ideas. We also thank Maddalena Dalí (DG CLIMA) for her valuable comments on the draft report and Gráinne Mulhern for reviewing the English.

The work underlying this publication was funded by the European Commission DG CLIMA as part of the GAP-PESETA project.

### **Executive Summary**

Observational records from 1950 onwards and climate projections for the 21st century provide evidence that droughts are a recurrent climate feature in large parts of Europe, especially in the Mediterranean, but also in western, south-eastern and central Europe. Trends over the past 60 years show an increasing frequency, duration and intensity of droughts in these regions, while a negative trend has been observed in north-eastern Europe. With a changing climate, this tendency is likely to be reinforced during the 21st century, affecting a wide range of socioeconomic sectors.

#### Introduction

The findings presented in this report result from the analysis of climatological data and climate projections made as part of the GAP-PESETA project. This project aimed to gain insights into the patterns of climate change impacts in Europe until the end of the 21st century. The report provides a detailed description of the characteristics of drought events (i.e. their frequency, duration, intensity, severity) across Europe, and their evolution over the period 1950 to 2012, as well as projections until the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. A pan-European database of meteorological drought events for the period 1950-2012 and of their related sectorial impacts has been built and a framework developed that links drought severity to expected damages under present and future climate.

#### Drought events and their characteristics

From 2006 to 2010, 15% of the EU territory and 17% of the EU population were affected by drought on an annual basis, which caused considerable damages and economic losses. The latter were estimated at over €100 billion (EC, 2007<sup>1</sup>). While in the past the Mediterranean area was a region of major concern in Europe, central and eastern Europe and the Carpathian region have also become drought hotspots over the past decades. Due to climate change and increasing pressures on water resources, drought impacts are likely to be more severe in the future, and will therefore require constant monitoring, assessment and adaptation.

Drought events were analysed at different spatial scales (e.g. country, region) using gridded climatological data and three different drought indicators: the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI, which is based on precipitation only), the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) and the Reconnaissance Drought Indicator (RDI), the latter two of which depend on precipitation and potential evapotranspiration. Finally, all three indicators were merged into a composite indicator to derive key drought characteristics over the period analysed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> European Commission, 2007. Water Scarcity and Droughts, Second Interim Report, June 2007, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/quantity/pdf/comm\_droughts/2nd\_int\_report.pdf</u>.

#### Meteorological Droughts in Europe

Based on the analysis of the composite indicator, a new database of meteorological drought events was constructed. This database also reports the twenty-one major droughts that hit Europe from 1950 to 2012, six of which occurred after 2000. Each meteorological drought event has been assigned a set of statistical parameters, including start, end, peak, duration, severity, intensity and area involved. Finally, a climatology of the most relevant drought events was developed for every European country and region from 1950 to 2012. Figure S1 shows key drought characteristics (frequency, duration and severity) for the periods 1951 to 1970, 1971 to 1990, and 1991 to 2010.



Figure S1 - European drought characteristics for the periods 1951-70 (left), 1971-90 (centre), and 1991-2010 (right): frequency (DF, number of events per decade), total drought severity (TDS, dimensionless score), and total drought duration (TDD, months under drought per decade).

While the 1950s and 1960s show drought hotspots in Scandinavia and Russia, the 1970s and 1980s show no outstanding spatial pattern, and the 1990s and 2000s are characterised by drought hotspots in the Mediterranean and the Carpathian Region. A linear trend analysis for the three key drought characteristics shows that, over the entire period 1951 to 2010, Europe can be split into two big areas: the North-East, which experienced decreasing trends, and the South-West, which experienced opposite increasing trends (Figure S2).

Drought frequency (DF, Figure S2 - top) is shown to have increased in the Iberian Peninsula, southern France, the British Isles, northern Germany, Austria, Hungary, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, the Urals, and Cyprus; a decrease can be seen in Iceland, Scandinavia, eastern Europe, and Russia. Regarding long events ( $\geq$  6 months), a more prominent increase can be seen in the Iberian Peninsula and Italy, and a more prominent decrease in Ukraine.

Similar patterns are found for total drought severity (TDS, Figure S2 - middle) and total drought duration (TDD, Figure S2 - bottom): an increase in the Mediterranean region (in particular the Iberian Peninsula, southern France, and Albania), the Carpathian region (in particular Hungary and Slovakia), Ireland, along the Black Sea coast and the Caucasus; by contrast, they are shown to have decreased in Iceland, Scandinavia, Belarus, Ukraine, and Russia. Regarding long events, the only remarkable



differences are a more prominent increase in drought duration in France and northern Italy, and a more pronounced decrease in Ukraine and Belarus.

Figure S2. - European drought trends for the period 1951-2012: drought frequency (DF, number of events per decade, top), total drought severity (TDS, dimensionless score, middle), and total drought duration (TDD, months under drought per decade, bottom). The left column shows results for all events lasting at least two months, while the right column only shows results for long events, lasting six months and more.

#### Present and projected drought damages

Based on the drought event characteristics on the one hand, and impact data derived from various data sources on the other, the correlation between historical droughts (physical aspects) and their impacts (losses) was analysed and a set of damage functions for different economic sectors was developed and tested. For the time being, power-law-based damage functions for cereal production and hydropower production have been retained. These damage functions are univocal for each country and sector investigated.

Results show that it is feasible to use such functions to better understand the links between cereal and hydropower production and drought events. The validation statistics suggest building the damage functions from meteorological data accumulated over three months for cereal production and accumulated over 12 months for hydropower generation.

Results show that droughts do affect a given sector differently in different countries, depending on the country's intrinsic exposure and vulnerability, as well as on existing mitigation measures and the adaptive capacity of the society. The calibrated damage functions were used to project drought impacts until the end of the 21st century.

Climate projections of the Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI) regional climate model (RACMO 2) under the A1b climate scenario were then used to compute drought indicators over the period 1950-2100, followed by an analysis of drought trends for the near future (2041-2070) and the far future (2071-2100). Results show that, over the course of the 21st century, meteorological drought events will tend to become longer, more frequent, intense, and severe in southern Europe – especially in the Mediterranean region and the Balkans - mainly due to the key role of continuous warming. In northern Europe, meteorological drought events will tend to become shorter, less frequent, intense, and severe – especially in Scandinavia - mainly due to a projected increase in precipitation.

The projected tendency towards a drier future for southern Europe and a wetter future for northern Europe causes an opposite behaviour regarding possible drought impacts. Damage functions, calibrated over the past recorded events and applied over the entire range of the scenario outputs, show that cereal yield reductions due to drought are projected to increase in southern Europe and decrease in northern Europe (Figure S3, top) in terms of both frequency and absolute values. Similarly, reductions in hydropower production are projected to increase in southern Europe and decrease in northern Europe (Figure S3, bottom). However, the spatial gradient for hydropower is not as homogeneous as that for cereal production.



Figure S3 - Projected reduction in cereal (top) and hydropower (bottom) production, when comparing the far future (2071 to 2100) to the recent past (1981 to 2010). Left: change in frequency. Right: relative impact on absolute values.

The results of this study open the way for new studies on drought impacts in different sectors. Although further improvements of the presented methodologies are desirable,

the most urgent need is for the collection of standardised and quality-controlled data on drought impacts at regional level.

#### **Directions for future research**

Future research to improve our understanding of the links between droughts and their impacts in different economic sectors should include efforts to improve and extend the database of past drought events and their impacts (based on additional climatological datasets, additional drought indicators, and standardised impact data), testing new damage functions for different sectors (including feedbacks between droughts and other human-induced disasters), refining the drought projections into the future with an ensemble of models and scenarios (e.g. CMIP 5 or later), analysing feedbacks with other climate extremes (e.g. floods, forest fires and heat waves), and developing a network of experts to discuss best practices and methodologies for analysing droughts and their impacts. The latter could possibly be achieved under the umbrella of the European Drought Observatory (EDO).

## 1. Introduction

The European Commission's PESETA II project focused on different climate-related hazards in Europe, with the aim of quantitatively modelling climate change impacts in the past and future (Ciscar et al., 2014). The project dealt with a variety of topics, including agriculture, energy production, river floods, low flows, forest fires, transport infrastructure, coasts, tourism, habitat suitability of forest tree species, and human health. However, some topics were studied in detail, e.g. the impacts on agriculture (Donatelli et al., 2012), whilst others, e.g. drought impacts, have only been partly investigated, considering only streamflow droughts (Forzieri et al., 2014). In order to analyse the impacts on wildfires, coasts, ecosystems and droughts in more detail, a pilot study, named GAP-PESETA, was launched by DG CLIMA and the JRC in early 2014.

**Drought** is a slowly developing phenomenon which affects large areas and populations, and propagates through the full hydrological cycle, with possible long-term economic and environmental impacts (Vogt et al., 2011). It is a natural phenomenon that occurs in all climates, and is one of the most relevant natural hazards that results in significant economic, social, and environmental costs (Vogt and Somma, 2000). Though prolonged droughts can foster land degradation in arid and semi-arid areas, with possible irreversible damage to ecosystems (Winslow et al., 2011), drought is a temporary condition as it is basically a temporary decrease in natural water availability.

Due to its complexity, there is no single definition of drought, and meteorological, agricultural, hydrological, groundwater, and socioeconomic droughts are often distinguished (Heim, 2002; Smathkin and Schipper, 2008; Mishra and Singh, 2010). However, a meteorological drought (i.e. a prolonged rainfall deficit) is the primary cause of a drought, while the other types of drought describe secondary effects on specific ecological and economic compartments (e.g. soil moisture, river flows, reservoirs, and economic sectors). In this study, we therefore focus on meteorological drought, which can be seen as a prolonged deficit in precipitation over a defined region and period of time as compared to average climatological values: the longer and the more spatially extensive the lack of precipitation, the more likely it is that different types of droughts will occur. Temperature (and therefore evapotranspiration) is also used in some of the indicators used in this study, since meteorological drought conditions can be aggravated by, for example, high temperatures, low relative humidity, or strong and persisting desiccating winds (Zampieri et al., 2009; Lei and Duan, 2011). Precipitation provides a direct measurement of water supply conditions over different time scales, and several commonly used drought indicators rely on precipitation measurements only or on simplified water balance models that include evapotranspiration (Heim 2002; Vicente-Serrano, 2010a). As this study deals with meteorological drought events, it is based on meteorological drought indicators such as the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI, McKee et al., 1993), the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI: Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010b), and the Reconnaissance Drought Indicator (RDI: Tsakiris and Vangelis, 2005). However, we also consider drought impacts on areas such as agriculture (Olesen and Bindi, 2002; Ciais et al., 2005), soil (Hirschi et al., 2011), ecology (McDaniels et al., 1997) and energy production (Hightower and Pierce, 2008).

In the recent scientific literature, one can find meteorological drought climatologies regarding Europe that are based on single indicators (van der Schrier et al., 2006), focused on some regions only (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2014) or out of date (e.g. Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002). Moreover, there are many papers that deal with single European drought case studies (see Bradford, 2000, for a collection) and websites that provide European drought bulletins, forecasts, or reports (e.g. the European Drought Observatory - EDO, <u>http://edo.jrc.ec.europa.eu/;</u> the Drought Management Centre for South-Eastern Europe - DMCSEE, http://www.dmcsee.org/; the European Drought Centre - EDC, http://www.geo.uio.no/edc/). However, there is still no unique database of European drought events over the past decades, based on a robust statistical methodology and on a multi-indicator approach. This report describes the construction of such a database of meteorological drought events. The events have been classified - per country and region - according to a set of parameters: duration, severity, intensity, peak and area involved. A list of the biggest drought events over two different accumulation periods (3 and 12 months) that occurred in Europe over the past six decades is also provided.

Besides the construction of the database, we investigated European drought frequency, duration, and severity patterns at high spatial resolution (0.25° x0.25°) for the entire period (1950-2012) and for three 20-year intervals (1951-1970, 1971-1990, and 1991-2010). In the past decades, drought occurrence has shown a slight increasing tendency at a global level (Dai, 2011a; Sheffield et al., 2012; Spinoni et al., 2014a; Trenberth et al., 2014). While Europe as a whole can be seen as a climate change hotspot (Giorgi, 2006; IPCC, 2014), increasing drought tendencies proved to be more evident in Mediterranean Europe (Briffa et al., 2009). However, in Europe, drought does not only affect semi-arid areas such as the Mediterranean region (Hoerling et al., 2012), but extended drought events have also repeatedly occurred in western and central Europe (Rebetez et al., 2006), the British Isles (Perry, 1976), Scandinavia (Hisdal et al., 2006), eastern Europe (Spinoni et al., 2013), and Russia (Arpe et al., 2012). In this report, we present maps and tables regarding European meteorological drought hotspots and trends, under the assumption that a complete picture of the areas that suffered frequent and severe droughts in the past could help scientists, politicians, and stakeholders to respond to future drought challenges (Wilhite, 1997; European Commission, 2007a). Moreover, this may push towards the development of better frameworks for drought assessment, adaptation, and mitigation in a possibly drier future (Sherwood and Fu, 2014).

In the absence or prolonged reduction of precipitation, a meteorological drought can develop quickly and sometimes abruptly. The consequences of repeated drought events include, for example, decreased agricultural production, forest fires, inadequate public water supplies, reduced energy production, permanent land degradation, and desertification (Ciais et al., 2005; Wilhite et al., 2007). Due to the complexity and slow development of droughts (Mishra and Singh, 2010), drought impacts are much more difficult to assess than impacts of other climate-related disasters. In fact, publications about flood impacts are frequently reported in the literature (e.g. Hajat et al., 2005; Dankers and Feyen, 2008; Barredo, 2009; Marchi et al., 2010), because floods cause obvious damages that can be relatively easily quantified. Similarly, wildfires develop abruptly and the resulting impacts are immediately evident (e.g. Moreira et al., 2011).

This is also true for earthquakes (Newmark, 1965; Rose et al., 1997), volcanic eruptions (Stothers, 1999; Trenberth and Dai, 2007), heat waves and cold waves (Huynen et al., 2001; Fouillet et al, 2006; Kovats and Kristie 2006).

On the other hand, **drought impacts** may take months or even years to develop (Vogt and Somma, 2000), and there is currently no comprehensive European or global dataset of drought impacts. Our new database of past European drought events can be used as the basis on which to study the impacts of past drought events and to project the potential impacts of future events, and it can be best exploited in conjunction with a separate drought impacts database. This report also describes the creation of a preliminary database of drought impacts in Europe over different sectors. This impacts database has been used to construct a set of country-based damage functions for correlating the severity of drought events and their possible impacts. We project drought frequency, severity, intensity, and duration for the whole of Europe (excluding Iceland) for the periods 2041-2070 and 2071-2100 under a moderate emissions scenario (A1b; IPCC, 2000, 2013, 2014) and using an ensemble of realisations derived from the KNMI-RACMO2 model (van Meijgaard et al., 2008). Furthermore, we show how the projected variables that define **future drought events** would affect the resulting drought impacts on two sectors: cereal yields and hydropower production.

This report ends with a list of possible improvements of the presented methodologies and results, and suggestions for further research. The analysis of past meteorological drought events, trends, and impacts can be improved by including indicators based on shorter accumulation periods (including the seasonality patterns) and longer accumulation periods (including multi-annual cycles). The database of drought impacts can be enlarged by setting a stratified methodology which allows for the collection of data from more sources and by involving as many data providers as possible, in order to increase the quantity and quality of the drought-impact entries. Considering that the impact database is far from complete, this study should be considered somewhat pioneering, and not conclusive. However, starting from the database of past drought events and impacts described in this report, and including different indicators and entries, the methodology can be refined and adapted based on damage functions, and applied to different sectors. As regards future projections and impacts, other scenario families can be investigated, together with new analyses based on the projection of drought impacts on other relevant economic sectors. Given the current global warming situation and a foreseen warmer and drier future (Sherwood and Fu, 2014), a better quantitative evaluation of drought impacts at the European scale can play an important role in the development of frameworks for drought assessment, adaptation, and mitigation (European Commission, 2007a).

## 2. Constructing composite meteorological drought indicators

#### 2.1 Input data and variables

The main goal of this study was the creation of a dataset of meteorological drought events, based on the two most important meteorological variables as input data. The analyses are based on daily **precipitation** (P), **minimum temperature** ( $T_N$ ), and **maximum temperature** ( $T_X$ ) data from the E-OBS grids (version 10) of the European Climate Assessment and Dataset project (<u>http://eca.knmi.nl/</u>; Haylock et al., 2008) of the Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI). This dataset encompasses the whole of Europe with a spatial resolution of 0.25°x0.25° (see Figure 1). The period analysed is 1950-2012.



Figure 1 - Example E-OBS daily grid of a maximum temperature for 4<sup>th</sup> August 2003, showing the hottest European day since 1950. The original image is available at <a href="http://www.ecad.eu/images/TX-04082003\_obs.png">http://www.ecad.eu/images/TX-04082003\_obs.png</a>

After a first quality check, we computed **mean temperature**  $(T_M)$  as the arithmetic average of minimum and maximum temperatures. Daily temperature values of any given month were transformed into monthly averages if no more than three values were missing. **Precipitation** (P) was transformed from daily values into monthly sums if no more than one value was missing. The monthly series were subsequently quality-checked for a second time and tested for homogeneity with the latest version of the Multiple Analysis of Series for Homogenization software (MASHv3.02; Szentimrey, 1999). If a grid point failed the tests, a weighted combination of the surrounding grid points was used. A few points in Scotland, Italy, Albania, Macedonia, Greece, and Turkey

had to be excluded from the analysis, because neither they nor the surrounding points passed the tests for certain intervals. They represent approximately the 1% of the total grid points.

Meteorological drought indicators are usually based on precipitation only or on precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (PET; Keyantash and Dracup, 2002). **Potential evapotranspiration** (PET) has been calculated from monthly  $T_M$  grids, using a new version (van der Schrier et al., 2011) of the Thornthwaite model (Thornthwaite, 1948). To avoid biases introduced by the computation methodology, tests for homogeneity were also performed for the monthly series of PET, and all of them passed the tests.

## 2.2 Meteorological drought indicators

Globally, two indicators were most frequently applied: the Palmer Drought Severity Index (**PDSI**: Palmer, 1965) and the Standardized Precipitation Index (**SPI**: McKee et al., 1993). We selected the SPI, for it requires only precipitation data as input, while the PDSI and its modified version, the self-calibrated PDSI (sc-PDSI: Wells et al., 2004), rely on many assumptions and variables that may complicate the analysis for extended regions like Europe. However, the SPI and the PDSI show similar results in Europe when the SPI is computed for 9- or 12-month accumulation periods (Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002).

Due to global warming (IPCC, 2014), we assume that it is important to consider at least one drought indicator that is directly or indirectly based on temperature inputs. We chose the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (**SPEI**: Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010a) because it is frequently applied (Begueria et al., 2013) and based on the difference between P and PET. When computed for 6- to 12-month accumulation periods, it proved to be highly correlated with the sc-PDSI in Europe (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010b).

In order to provide results based on a more robust methodology, we selected a third indicator, the Reconnaissance Drought Indicator (**RDI**: Tsakiris and Vangelis, 2005), that is based on the ratio between P and PET and is frequently applied in south-eastern Europe (Tsakiris et al., 2007). The three indicators have recently been applied simultaneously in China (Gao et al., 2012) and eastern Europe (Spinoni et al., 2013).



Figure 2 - Time series of the SPI-3 for the United Kingdom, averaged over the entire UK territories.

The mentioned indicators were computed for two different accumulation periods: **3-month** (related to ecosystem and agricultural impacts) and **12-month** (related to hydrological impacts) accumulation periods from 1950 to 2012 (see an example for the UK in Figure 2). The indicator calculations are based on different distributions providing for the best fit to the data in order to ensure that the results are not biased by the choice of a statistical distribution. We fitted the cumulated precipitation by the Gamma distribution (Thom, 1958) for the SPI, the cumulated difference P-PET by the log-logistic distribution (Shoukri et al., 1988) for the SPEI, and the cumulated ratio P/PET by the log-normal distribution (Heyde, 1963) for the RDI, following the approaches of the authors who originally presented these indicators, from which we also obtained the drought classes (Figure 3). All the available data in the period 1950-2012 have been used to fit the distributions.

SPI value	Class	CDF	Probab (%)
SPI > 2.0	Extreme Wet	0.977-1.000	2.3
$1.5 < SPI \leq 2.0$	Severe Wet	0.933-0.977	4.4
$1.0 \leq SPI \leq 1.5$	Moderate Wet	0.841-0.933	9.2
-1.0 < SPI < 1.0	Normal Climate	0.159-0.841	68.2
-1.0 ≤ SPI ≤ -1.5	Moderate Dry	0.067 - 0.159	9.2
-2.0 ≤ SPI < -1.5	Severe Dry	0.023 - 0.067	4.4
SPI < -2.0	Extreme Dry	0.000 - 0.023	2.3

Figure 3 - Classification used for the SPI. This also applies to the SPEI and the RDI.

### 2.3 Composite drought indicators

Due to its intrinsic formalism, the SPI cannot always be computed for very dry regions that experience consecutive months without rainfall, while the SPEI may produce misleading results in hot and dry regions, and the RDI may result in unrealistically high values in very cold regions, where PET is close to zero in winter. Thus, it was decided to compute two special indicators based on the combined use of the three indicators mentioned above.

To construct the database of past drought events, we therefore calculated a fourth **composite indicator** (**X**) that is the arithmetic average of SPI, SPEI, and RDI. We distinguish X-3 (from SPI-3, SPEI-3, and RDI-3) from X-12 (from SPI-12, SPEI-12, and RDI-12). If only two indicators are available, the average is obtained from these two only; if only one indicator is available for a certain month, only this indicator is used. Every time an indicator showed unrealistic values (below -3.5 or above 3.5), it was discarded. The X-3 and the X-12 indicators were then used to compute monthly time series at each grid point, country, and regional level. A similar, but more simplified, approach can be found in Ziese et al. (2014).

For the drought climatologies and trends we opted for a different approach and defined a **fifth indicator** (**Z**), which focuses on drought conditions and is structured to favour the predominance of drought conditions (i.e. when more than one indicator, i.e. SPI, SPEI and/or RDI, shows values below -1) over the other possible classes. For any given month and grid point, Z-3 and Z-12 were calculated. Let us consider Z-12, keeping in mind that this methodology also applies to Z-3. **Z-12** is not a simple average: if two or more indicators (2+ in Table 1) suggest drought conditions, then the combined indicator also suggests drought conditions; conversely, if two or more indicators do not suggest drought, then the combined indicator also suggests that there is no drought. If only two indicators are available (<1.5% of cases), the **Z-12** results from the average. If only one indicator is available (<0.4% of the cases), that indicator becomes **Z-12**. We computed a monthly series of **Z-12** for the period 1950-2012 and for every grid point in Europe.

The assignment of drought conditions based on the combination of the individual indicators is detailed in Table 1.

Available	Values of the Indicators	New	Drought
Indicators	(SPI-12 ; SPEI-12 ; RDI-12)	Z-12	Conditions
3	2+ indicators ∈ $[0,+\infty)$	1	wet/normal
	2+ indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,0) // 2+ indicators $\in$ (-1,0)	0	normal/dry
	// 2+ indicators ∈ (-2,-1]	-1	drought
	// 2+ indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,-2]	-2	severe drought
	3 indicators ∈ (-∞,0) in different classes // average of 3 indicators ∈ (-1,0)	0	normal/dry
	// average of 3 indicators $\in$ (-2,-1]	-1	drought
	// average of 3 indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,-2]	-2	severe drought
2	2 indicators $\in [0, +\infty)$	1	wet/normal
	2 indicators opposite in sign	0	normal/dry
	2 indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,0) // 2 indicators $\in$ (-1,0)	0	normal/dry
	// 2 indicators $\in$ (-2,-1]	-1	drought
	// 2 indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,-2]	-2	severe drought
	2 indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,0) in different classes // average of 2 indicators $\in$ (-1,0)	0	normal/dry
	// average of 2 indicators $\in$ (-2,-1]	-1	drought
	// average of 2 indicators $\in$ (- $\infty$ ,-2]	-2	severe drought
1	indicator $\in [0, +\infty)$	1	wet/normal
	indicator $\in$ (-1,0)	0	normal/dry
	indicator $\in$ (-2,-1]	-1	drought
	indicator $\in (-\infty, -2]$	-2	severe drought
0	no indicator available	-999	no data

Table 1 - Computational methodology for the composite indicator Z

## 3. Database of past European meteorological drought events

#### 3.1 How to define a drought event

According to McKee et al. (1993), a drought event starts when the SPI falls below -1 (which corresponds to one standard deviation from the mean) and ends when it turns positive (>0). We adapted this definition to our combined indicator **X**, by assuming that a **drought event** starts when the **X** falls below a certain threshold ( $X_{th}$ ) for at least two consecutive months and ends when the mean value of the series ( $\overline{X}$ ) turns positive. We separately analysed the two different accumulation periods (3 and 12 months), which resulted in two separate databases.

On a grid-point basis, the  $X_{th}$  can be approximated to -1 as this threshold holds for each of the single indicators. On the other hand, over a country or region the spatially averaged series of the combined indicator (X) is no longer standardised, so the threshold is no longer -1, but depends on the size of the country (region) under examination. The values of the averaged series for the country (region) must be fitted to a normal distribution (e.g. Lukacs, 1942) and a mean and standard deviation must be calculated for each **country (regional) series**. The negative value of one standard deviation ( $X_{th}$ =-1 $\sigma$ ) is different for every country (region) and corresponds to the threshold that determines the beginning of the drought event, and the corresponding mean of the series determines the ending of the drought event. An example is given in Figure 4.



Figure 4 - The composite indicator X-3 computed for Greece. In this case, the specific threshold is -0.8.

## 3.2 Assigning a set of parameters to each drought event

Whenever a **meteorological drought event** is detected, it is assigned a set of **statistical parameters** and, for selected case studies, a few descriptive maps:

Start	first month for which the indicator is below the threshold;
End:	last month for which the indicator is below the mean;
Duration:	number of months of the event;
Severity:	a severity score is computed as the sum of the differences, in absolute values, between the indicator values and the threshold (if the value is above the threshold but below the mean it is not counted);
Intensity:	severity divided by duration;
Peak month:	month with the lowest value of the indicator during the drought event; this parameter is presented together with the severity value corresponding to that month;
Area involved :	percentage of the region (or country) with values below -1 computed over the grid points. At grid-point level the value -1 is always set as the unique threshold.
Area involved	
in peak month:	as the name suggests, this does not refer to the widest area affected, but to the affected area during the month with the lowest

See Table 2 and Figure 5 for the example of the Iberian drought in 2005.

value of the indicator.

Drought Event: Iberian Peninsula - 2005					
Indicator	Х-3				
Start // End	01/2005 // 09/2005				
Duration	9 months				
Severity	4.41				
Intensity	0.49				
Peak month	06/2005 (X-3 = -1.53)				
Average area involved	66.4% (Spain 62.0%; Portugal 92.1%)				
Area involved at peak month	79.6% (Spain 76.0%; Portugal 100.0%)				

Table 2 - Statistical parameters for the Iberian drought in 2005.



Figure 5 – Maps for a case study: the Iberian Peninsula drought in 2005. Indicated values correspond to June.

For the calculation of drought climatologies and trends, a supplementary list of **drought-related variables** was computed (see Yevjevich et al., 1967, and Spinoni et al., 2015b, for details):

**Drought Frequency (DF)**: number of drought events during a certain interval. Usually, it is expressed in number of events *per decade* (10 years);

**Total Drought Severity (TDS)**: sum of the severity of the drought events that occurred in a certain period. Though we often computed TDS over 20-year periods, the results are presented *per decade*;

**Total Drought Duration (TDD)**: total number of months under drought during a certain period of time. This is usually expressed in number of months *per decade*.

#### 3.3 Regional and country characteristics of drought events

Defining a drought event on the basis of spatial and temporal extent is not straightforward or univocal, for it may depend on the intensity, the area affected, the peak severity, the chosen thresholds, etc. To construct a European database of past drought events, we focused on two spatial scales: countries and regions. Monthly series of X-3 and X-12 for the period 1950-2012 were calculated for every grid point, and corresponding series for every European country were obtained by averaging the grid values within the national borders. Finally, in order to derive regional series, **Europe was divided into thirteen macro-regions** (Table 3) according to political borders, geographical features, and climatic patterns. These regions are more detailed than the regions used for the economic analysis carried out in the PESETA II study. While the PESETA II regions were defined on a purely economic basis, in this case the main factor is the homogeneity on a climatological basis. However, with a few exceptions of individual countries, the current macro-regions are sub-divisions of the economic regions identified in PESETA II. The correspondence is provided in the last column of Table 3. It

should also be noted that the current study includes territories that were not considered in PESETA II (i.e. the Balkan countries, the European part of Russia and ex-USSR territories, as well as Iceland, Greenland and the Svalbard Islands).

Since impact data are generally provided per **country**, meteorological droughts were investigated at country level. On the other hand, we investigated the events at **regional level** to determine the biggest droughts that occurred in each part of Europe in the past six decades. Finally, we compiled a list of the overall most relevant European droughts that occurred in 1950-2012, by considering the events that involved more than one region (multi-regional events).

Region	Code	Countries	PESETA II Regions
AEGEAN SEA	AEG	Cyprus, Greece, Turkey	Southern Europe
BALKANS	BLK	Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Croatia,	
		Montenegro, Rep. of Macedonia, Serbia, Slovenia	[+Slovenia]
BALTIC REPUBLICS	BLC	Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania	Northern Europe
BRITISH ISLANDS	BRIT	Faroe Islands, Great Britain, Ireland	UK & Ireland
CENTRAL EUROPE	CEN	Austria, Germany, Liechtenstein, Switzerland	Central Europe North
	FACT	Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Hungary,	Central Europe
EASTERN EUROPE	EAST	Poland, Romania, Slovak Republic	South [-Slovenia]
EUROPEAN RUSSIA	RUS	European Russia	
EX-USSR	ex- USR	Belarus, Moldova, Ukraine	
FENNOSCANDIA	FEN	Denmark, Finland, Norway, Sweden	Northern Europe
FRANCE-BENELUX	FBLX	Belgium, France, Luxembourg, Monaco, The Netherlands	Central Europe North [ -Poland +France]
IBERIAN PENINSULA	IBE	Andorra, Portugal, Spain	Southern Europe
ICELANDS	ICE	Greenland, Iceland, Svalbard Islands	
ITALY	ITA	Holy See, Italy, Malta, San Marino	Southern Europe

Table 3 – Thirteen macro-regions as defined for this study

To trigger drought mitigation actions, different indicators and thresholds must be implemented. Since a drought onset is identified when the composite indicator falls below a given threshold for two or more consecutive months, a slight difference in the estimation of the threshold may lead to erroneous estimates of the drought onset and duration (Steinemann and Calvancanti, 2006; Carrao et al., 2014). This key issue is accounted for in this report by using adapted thresholds that are computed following the aggregation procedure for the country-averaged time series. Commonly and as described in previous sections, a drought event "starts" when the composite indicator falls below -1 for two or more consecutive months. However, this threshold is valid for single-grid-point series only. Due to the aggregation of several grid points, it needs to be

20

recomputed by adjusting the threshold to the 15.87 percentile, which corresponds to one standard deviation for a normal distribution (Lukacs, 1942).

The importance of threshold definition is presented in Figures 6 and 7 where the differences between choosing a fixed threshold of -1 (Figure 6) or a threshold that reflects the distribution of the values for the averaged series (Figure 7) are shown. For the case of Central Europe, the new threshold detects eight meteorological drought events instead of the six that would result from a standard threshold of -1.



Figure 6 - Average monthly series of X-12 for Central Europe. Drought events in red (threshold is -1).



Figure 7 - Average monthly series of X-12 for Central Europe. Drought events in purple (threshold is -0.8).

For every country and region, a time series of X-3 and X-12 is available. In Figures 8 and 9 we show the regional series only.



Figure 8 - Time series based on the composite indicator X-3. The drought events are shown in red.



Figure 9 - Time series based on the composite indicator X-12. The drought events are shown in red.

According to Figures 8 and 9, Europe can be split into two big areas: the northeastern regions that have been hit by more drought events in the 1950s, the 1960s, and the 1970s, and the south-western regions, which are characterised by more drought events in the 1980s, the 1990s, and the 2000s. For every region, the number, average duration and severity of the drought events for three 20-year periods (1951-70, 1971-90, and 1991-2010) have been computed (see Tables 4 and 5).

		Events		Average	Duration	(months)	Average	Severity	(score)
X-3	51-70	71-90	91-10	51-70	71-90	91-10	51-70	71-90	91-10
AEG	4	3	2	6.0	5.7	6.0	1.2	3.0	3.1
IBE	4	6	10	4.0	4.2	6.8	1.3	1.4	1.6
ITA	5	4	6	4.0	4.8	9.2	1.1	1.9	3.1
BLK	4	5	4	5.8	7.0	8.5	2.5	1.9	3.1
EAST	5	6	5	4.6	5.7	5.4	1.4	1.4	1.7
RUS	10	3	4	8.0	3.7	5.0	2.2	1.8	1.5
FBLX	6	6	6	4.0	6.5	6.3	1.4	2.9	1.8
ex-USR	8	6	3	7.5	4.8	7.3	1.9	1.1	1.3
CEN	8	5	2	6.3	6.4	7.5	1.6	2.4	2.7
BRIT	6	4	5	4.5	8.3	4.2	2.1	3.0	1.8
FEN	8	4	5	7.5	5.3	4.8	1.7	1.5	1.4
BLC	7	4	2	7.3	4.5	25.5	2.7	1.1	8.7
ICE	9	2	3*	10.2	5.0	6.7	5.1	1.3	0.8

Table 4 - Regional drought characteristics (X-3). The highest values are in bold.

\*Iceland: no valid data after 2005.

Table 5 - Regional drought character	ristics (X-12). The highest values are in bold.
--------------------------------------	---

		Events		Average	Duration	(months)	Average	Severity	(score)
X-12	51-70	71-90	91-10	51-70	71-90	91-10	51-70	71-90	91-10
AEG	3	4	3	10.7	18.3	27.7	1.7	1.8	5.3
IBE	2	3	5	14.5	9.7	18.6	2.5	1.3	5.5
ΙΤΑ	2	1	4	11.0	30.0	26.3	1.3	5.7	6.9
BLK	5	3	4	9.0	8.3	16.3	2.7	3.6	4.2
EAST	4	2	3	11.8	26.0	19.7	2.4	6.8	3.2
RUS	3	2	1	44.0	12.5	24.0	8.6	1.7	3.5
FBLX	1	2	3	13.0	26.0	33.0	2.6	7.8	7.0
ex-USR	6	2	3	17.2	10.5	11.3	7.2	1.8	1.2
CEN	3	2	3	16.7	25.0	13.7	6.0	8.0	2.6
BRIT	4	3	3	15.8	17.0	16.3	4.2	4.1	3.3
FEN	6	3	2	21.3	12.0	12.5	4.2	0.9	1.8
BLC	4	2	3	20.3	13.5	21.3	5.9	1.6	10.0
ICE	4	1	1*	39.8	13	8.0	15.4	1.0	0.7

\*Iceland: no valid data after 2005.

Both the short-term (X-3) and the long-term meteorological drought events (X-12) show the highest frequency in the period 1951-1970 in most regions. However, the highest frequency in the south-western regions was found in the period 1991-2010. In general, the drought events were longest and most severe in north-eastern Europe during the period 1951-1970, in Central European regions during the period 1971-1990, and in southern Europe during the period 1991-2010. The exact reasons for these temporal and spatial patterns are still unknown, and a detailed analysis of the physical and dynamic atmospheric processes behind them are beyond the scope of this study. However, besides the general climate variability, possible reasons are related to changes in the **atmospheric circulation patterns** as expressed in the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), or the Northern Annular Mode (NAM). Also, possible feedback mechanisms between the land surface and the atmosphere need to be better understood. All of these aspects are currently under scientific discussion and will be in the focus of scientific research in the coming years.

#### 3.4 Biggest drought events from 1950 to 2012

We analysed the X-3 and the X-12 separately to evaluate meteorological drought events that may have impacts on agriculture (usually from 3- to 6-month accumulation periods) and on the hydrological cycle (usually from 9- to 24-month periods; WMO, 2012). We then compiled two separate **lists of meteorological drought events** for each region and assigned to every event the parameters shown in Table 2 and described in Section 3.2. In Tables 6 and 7 we show - for each region - the longest, the most intense, and the most extensive event in terms of area affected.

X-3	Longest	months	Most Severe	score	Widestarea	
AEG	1989	9	1989	5.5	Apr-89	97.7%
IBE	1991-92	12	2005	4.4	May-95	93.3%
ITA	2006-08	16	2001-02	6.0	Jul-03	94.0%
BLK	2000-01	12	1952	5.4	Feb-90	99.0%
EAST	1990	10	2000-01	2.9	Mar-89	92.8%
RUS	1955-56	12	1950-51	5.1	Feb-51	81.8%
FBLX	1989-90	16	1976	5.7	Nov-78	95.4%
ex-USR	1953-54	17	1953-54	5.0	Dec-53	93.0%
CEN	2003	11	2003	4.3	Dec-53	98.6%
BRIT	1975-76	16	1975-76	5.0	Aug-95	99.4%
FEN	1959-60	14	1959-60	2.9	May-60	82.0%
BLC	2005-08	47	2005-08	16.5	Jul-06	100.0%
ICE	1950-51	19	1950-51	17.6	Apr-50	100.0%

## Table 6 - Most relevant meteorological drought events per region according to the composite indicator X-3

X-12	Longest	Months	Most Severe	Score	Widest Area	
AEG	2005-09	58	2005-09	10.4	Oct-01	80.2%
IBE	2005-07	24	2005-07	11.8	Aug-05	97.0%
ITA	1997-02	63	1997-02	16.3	Apr-02	91.4%
BLK	2007-09	26	2011-12	12.5	Mar-89	93.4%
EAST	1992-95	36	1989-91	7.0	Aug-52	84.5%
RUS	1950-56	69	1950-56	16.7	Jun-56	69.8%
FBLX	2009-12	41	1989-92	10	Jun-76	87.0%
ex-USR	1963-65	24	1953-55	14.1	Jun-64	95.8%
CEN	1971-74	37	1959-60	8.7	Aug-76	93.8%
BRIT	1971-74	28	1975-76	8.0	Sep-59	96.0%
FEN	1955-57	27	1959-61	8.6	May-60	76.4%
BLC	2005-09	48	2005-09	28	Aug-06	99.0%
ICE	1962-68	69	1962-68	29.1	Mar-51	100.0%

Table 7 - Most relevant meteorological drought events per region according to the composite indicator X-12

Based on all the events at regional scale, the events involving more than one region have been grouped together in a separate list. This list has been compiled in parallel with a detailed **bibliographical search** and, if possible, for each reported drought event a few related scientific publications have been reported (see Table 8, last column). Figure 10 shows a summary, per region, of the periods that experienced the most relevant drought events from 1950 to 2012.



Figure 10 - Summary of the most relevant drought events, per country and region, from 1950 to 2012

Indicator	Period	Drought Macro-Area	Mentioned (directly/indirectly) by	
X-3 ; X-12	1950-52	Pan-European	Briffa et al., 1994	
			Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002	
			Cherenkova, 2007	
			Sheffield et al., 2009	
X-3 ; X-12	1953-54	Pan-European	Sheffield et al., 2009	
X-3 ; X-12	1955-56	Northern Europe	Veryard, 1956	
			Meshcherskaya and Blazevich, 1997	
			Santos et al., 2000	
X-3 ; X-12	1959-60	North-Central-Eastern Europe	Meshcherskaya and Blazevich, 1997	
			Golubev and Dronin, 2004	
			Zampieri et al., 2009	
			Sheffield et al., 2009	
			Seftigen et al., 2013	
X-3 ; X-12	1964	North-Central-Eastern Europe	Hisdal et al., 2001	
			Zaidman et al., 2001	
			Hannaford et al., 2011	
			Parry et al., 2012	
X-3	1969	UK-Scandinavia	Hannaford et al., 2011	
X-3 ; X-12	1972-74	pan-European	Buchinsky, 1976	
			Dronin and Bellinger, 2005	
			Briffa et al., 2009	
			Stagge et al., 2013	
X-3 ; X-12	1976	Central Europe and British Isles	Perry, 1976	
			Shaw, 1979	
			Doornkamp et al., 1980	
			Morren Jr., 1980	
			Parry et al., 2012	
			Stagge et al., 2013	
X-3	1983	Eastern Europe	-	
X-3	1985	Southern Europe	-	
X-3 ; X-12	1989-91	Southern Europe, Mediterranean	Tselepidaki et al., 1992	
			Briffa et al., 1994	
			Zaidman et al., 2001	
			Tsakiris and Vangelis, 2005	

## Table 8 - List of the 21 most relevant inter-regional drought events that occurred in Europe in 1950-2012.

## Table 8 continued

Indicator	Period	Drought Macro-Area	Mentioned (directly/indirectly) by
X-12	1992	Central Europe	Szinell et al., 1998
			Spinoni et al., 2013
X-3	1994	North-Eastern Europe	-
X-12	1995	Southern Europe	Pal et al., 2004
			Stagge et al., 2013
X-12	1996-97	Central and Northern Europe	Fleig et al., 2011
			Parry et al., 2012
			Stagge et al., 2013
X-3 ; X-12	1999-2001	Southern / Eastern EU	Spinoni et al., 2013
			Stagge et al., 2013
X-3 ; X-12	2003	European heat wave	Fink et al., 2004
			Ciais et al., 2005
			Rebetez et al., 2006
X-3 ; X-12	2004-05	Iberian Peninsula	Garcia-Herrera et al., 2007
			Santos et al., 2007
			Ruiz-Sinoga and Martinez-Murillo, 2009
			Santos et al., 2010
			Stagge et al., 2013
X-3 ; X-12	2005-07	Baltic Republics	Tammets, 2007
			Briede and Lizuma, 2010
X-3 ; X-12	2007-08	Aegean countries	August and Geiger, 2008
			Michaelides and Pashiaridis, 2008
			Simsek and Cakmak, 2010
			Dimitrakopoulos et al., 2011
X-3 ; X-12	2011	France, England, Central Europe	Kendon et al., 2013
			Todd et al., 2013
			Sepulcre-Canto et al., 2014

## 4. European drought climatologies and trends

### 4.1 Drought hotspots in 1951-1970, 1971-1990, and 1991-2010

In order to identify **drought hotspots**, drought frequency (DF), total drought severity (TDS), and total drought duration (TDD) were computed for the whole of Europe and for three 20-year periods (Figure 11). All meteorological drought events lasting at least two months were considered, focusing on the long-term accumulation period (indicator **Z-12**).

In Figure 11, the drought frequency is expressed in number of events *per decade*, the total drought severity represents the sum *per decade* of the severity score of every event occurring in that period, and the total drought duration is given as number of months *per decade*. The maps refer to three different periods: 1951-70, 1991-90, and 1991-2010.



Figure 11 - European drought frequency (DF), total drought severity (TDS), and total drought duration (TDD) maps for 1951-70, 19971-90, and 1991-2010.

In the **period 1951-70**, the values for drought severity and duration were highest in Iceland, Scandinavia, the Baltic Republics, Belarus, Moldova, Ukraine, Western Russia, and the Urals. Frequent, but not severe, meteorological drought events occurred in eastern France and the Balkans. In the **period 1971-90**, no particular drought hotspot can be noticed. This does not mean that no events took place in Europe, but that the 1970s and the 1980s experienced fewer, shorter, and less severe drought events than the other decades. Frequent events, but which were neither intense nor long, occurred in

Central Spain and former Yugoslavia. In the **period 1991-2010**, values of drought severity and duration were highest in Latvia, the Caucasus, and southern Europe, in particular in the Mediterranean area (excluding Sicily). Frequent events occurred also in southern England, the Carpathians, and the Balkans. Iceland is excluded from the analysis regarding this period, because of the lack of valid precipitation data after 2005.

Comparing the results shown in Figure 11 to those presented in Spinoni et al. (2014a), which are based on a different dataset with lower resolution, and precipitation (SPI-12) only, no remarkable difference regarding the hotspots in the periods 1951-1970 and 1971-1990 can be seen compared to this study, except for a higher drought frequency in Scandinavia. The new results highlight more prominent drought conditions in southern Europe in the period 1991-2010. This is probably due to the **temperature rise** that particularly affected southern Europe in the past two decades (IPCC, 2014; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2014). As such an effect cannot be detected using drought indicators based on precipitation only, we recommend including at least one indicator based on temperature (or PET) in the analysis of meteorological droughts.

#### 4.2 Drought trends for the period 1950-2012

To compute the **trends in drought variables** on grid point spatial scale, an approach similar to what has been discussed in Spinoni et al. (2014a) was adopted. Trends for drought frequency (DF), severity (TDS), and duration (TDD) for the period 1951-2012 were computed by splitting the entire period into nine intervals of seven years, computing DF, TDS, and TDD for the single periods, and then performing a linear trend analysis. The trends have been tested for significance with a Student's T-test (Wilks, 2011). In Figure 12, the dotted areas represent grid-points in which the linear trends are significant at 95% confidence level.

We further analysed droughts of different duration, by distinguishing between events lasting two or more months, and long drought events lasting at least six months. In Figure 12, the images on the left represent events lasting two or more months, those on the right represent events lasting six or more months (long events).

**Drought frequency** (Figure 12, top) shows an increase in the Iberian Peninsula, southern France, the British Isles, northern Germany, Austria, Hungary, the Czech Republic, Slovakia, the Urals, and Cyprus; a decrease can be seen in Iceland, Scandinavia, eastern Europe, and Russia. Regarding the long events, a more prominent increase can be seen in the Iberian Peninsula and Italy, and a more prominent decrease in Ukraine.



Figure 12 - European drought trends for the period 1951-2012

**Drought severity** (Figure 12, middle) and **duration** (Figure 12, bottom) show similar patterns: an increase in the Mediterranean region (in particular the Iberian Peninsula, southern France, and Albania), the Carpathian region (in particular Hungary and Slovakia), Ireland, the Black Sea coasts, and the Caucasus; conversely, a decrease is shown in Iceland, Scandinavia, Belarus, Ukraine and Russia. Regarding the long events, the only remarkable differences are a more prominent increase in drought duration in France and northern Italy, and a decrease in Ukraine and Belarus.

In summary, Europe can be split into two big areas: with a few exceptions, the southern and western regions show positive trends of drought frequency, duration, and severity, while the northern and eastern regions show a decrease. In Figure 13 this situation is even more evident: for every grid point we report how many drought variables show negative (less prone to droughts, light blue) or positive trends (more prone to droughts, yellow).



Figure 13 - Increase or decrease of drought variables for the period 1950-2012.

In particular, two hotspots with increasing drought patterns stand out: the Mediterranean region and the region west of the Carpathians. The Mediterranean is widely considered as the European region that is most vulnerable to climate change (Giorgi and Lionello, 2008) and water scarcity (Blinda et al., 2007), especially given the recent occurrence of hot summers that foster droughts (Zampieri et al., 2009). Hoerling et al. (2012) highlighted the recently increased drought frequency in the Mediterranean, and our results confirm such findings, showing that drought events also tend to be longer and more severe in this region. The same applies to the Iberian Peninsula (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2014). In the Carpathian region, many droughts occurred in the past three decades, as reported in Szinell et al. (1998) and Spinoni et al. (2013). In particular, the increase in drought severity and duration is statistically significant at 95% for almost the entire territory of Hungary.

This pattern is also evident in Figure 14, where we present the **trends** shown in Figure 12, but averaged **per country**. The images on the left relate to drought events which lasted at least two months, and the images on the right to drought events which lasted at least six months. With the exception of Iceland, whose average is based on the period 1951-2005, this analysis covers the period 1951-2010. In general, our main results - drought increase in south-western Europe and decrease in north-eastern Europe - agree with the results of recently published studies obtained using different methodologies, indicators, and/or datasets (e.g. Dai, 2011a, 2011b, 2013; Sheffield et al., 2012; van der Schrier et al., 2013).



Figure 14 - Drought trends averaged per country for events lasting more than two months (left) and more than six months (right).

## 4.3 Temporal evolution of areas under drought conditions

The composite indicator Z-12 has also been used to compute, per year (and region), the percentage of **areas under drought condition**. In this study, a grid point is defined as being "under drought condition" in a given month if the composite indicator is below - 1. For every grid point, the number of months per year during which Z-12 < -1 (in %), and an average of all the points within every country (or region), were calculated. In this way, we obtained annual series of areas under drought conditions per country (or region, see Figure 15), from 1950 to 2012.

As expected, we got similar results to those related to drought trends: in fact, according to Figure 14, Europe experienced a general decrease of areas under drought until the early 1980s, followed by a slight continuous increase in the past decades. The north-eastern regions (Iceland, Fennoscandia, European Russia, and former USSR countries) show a decrease, the south-western ones (Iberian Peninsula, Italy, the Balkans, and Aegean countries) an increase, and western, central and eastern Europe (France and Benelux, central Europe, eastern Europe, and Baltic Republics) act like transition zones showing no clear tendencies. This is also clear if we show the trends (in % *per decade*) of such values averaged per country (Figure 16).



Figure 15 - Areas under drought conditions, averaged per year and region, for the period 1951-2012.



Figure 16 - Trends (% per decade) of areas under drought conditions (1951-2010). Significant trends are indicated by the hatched lines.

The main meteorological drivers for these trends (i.e. rainfall, temperature and evapotranspiration) are discussed in section 4.4 and summarised in Figure 17.

## 4.4 Have the drought trends been driven by rainfall or temperature?

The definition of meteorological drought usually refers to a prolonged lack of rainfall and a temporary decrease or deficit in natural water availability (Vogt and Somma, 2000). However, the potential consequences of an increase in temperature and/or evapotranspiration on droughts are still under debate (Trenberth et al., 2014). The dynamics of the soil-water balance are complex (Eagleson, 1978a, 1978b), but in climatology they can be synthesised within the climatic water balance (Milly, 1994). The available water in the soil is computed as the difference between rainfall and evapotranspiration. It follows that both prolonged high evapotranspiration rates as well as prolonged low precipitation rates may lead to meteorological drought. In this study, we used the potential evapotranspiration (PET), based on the Thornthwaite's model (PET<sub>Th</sub>; Thornthwaite, 1948), which mainly depends on temperature. Consequently, a temperature increase is expected to lead to a higher PET and possibly to longer and more severe and frequent droughts.

In order to determine which driver - precipitation, PET, or both - forced meteorological drought trends in Europe in the past six decades, we analysed the relation between the linear trends in precipitation (P), potential evapotranspiration (PET), and drought severity (TDS) over the past 62 years. This analysis was carried out for each country by averaging all values of P, PET, and TDS within the country borders and then analysing the linear trend for each variable and country over the entire time period. The resulting trend can be positive, negative or show no direction at all. The combined interpretation of the slopes (positive, negative, neutral) of these trend lines provides some insight into the main drivers for drought occurrence in the different countries and regions of Europe. They are shown in Figure 17 and discussed below.



Figure 17 – Observed trends of the main drivers of meteorological droughts in Europe (TDS: Drought Severity, P: Precipitation, PET: Potential Evapotranspiration). The signs represent the direction (slope) of the changes and the colours the overall combinations of factors.
#### Meteorological Droughts in Europe

As shown in Figure 17, in the Mediterranean region, Hungary, and Slovakia, the increase in total drought severity (TDS) is driven by both a precipitation decrease and a temperature and corresponding PET increase. Though precipitation is the leading driver of drought in these areas, the evapotranspiration plays an important role. Van der Schrier et al. (2013) reported that PET is a fundamental driver of drought in the Mediterranean area, where the precipitation decrease is not universally significant. Also, Vicente-Serrano et al. (2014) reported the importance of increased temperature and PET regarding increased drought in southern Europe.

In Ireland, Central Europe, the Balkans, Turkey, Latvia, and Estonia, P, PET and TDS show a positive trend. However, the precipitation increase is not significant (at 95%, excluding Estonia), while the PET increase is always significant. It seems that PET is the leading driver of drought in Central Europe, as suggested by Teuling et al. (2013). However, although PET seems to be the key factor in the areas where precipitation trends are not significant (Central Europe and the Balkans), we emphasise that the interannual variability of precipitation can be more important for the occurrence of droughts than the annual trend. This is especially true in cases where the overall precipitation trend is not significant. In such cases, prolonged dry periods can be balanced by extreme rainfall events, resulting in an overall precipitation increase but also in more frequent and severe drought events at the local scale. This situation highlights the importance of continuous monitoring and the medium to long-range forecasting of droughts as a basis for adequate drought management.

In northern and eastern countries, drought severity shows a decrease linked to increased PET (excluding Romania) and precipitation. As both variables show significant trends (except in Poland and Slovenia), precipitation is the main driver in these regions.

On a spatial basis, three countries behave differently to their surrounding areas: Slovenia, Latvia, and Estonia. In Slovenia, the drought severity decrease is almost null, and in Estonia and Latvia the increase is relevant and is probably due to the striking drought events reported in the 2000s (e.g. Tammets, 2007; Briede and Lizuma, 2010). Due to their severity, the latter events will influence the slope of the regression over the 62 years analysed.

Table 9 summarises the **linear trends** (*per decade*) **per country** for mean temperature (TM, shown in °C and directly linked to evapotranspiration), precipitation (P, in mm), drought frequency (DF, events per decade), severity (TDS), duration (TDD), and areas under drought conditions (%). The colours, from red to blue, represent positive (red) and negative (blue) trends. The trends shown in bold - computed only for precipitation and temperature - are significant at  $\geq$ 95% level.

Mean temperature increased everywhere but Romania, and once again precipitation shows distinct tendencies in northern (increase) and southern Europe (decrease).

1951-2010	тм	Р	DF	TDS	TDD	Areas
Cyprus	0.22	-17.6	0.33	5.48	6.96	6.2
Greece	0.10	-21.0	-0.02	8.61	5.85	5.9
Spain	0.20	-8.8	0.18	5.81	5.18	3.7
Turkey	0.11	4.3	-0.06	0.41	-0.40	3.6
Italy	0.24	-5.1	0.05	5.85	3.94	4.2
Portugal	0.22	-23.3	0.30	8.72	6.97	5.5
Albania	0.07	-54.7	-0.11	17.89	12.17	13.0
Macedonia	0.08	-21.9	-0.10	10.81	7.70	8.2
Georgia	0.12	-33.8	-0.09	10.71	5.56	6.7
Bulgaria	0.13	2.0	-0.12	2.87	1.43	2.2
Russia (Eu)	0.26	14.6	-0.12	-3.22	-3.18	-3.1
France	0.25	-4.7	0.03	6.78	5.69	4.5
Montenegro	0.15	-23.5	-0.22	6.23	3.55	3.8
Serbia	0.14	5.6	-0.10	1.53	0.31	-0.1
Bosnia H.	0.22	10.3	-0.02	1.45	0.75	0.3
Croatia	0.17	0.9	0.04	3.83	2.39	2.0
Romania	-0.02	2.1	-0.09	-0.20	-1.38	-0.3
Ukraine	0.25	14.0	-0.18	-3.46	-2.93	-3.3
Slovenia	0.15	16.2	0.16	-0.76	-1.12	-0.8
Moldova	0.18	15.5	-0.16	-3.16	-3.62	-3.4
Hungary	0.14	-3.6	0.15	5.76	4.42	4.2
Switzerland	0.18	3.7	0.02	2.59	2.66	1.1
Austria	0.21	0.4	0.11	1.94	2.11	1.2
Germany	0.23	7.2	0.04	0.29	1.83	0.4
Slovakia	0.21	-2.9	0.08	3.80	4.46	2.9
Czech Rep.	0.20	2.9	0.05	0.95	2.23	1.1
Poland	0.24	10.9	-0.09	-0.98	-0.64	-0.9
Belgium	0.26	11.8	-0.01	0.49	2.48	0.2
UK	0.17	17.3	0.08	-1.32	-0.46	-1.6
The Netherlands	0.24	22.0	-0.11	-2.06	-1.07	-1.3

Table 9 - Linear trends of the most important variables analysed per country and per decade

1951-2010	тм	Р	DF	TDS	TDD	Areas
Belarus	0.32	23.3	-0.12	-4.51	-2.51	-3.3
Ireland	0.15	9.0	0.03	2.51	1.56	1.1
Denmark	0.26	5.0	0.11	1.95	2.56	2.8
Lithuania	0.26	20.5	-0.21	-3.22	-2.44	-3.0
Sweden	0.15	23.6	-0.12	-7.11	-6.00	-6.0
Latvia	0.25	1.6	-0.13	5.08	0.68	1.2
Estonia	0.31	24.5	-0.16	0.95	-1.55	-2.0
Norway	0.17	28.7	-0.17	-5.16	-5.35	-4.1
Finland	0.24	18.7	-0.19	-4.09	-3.69	-4.1
Iceland	0.13	42.3	-0.32	-12.22	-10.57	-9.7

Table 9 - continued

To conclude this section, we focus on the fundamental question of whether findings based on the computation of PET with **Thornthwaite's model (PET<sub>Th</sub>)** are reliable. Contradictory opinions emerge from the literature. Sheffield et al. (2012) pointed out some drawbacks related to drought trends obtained with  $PET_{Th}$ : its estimation may depend too much on temperature without considering wind speed, solar radiation, and relative humidity, which are included in PET computed with the Penman-Monteith's approach (PET<sub>PM</sub>; Allen et al., 1998). On the other hand, Dai (2011b) stressed the effects of global warming on drought and reinforced his opinion by showing that global trends of the sc-PDSI are correlated with precipitation trends, and that they are more prominent when the temperature rise is taken into account (Dai, 2013). Dai (2011a, 2011b) affirmed that the choice of PET<sub>Th</sub> or PET<sub>PM</sub> does not remarkably affect the drought trends, and van der Schrier et al. (2011) shared this opinion. Trenberth et al. (2014) suggested that the choice of the methodology to compute PET is just one of the key issues regarding the uncertainties of drought trends, i.e. climate forcing factors, local patterns, feedbacks, baseline period, input data reliability, natural climate variability, and so on. Trenberth et al. (2014) conclude by saying that drought indicators based on  $PET_{Th}$  can produce reliable outputs, provided that authors and users are aware of the limitations.

Based on this discussion and considering the availability of input data, we used the Thornthwaite method for the analysis of past trends and the **Penman-Monteith method** for analysing future trends. Note that for consistency in the latter case, PET for the reference period (1981 to 2010) was also calculated based on model outputs and using the Penman-Monteith algorithm. The use of  $PET_{PM}$  was feasible since the outputs of the climate models (in our case the RACMO 2 model) provide all the necessary data to calculate  $PET_{PM}$ . We consider that the Penman-Monteith method gives a more conservative estimate of PET as compared to the Thornthwaite method, which relies on temperature data only, and therefore more realistic results especially for projections into the far future which foresee significant temperature increases. This temperature increase could have a significant and maybe exaggerated impact when using the Thornthwaite method.

# 5. Database of drought impacts

Due the complexity of drought, it follows that **quantifying drought impacts** is not straightforward (Wilhite et al., 2007) and it is hard to find a comprehensive drought impacts database. However, many efforts have already been made in this direction at the global level (Eriyagama et al., 2009), and a wide variety of papers, reports, and technical notes regarding the impacts of selected drought events can be found in the scientific literature (e.g. Liverman, 1990; Asner and Alencar, 2010; Mallya et al., 2013; Kendon et al., 2013).

Regarding Europe, the most detailed **database of drought impacts** is currently the European Drought Impact Report Inventory (EDII; Stahl et al., 2012; Stagge et al., 2013; Kohn et al., 2014), which is being compiled together with the European Drought Reference database (EDR; the drought events are described using the SPI) in the framework of the Drought R&SPI Project (http://www.eu-drought.org/). This project has been running since 2011, and the EDII contained more than 4 000 impact entries at the end of 2014, organised per country and event. Such impacts are often descriptive reports and documents with little quantitative information regarding the key aspects of meteorological droughts. However, we assumed that constructing a similar drought impact database would have added little information given the time and human resources to hand. Consequently, the EDII should be considered as a relevant external resource for our study that is free to use after registration.

Complementary to this database, we decided to **collect geo-referenced spatial data** which can be **related to drought impacts**, such as cereal yields, hydropower generation, livestock production, etc. These data, usually available per country and on an annual basis, can help to quantify the impacts of relevant drought events selected according to statistical parameters. In this section, after a synthetic review of the nature of drought impacts for various sectors, we report the most important online drought impact databases. We then describe the provisional structure of a new impact database, structured over drought events detected using our multi-indicator methodology, and finally we report on the first preliminary search for the data that might be used to assess drought impacts in Europe.

# 5.1 Review of drought impacts by sector (synthesis of the literature)

Drought impacts affect almost all parts of the environment and communities. Unlike other natural hazard such as floods, earthquakes or hurricanes that result in clear damages, droughts develop slowly, and drought conditions often remain unnoticed until water shortages become severe and serious impacts begin to occur. The slow nature and long duration of drought typically makes the task of quantifying drought impacts difficult (Wilhite, 2005).

On the other hand, of all extreme weather types, **droughts have one of the largest impacts on society**. Economic damages from drought events can also be catastrophic, with a single drought event capable of causing damages to the tune of billions of Euros. In a previous assessment published by the European Commission's DG Environment, it is reported that, on average, drought and water scarcity over the past 30 years have affected at least 11% of the European population per year, with economic losses estimated at a total of €100 billion over this period (European Commission, 2007b).

**Impacts of natural hazards** can be classified as direct or indirect (Montz and Tobin, 2011). Examples of direct impacts are the physical destruction of buildings, infrastructures, crops or other natural resources. In this context, drought can cause loss of life, reduce crop yields and limit public water supply (Liverman, 1990). Indirect impacts are related to the indirect consequences of the destruction of natural resources. These include temporary rural unemployment or business interruption. In extreme cases, droughts may result in malnutrition, starvation and disease in the more vulnerable countries (Greene, 1974; Prospero and Nees, 1986; Hillier and Dempsey, 2012). Figure 18 schematically shows the propagation of a meteorological drought through the hydrological cycle, resulting in possible direct and indirect social, economic, and environmental impacts. Because of their very nature, most of the drought impacts are indirect due to the dependence of many industrial sectors on water for production and the importance of water for providing services and recreation. These indirect damages can propagate quickly through the economic system, affecting regions far from the origin (Wilhite, 2002).



Figure 18 - Sequence of drought occurrence and resulting impacts for commonly accepted drought types. All droughts originate from a precipitation deficiency. Other drought types and impacts cascade from this deficiency. (Source: National Drought Mitigation Center, Univ. of Nebraska-Lincoln, U.S.A.)

According to the European Commission (2007b), the information provided by Member States made it possible to identify severe events that on an annual basis affected more than 800000 km<sup>2</sup> of the European Union's territory (approximately 37%) and 100 million inhabitants (approximately 20%) in 1989, 1990, 1991, and 2003. The results show that the **annual average impact** has doubled between the 1976-1990 period and the 1991-2006 period, and has reached an average cost of  $\in$ 6.2 billion/year in the most recent years, with an exceptional cost of  $\in$ 8.7 billion in 2003. These estimations only cover economic costs. They do not include social and environmental costs due to the absence of data.

In the scientific and non-scientific literature, the wide spectrum of different drought impacts is often roughly sub-categorised into economic, environmental, and social impacts (Wilhite and Glantz, 1985; see Figures 18-19). Below, we build on these **categories**, providing brief definitions and, where possible, examples of related scientific publications. When not explicitly indicated, the numbers come from the European Commission's report on Water Scarcity and Drought (2007b) or from single entries of the EDII (<u>http://www.geo.uio.no/edc/droughtdb/</u>).



Figure 19 - Schematic presentation of drought impact categories and examples of related drought impacts (Source: Jenkins, 2011)

## Economic impacts

A water deficit induced by droughts affects production, sales and business in a variety of sectors. See also: Benson and Clay (1998), Ward et al. (2006), Harou et al. (2010), etc.

## Socioeconomic impacts

Welfare changes experienced by human beings should be accounted for in the measures of the socioeconomic impacts of drought. The social impacts of drought can affect people's health and safety, cause conflicts between people when water restrictions

are required, and may result in changes in lifestyle. In 2002-2003, Finland experienced water quality problems in 42 waterworks and in many private water wells. In 1995, Spain estimated the number of inhabitants suffering from water restrictions at 12 million, with acute problems in Seville, Cadiz and Palma de Mallorca. From 1992 to 1996, the Spanish Jucar basin experienced a decrease in employment, at a cost of €70 million in lost wages. In England (the South East and Thames river basin districts), about two hundred job losses were attributed in part to restrictions on the use of hosepipes. Regarding the social impacts of drought events, see also Rossi (2000), Alston and Kent (2004), Bithas (2008) and Simelton et al. (2009). During August 2003, the extreme heat wave and drought led to almost 15,000 deaths in France, an excess of 60% over expected mortality for the period (Poumadere et al. 2005).

## Impacts on environmental, forestry, wildfires, and biodiversity

Drought affects the environment in many different ways. Plants and animals depend on water, and under drought conditions their food supply can shrink and their habitat can be damaged. Sometimes the damage is only temporary and their habitat and food supply return to normal when the drought is over. But sometimes drought impacts on the environment can last a long time, or may lead to permanent land degradation. In general, the local and regional biodiversity may be highly affected by drought events. Droughts may for instance lead to desiccation of wetlands, disappearance of species and/or fires. In the Netherlands, loss of nature value may be noted, as it is influenced by the amount of water, the seepage level, the quantity of salt in groundwater and surface water as well as features of the water coming from outside the area.

In recent years, large areas of forest have been destroyed by fires and led to enhanced soil erosion and deficiency in water retention. On the other hand, it should be further considered that some forests, such as forests of eucalyptus, do not appropriately ensure the preservation of biodiversity and sustainable water management. In Portugal, the droughts of 2004-2006 led to costs of 8.8 million  $\in$  linked to forest fires. In Spain, fires on 28,822 ha during the 1994-95 droughts gave rise to expenditures of €36 million. In France, a significant increase in fired areas has been noticed from 1976 to 2003 (+ 17,000 ha). The average cost for a fired hectare is estimated to 8,550  $\in$ . The average cost due to fires in years with outstanding drought can be estimated to €145 million. The exceptional features of the 2003 drought led to a total cost of €370 million. In 2002-03, drought enhanced the presence of dead wood in Finland, more than doubling the number of forest fires, compared to average years.

An extensive list of scientific papers, reports, and books accounting for drought impacts on plants, wildlife, forests, biodiversity, and natural environment can be found. We cite only a few examples regarding drought and wildlife (Roe et al., 2011; Seabrook et al., 2011), biodiversity (Archaux and Wolters, 2006; Feehan et al., 2009), and forests (Leuzinger et al., 2005; Bréda et al., 2006; Rouault et al., 2006; Lindner et al., 2010; Jactel et al., 2012).

#### Impacts on farming and livestock

Farmers may lose money if a drought destroys their crops. If a farmer's water supply is too low, the farmer may have to spend more money on irrigation or to drill new wells. Ranchers may have to spend more money on feed and water for their animals. Businesses that depend on farming, such as companies that make tractors and food, may lose business when drought damages crops or livestock. The cost of the 2003 drought to French farms has been estimated at €590 million (€240 million in 2004, €250 million in 2005; European Commission, 2007b). See also: Thornton et al. (2009) and Campbell et al. (2011).

The first impact of drought on agriculture is a decrease in productivity. In Portugal, the drought of 2004-06 resulted in a cost of  $\in$ 39 million for the farming sector. In France, the impacts of droughts slightly vary from one region to another, and also depend on the type of crop. For cereals, the yields and quality of crops in 2005 were not too far from the average. For autumn crops, an average decrease of about 10% of the yield was observed. For maize, yields fell by an estimated 20% in 2005 compared to 2004. In 2003, 83 departments received subsidies. In 2005, 17 departments received money from the "calamity fund" from the Ministry of Agriculture. From 1989, drought impacts on agriculture have cost France an average of  $\in$ 110 million per year, compared to the impacts on fishery, which have been estimated at  $\in$ 3 million a year. In Lithuania, losses in agricultural production amounted to  $\in$ 12 million in 2002, and  $\in$ 180 million in 2006 (European Commission, 2007b). For further examples, see Ciais et al. (2005), Lehner et al. (2006), Hlavinka et al. (2009), and Falloon and Betts (2010).

## Impacts on public water supply

Drought conditions impact water supplies by decreasing supply and increasing demand for various usages (industrial, agriculture or residential use). According to the European Commission's technical report (European Commission, 2007b) the European population affected by water use restrictions is 50 million in the most sensitive years, which represents a substantial increase since the 1970s. On the basis of recent examples, restrictions have led to a reduction in water consumption by an average of 10%. Belgium assessed that if a 1976 drought event were to occur under the current water demand situation, the country would face a shortage in infiltration capacity for drinking water production for 44 days, with an associated cost of €1.87 million. In Finland, 10000 private houses (equivalent to 40000 inhabitants) that usually get their water from private wells, suffered from insufficient water for household consumption during the drought of 2002-2003. Approximately 200000 m<sup>3</sup> of water were carried by canisters or brought by tank trucks, at an estimated cost of €5.5 million. Due to the 2004-2006 drought, Portugal spent €23.2 million on urban water supply. In 66 municipalities (100500 inhabitants), urban water supply was supplemented by 22850 water tank operations. For further examples, see Shih and Revelle (1995), Cancelliere et al. (1998), Estrela and Vargas (2012), and Hrdinka et al. (2012).

#### Impacts on surface and groundwater

Direct impacts of droughts on surface waters include reduced river flows and reservoir levels. Significant decreases in aquifer levels are the main expression of drought impacts on groundwater. These decreases can also be accompanied by an increased risk of sea intrusion and eutrophication. In Portugal, reservoir levels fell significantly during the 2004-06 droughts, as did the level of some major aquifers, and algal blooms occurred. In the southern province of the Algarve, two major reservoirs - Funcho and Arade were totally depleted. Decreasing flows in rivers gave rise to problems for migrating species (such as the lamprey in the Minho river) and for water abstractions (e.g. Morris et al., 2010). The average flow in Finland is usually about 3 200 m<sup>3</sup>/s per year. In 2003, the flow dropped to 2 100 m<sup>3</sup>/s. Due to the low oxygen concentration in shallow rivers and lakes which experienced eutrophication, fish mortality increased. In Belgium, the lowest water levels for the period 1970-1985 were observed in phreatic wells in 1976. In 2001-03, water levels severely dropped in most phreatic wells. In Finland, at the beginning of 2003, estimates report a reduction of 30 km<sup>3</sup> of water in groundwater aquifers and 30 km<sup>3</sup> in lakes and soil moisture, compared to the average situation. In the UK (the South East and Thames river basin districts), some groundwater levels reached historic lows during the 2005-06 drought (see Marsh et al., 2007).

#### Impacts on industry

Belgium estimated that if a 1976 drought event were to occur under the current water demand situation, two important companies would stop their production for 80 to 100 days. The associated cost was estimated at  $\in$  350 million. Finland reports that during the drought of 2002-03, pulp and paper industries suffered from deficiencies due to drought conditions. Financial losses were estimated at  $\in$ 1 million. Portugal reports that the fertiliser industry and the pulp and paper industry faced an additional cost of  $\in$ 32.25 million in 2004-2006 (European Commission, 2007b). Other relevant information on drought impacts on industry production in the European territories can be found in Lise and Bakker (2005), Bose (2010), Wada et al. (2013), for example.

#### Impacts on power generation: hydropower, thermal, and nuclear

Several Member States have reported a reduction in hydroelectricity production due to drought events (Finland, France, Portugal and Spain). As hydroelectricity production is related to the amount of water stored in the upper reservoirs, the production level can be lower during a drought. Peak demands for electricity then need to be satisfied by other means available in the short term (e.g. gas turbines). The amount of losses depends on hydroelectricity infrastructures and drought severity: €50 million in Finland in 2002-03, €210 million in Spain in 1990-95, €182 million in Portugal in 2004-06. France has reported the impacts of the 2003 summer drought and heat wave on the national French utility EDF due to low flow regimes that have a lower cooling power leading to a reduction in the potential of electricity production (Poumadere et al., 2005). During the 2003 drought, several thermal power plants reported a reduction in the energy production of up to 50% for several days. This reduction can be due to low flow problems or excessive temperature of the water used for cooling, and usually a

combination of both. As reported in the EDII database, a reduction in energy production is usually foreseen if a critical value of river water temperature of 25°C is exceeded. According to reports compiled in the EDII, high water temperatures of the river Rhine in August 2003 at the site of the Biblis nuclear power plant led to the operation of additional cooling towers for several weeks. On 7 August 2003, the cooling towers of the Block A (which was not operating at that time) were also activated in order to reduce the heat of the discharge into the Rhine. A precautionary emergency exemption from environmental legislation was granted to be able to continue energy production (if the critical water temperature were exceeded). Despite these measures, energy production had to be reduced by 50% between 8 and 12 August. On 3 August, the Obrigheim nuclear power plant was forced to shut down. The energy supplier therefore decided to carry out the annual revision works 10 days earlier than planned. During August, the power production was reduced by 100%. Because of the high water temperatures of the river Rhine at the site of the Philippsburg nuclear power plant, the German Ministry for Environment gave the order to reduce production by 20%; the energy supplier (EnBW) proved that Block II could continue to operate at higher river water temperatures (without safety concerns). Until 19 August 2003, the use of river water was permitted only if it did not exceed a temperature of 25°C. During August, power production was reduced by about 30%. Also on 3 August 2003, low flow problems led to a reduction in the power production of the Brokdorf nuclear power plant by 3%, the Krümmel nuclear power plant by 40%, the Stade nuclear power plant by 30%, and the Unterweser nuclear power plant by 70%.

Further examples and information can be found in Lagadec (2004), Kopytko and Perkins (2011), Linnerud et al. (2011), Rübbelke and Vögele, (2011), van Vliet et al. (2012), etc.

#### Impacts on commercial shipping

During low-flow conditions, barges and ships may have difficulty in navigating streams, rivers, and canals because of low water levels, affecting businesses that depend on water transportation for receiving or delivering goods and materials. People might have to pay more for food as a result. Belgium reports that if a 1976 drought event were to occur under the current water demand situation, navigation would be made impossible on the canal system for 115 days, resulting in an estimated cost of  $\in$ 123 million (see the EDII impact database). The estimated damage is only based on the direct damage experienced by the sector itself and thus does not include the sizable economic damages borne by all the industries that depend on this mode of transport. In 2003, navigation on the canal system was hindered for 22 days, with an associated cost of  $\in$ 0.05 million. In the UK (the South East and Thames river basin districts), the low flow of rivers gave rise to navigation problems, and locks could not operate normally due to insufficient water levels (Marsh and Harvey, 2012).

#### Impacts on tourism and recreation

Since many activities in the tourism sector are water-related, droughts can bring critical losses. Droughts have impacts on both summer and winter activities. In Europe,

44

little data has so far been available on this issue. France reports losses of  $\in$ 144 million during the winter of 2006-07 in the French Alps (Savoie and Haute-Savoie). Portugal had to mitigate the negative effects on urban water supply during the 2004-05 drought by investing some  $\in$ 23 million to perform 22850 water tank operations in 66 municipalities (100500 inhabitants) (European Commission, 2007b). While it proved difficult to retrieve scientific publications in this field, there are many non-scientific publications (e.g. newspaper articles) on the impacts of drought on tourism. However, the latter usually lack quantitative information and provide more qualitative estimates.

# 5.2 Present databases of drought impacts

Here we briefly list the most relevant drought impact databases that can be accessed online. Unfortunately, the current situation shows that only a few structured databases exist, most of them regarding single U.S. States or regions.

**European Drought Reference (EDR)** / **European Drought Impact Report Inventory (EDII)** - The European Drought Reference (EDR) database and the European Drought Impact Report Inventory (EDII) have both been compiled as part of the EU-funded Drought R&SPI Project (Stahl et al., 2012). The database is designed to provide a single, publicly available site to disseminate detailed information about historical drought events in Europe. See the official reports (http://www.eu-drought.org/technicalreports) for further information. The EDII is organised per country and event. While it provides very useful documentation of past drought events in Europe, the reported impacts are based on descriptive reports, documents and publications with often limited and quantitative information that has not been standardised. The geo-referencing of the impact data also has limitations. We therefore decided to complement the EDII with a more quantitative database for specific impact categories for which quality-controlled data can be retrieved from official data sources, such as statistical offices, international organisations or the insurance industry.

Website (EDR): <u>http://www.geo.uio.no/edc/</u>

Website (EDII): <u>http://www.geo.uio.no/edc/droughtdb/</u> (Figure 20).



Figure 20 - The interface of the EDII database: the impacts of droughts can be searched according to different criteria.

**European Drought Observatory (EDO)** - The European Drought Observatory (EDO) makes use of the European Media Monitor (EMM) to retrieve information on droughts and related topics from news portals worldwide in many languages. During exceptional droughts, EDO also provides drought reports or bulletins. EDO is maintained by the Joint Research Centre (JRC) of the European Commission, and will host the database of past meteorological drought events described in this report. EDO is available at <u>http://edo.jrc.ec.europa.eu</u> (Figure 21).



Figure 21 - Homepage of the European Drought Observatory.

**Drought Impact Reporter / Drought Management Database (U.S.A.)** - The National Drought Mitigation Centre of the University of Nebraska-Lincoln launched the Drought Impact Reporter on their website in 2005. Through continuous updates, it collects and displays several types of impact information. All the information available in the Drought Impact Reporter is based on user and media reports; consequently not all the information included is peer-reviewed. The Drought Management Database (DMB) divides the impacts into eight categories: farming, livestock production, water supply and quality, energy, recreation and tourism, fires, plants and wildlife, and society and public health.

Website of the Drought Impact Reporter: <u>http://droughtreporter.unl.edu/</u> (Figure 22) Website of the DMB: <u>http://drought.unl.edu/droughtmanagement/Home.aspx</u>



Figure 22 - Map of drought impacts of the National Drought Mitigation Centre, U.S.A.

Western Water Assessment's Socioeconomic Climate Impacts database (U.S.A.) - The Western Water Assessment's (WWA's) Socioeconomic Climate Impacts database is a publicly accessible and searchable collection of peer- and non-peer-reviewed articles, reports, websites, and presentations about the socioeconomic impacts of and adaptations to climate variability and change, focused on the WWA region (Colorado, Utah and Wyoming). The entries are limited to three sectors: agriculture, outdoor recreation, and water.

Website: <u>http://www.socioeconimpacts.org/</u>

**EM-DAT Emergency Disaster Database** - The United Nations Development Program (UNDP) and the Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED; University of Louvain, Belgium) have undertaken a review of existing available historical disaster databases, which summarises the content, presentation, and accessibility of international, national, regional, and event-specific disaster loss databases. Many different types of natural disasters are reported, including droughts, earthquakes, epidemics, extreme temperatures, floods, insect infestation, landslides, volcanic eruptions, wildfires, windstorms, industrial accidents, transport accidents, and so on. Unfortunately, only a few entries regarding drought impacts are available, particularly regarding drought events in Europe.

Website: <u>http://www.emdat.be/</u>

# 5.3 Quantifying the impacts of drought by sector

The degree of social **risk from droughts** is determined not only by the degree of exposure to or frequency of the natural hazard, but also by the vulnerability of society at the moment of a severe event (Wilhite et al., 2007). Understanding and quantifying drought impacts can help the development and the implementation of well-formulated policies and mitigation actions that would lead to a reduction in the risk associated with the forthcoming events. This section describes the main steps followed to construct a **preliminary version of the drought impact database**. The database of past meteorological drought events for the period 1950-2012 is complete, and a first related database quantifying drought impacts is available. The latter should be further developed over the coming years.

Figure 23 shows a summary of the proposed methodological framework for the construction of the drought events and impact database.



Figure 23 - Schematic representation of the database organisation

Firstly, to structure the database it is necessary to develop a clear and precise **definition of drought conditions** through selected indicators, statistical analysis, and a robust methodology. Once an event is detected (see Sections 2 and 3), each drought event should have associated an ID, a list of parameters, and possibly some maps that show its spatial extent. Each drought event should therefore be given the associated information:

- Location (country, region, macro-region, NUTS region or other);
- <u>Period</u> (year(s) and months of drought occurrence);
- <u>Precise period</u> (start and end date): the format should be MM/YYYY, because we use monthly data to assess the drought event occurrence; however, the information on impacts can be in a different temporal resolution;

- <u>Drought category</u>: based on duration, severity, intensity, area involved, peak intensity, etc.;
- <u>Drought-related information</u>: Identification and definition of variables used to define any single drought event. Definition of possible impacts (meteorological, agricultural, hydrological, etc.) according to the statistical parameters and the accumulation period. Description of the evolution of drought indicators. Characterisation of the events that occurred simultaneously in different and nonbordering countries;
- <u>Time series</u>: the time series or maps of the different variables could be retrieved via a hyperlink. They could be static or computed by underlying software, as currently implemented in the EDO portal.

Secondly, **drought impact information** should be inserted. Each reported impact (*YY*) should have an ID that will be associated with their corresponding drought event (XX.YY):

- <u>Location of the reported impact</u>: This can be different from the defined drought event: if the drought event is detected at country level, the impact report can be for a greater (e.g. Central Europe) or smaller spatial scale (NUTS, river basin, a dam or nuclear power plant, etc.);
- <u>Time period</u> (not mandatory): if provided, this can be different from the drought event;
- <u>Type or category of the impact</u>: agricultural, energy production reduction, biodiversity, etc. Such categories of impacts could be the same as the EDII or the DMB of the NDMC, because some kind of standardisation is desirable to make the databases intercomparable;
- <u>Data Source(s)</u>: We should discriminate between two principal categories of impact data sources:
  - periodic reports that are updated regularly (e.g. quarterly, yearly) such as FAO, World Bank, and Eurostat data or the JRC Media Monitor (updated continuously);
  - irregular sources that usually appear with some delay (e.g. scientific publications, PhD theses, official reports) but often include some kind of quantitative information.

We highlight that some **issues** might arise when the impact reports are added to the database. Usually, the official reports are in their original language, so for example the EDII database takes advantage of research and project partners from different countries that regularly check the official reports for their respective country. Moreover, there could be impacts that cannot be classified in any category. Finally, a simple but effective methodology to check the quality of incoming information needs to be defined. For regular contributors this could be an automatic process. For irregular contributors (e.g. stakeholders, or the general public), however, a verification process needs to be in place.

Thirdly, the database could contain information on related **policies**, adaptation and (proactive) prevention measures before the event, and (reactive) mitigation measures

after the event. It follows that in the database an optional field can be included to quantify when and where effective or ineffective measures have been taken.

For each reported impact the following **questions** can be formulated: did the impact demand management? Private or public and at which level? If management was necessary, further questions should be formulated: has any response measure been taken and if yes, which one? If no management was needed, or no measure was taken or reported, a list of recommendations and/or possible measures could be added. However, we understand that the interaction with stakeholders and end-users from different levels and sectors would probably be time-demanding and requires considerable human resources and expertise.

Given the fact that the structure of the EDII dataset could be used as the reference structure to further develop, we suggest building an online interface structured over an entry system based on standard Microsoft Access<sup>™</sup> spreadsheets and tables. The preliminary tests are promising and such a system could become part of the European Drought Observatory (EDO), thus helping to link ongoing monitoring and forecasting with possible impacts.

# 5.4 First collection of data to be used to assess the impacts of drought events

The dataset of past drought events has to be connected to a dataset of drought impacts. Since drought impacts are mostly reported without a common methodology (e.g. media reports, bulletins of environmental agencies, case studies regarding a reduction in agricultural production, peer-reviewed papers discussing case studies, etc.), more quantitative datasets that describe drought impacts have been sought for in this pilot study.

Firstly, we checked global datasets with sparse and sometimes non-continuous drought impact updates. Unfortunately, the majority of the global datasets dealing with climate-related impacts focus on extreme events with immediate (structural) damages, such as floods, wildfires, volcanic eruptions, earthquakes, tornadoes, etc. Moreover, the global datasets contain far more entries regarding less developed countries (where the extreme events cause more severe damage due to a lack of adequate prevention and adaptation strategies) than developed countries. As a consequence, these databases usually contain only a limited number of entries for Europe.

Below, we therefore briefly discuss the most relevant databases that could be used as **sources for a European drought impacts database**, keeping in mind that the EDII dataset should be considered - to our best present knowledge – as the reference source.

The **EDII** impact database (www.geo.uio.no/edc/droughtdb) implemented by the European Drought Centre in the framework of the Drought R&SPI Project provides a list of reported impacts for each selected drought event, categorised by country and impact type. We recommend including part or all of the impacts reported in this database through a scientific collaboration with the EDII developers.

The **EM-DAT international disaster database** (<u>www.emdat.be</u>) is provided by the Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters (CRED) and reports a wide variety of natural and technologicalnatural disasters of the past century. While only a few drought entries regarding Europe are included in EM-DAT, some quantified economic information is available.

The **Global Disaster Identifier Number dataset** (GLIDE; <u>www.gripweb.org</u>) does not provide quantitative information regarding past European drought events, but a short description of some events.

The **DesInventar** inventory system of the impact of disasters (<u>www.desinventar.org</u>) currently does not include European drought events.

Private reinsurance companies such as **Munich-RE** (<u>www.munichre.com</u>) or **Swiss RE** (<u>www.swissre.com</u>) only provide general statistics to external users. However, public institutions may access more detailed data under special agreements.

In order to add different, more quantitative information layers to the existing impact databases, we studied the relationships between detected meteorological drought events and related impacts in different economic sectors that are reported regularly by the World Bank, Eurostat and the FAO. Examples are reductions in crop yields, livestock losses, or changes in hydropower generation and demand. Correlations between the reported changes in the mentioned variables and the characteristics of the drought events as described in the first part of this report can be quantified through dedicated **damage functions** that may be used to estimate possible damages of drought events when no impact data is available, and to project possible damages to future drought events. To do so, annual data related to different sectors possibly correlated with drought impacts were collected from the following sources:

- The FAOSTAT dataset (http://faostat.fao.org)

Downloaded data: crop production and yields, processed crop production, primary and processed livestock, values of agricultural production (VAP), water withdrawal for agriculture, producer and consumer prices, land areas and percentages, and emissions from agricultural soils. Similarly, data about basic goods and foods such as milk, meat, and cheese have been stored.

- The Eurostat dataset (http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu)

Downloaded data: crop production (cereals), land areas, primary energy consumption, round wood production and utilised agricultural area.

- The World Bank dataset (http://www.worldbank.org/)

Downloaded data: various indicators related to land areas, cereal yields, energy production and use (in particular electricity and hydropower), livestock production, forest cover, emissions, and GDP per capita from agricultural activities.

Depending on the need and availability, other databases with similar features may be searched in the future.

# 6. Linking past drought events with their impacts

# 6.1 How to exploit the drought events and impacts databases

As we previously discussed, to construct a **database of past meteorological drought events for the period 1950-2012**, we selected version 10 of the highresolution (0.25°x0.25°) E-OBS gridded daily temperature and precipitation data (version 10; Haylock et al., 2008). Using these data, we computed the SPI, the SPEI, the RDI, and composite indicators based on the predominance of drought or non-drought conditions. The composite indicators have been used to define meteorological drought events for the period 1950-2012 and a corresponding set of parameters: start, end, duration, intensity, severity, peak, and area involved. Subsequently, we constructed a database (split into 3- and 12-month accumulation periods) per country and region, depending on geographical, political and climatic barriers. A detailed analysis of the final database also resulted in a robust evaluation of the European drought hotspots and trends for the period 1950-2012. We also compiled a list of the most severe and widespread drought events that occurred in Europe from 1950 to 2012 and, for each event, we searched for one or more related documents in the scientific literature (see section 3.4).

Compared to the construction of a drought events database, the construction of a **drought impacts database** is more difficult, due to the complexity of drought and the difficulties in quantifying drought impacts (Wilhite et al., 2007). In the literature, a huge variety of scientific papers, reports, newspaper articles, media reportages, and technical notes about the impacts of selected drought events can be found (e.g. Liverman, 1990; Asner and Alencar, 2010; Mallya et al., 2013; Kendon et al., 2013). However, regarding Europe, there is no universally accepted common drought impacts database.

To overcome this deficiency, the European Drought Impact Report Inventory (EDII; Stahl et al., 2012; Stagge et al., 2013; Kohn et al., 2014) was compiled together with the European Drought Reference Database (EDR; the drought events are described using the SPI) in the framework of the Drought R&SPI Project. However, due to the nature of the information sources, the EDII information is often descriptive and deals with qualitative data that in some cases have not been verified by independent sources. Consequently, EDII served as an important source of drought impact information, which we extended with complementary, especially quantitative, information from other data sources. To do so, we collected scientific publications that deal with drought impacts in different sectors, namely the economy (e.g. Ward et al., 2006), farming and livestock production (e.g. Thornton et al., 2009), agriculture (e.g. Lehner et al., 2006 and EC, 2007a), water supply (e.g. Hrdinka et al., 2012), groundwater resources (e.g. Marsh et al., 2007), industry (e.g. Bose, 2010), energy production (e.g. Linnerud et al., 2011), commercial shipping (e.g. Marsh and Harvey, 2012), social systems (e.g. Alston and Kent, 2004), tourism and recreation (e.g. EC, 2007), and forests and biodiversity (e.g. Leuzinger et al., 2005; Feehan et al., 2009; Seabrook et al., 2011). We also collected data from the EM-DAT Emergency Disaster Database, the Global Disaster Identifier Number dataset, and publicly available information from private reinsurance companies as Munich-RE and Swiss RE.

#### Meteorological Droughts in Europe

Finally, in order to add new quantitative data to the impacts database, we collected **annual data per country**, related to different sectors that are possibly correlated with drought impacts. The annual data were used to calibrate **damage functions**, which correlate drought events and their related impacts. Data were taken from three main data sources: the FAOSTAT dataset, the World Bank dataset, and the Eurostat dataset. In particular, we collected data about crop production and yields, processed crop production, primary and processed livestock, values of agricultural production (VAP), water withdrawal for agriculture, producer and consumer prices, land areas and percentages, and emissions from agricultural soils, harvested land areas, primary energy consumption, round wood production, utilised agricultural area, forest cover, emissions, GDP per capita, gross and net income, and production costs. Due to time constraints and the sometimes incomplete time series of the data, only a few relations could be explored within the frame of this pilot study.

Table 10 shows a small **sample** of the entire dataset, i.e. annual total cereal yields (in kilogrammes/hectare) for three European countries (Sweden, Turkey and the United Kingdom). The data were collected for the period 1961-2013, but some quantity or country data is missing, especially from before the 1980s or the 1990s. We highlight the fact that some countries show data only from a certain year onwards, due to the fact that many European countries came into being in the 1990s after the breaking-up of the U.S.S.R. and Yugoslavia. The data are organised in columns - which can be easily exported by the end users – and follow an order that can be based on the countries, on data sources, on the quantities or the year under examination. The user can switch to the preferred order and, in the final version of the online database, should be able to visualise simple graphics of time series, trends, and the possible connections with documented drought events. We also plan to give the user the possibility to suggest the uploading of new data or sources, as can be done in the EDII.

Other data sources - newspapers, media reports, bulletins, technical documents, interactive maps, and peer-reviewed publications – were also collected. However, in this study we limit ourselves to discuss the derivation of the damage functions, apply them to the data, validate the methodology with independent data, and show the potential of the new database with case studies that deal with two different sectors.

Database	World Bank	World Bank	World Bank
Country	Sweden	Turkey	UK
Quantity	Cereals	Cereals	Cereals
Unit	Yield (kg/ha)	Yield (kg/ha)	Yield (kg/ha)
1981	3827.00	1855.10	4 933.15
1982	3 923.94	1871.71	5 438.96
1983	3 653.48	1 978.74	5 377.49
1984	4 492.15	1838.40	6 590.89
1985	3779.12	1971.10	5 592.14
1986	3 907.69	1 931.04	6083.15
1987	3 820.78	2135.53	5 506.13
1988	3 681.52	2137.44	5 399.39
1989	4 325.08	2 250.24	5866.66
1990	4 963.74	1742.11	6170.95
1991	4 492.61	2214.16	6 467.70
1992	3 359.40	2239.45	6324.50
1993	4 758.94	2123.45	6424.44
1994	3 891.37	2 255.02	6 555.52
1995	4 358.62	1 911.52	6872.74
1996	4 893.63	2037.86	7 320.39
1997	4 718.29	2105.75	6695.03
1998	4 379.75	2131.47	6 661.57
1999	4 276.34	2359.48	7043.55
2000	4 560.26	2075.20	7164.75
2001	4 583.34	2 311.05	6291.74
2002	4 780.43	2127.17	7075.61
2003	4 584.49	2 237.68	7029.43
2004	4 892.90	2 297.99	7 030.51
2005	4 932.34	2 466.71	7 196.10
2006	4 292.19	2 626.11	7 277.44
2007	5 150.83	2656.74	6633.44
2008	4 820.45	2359.47	7 420.19
2009	5078.87	2443.59	7 030.57
2010	4 508.59	2783.14	6953.03
2011	4 715.99	2 708.78	6984.56
2012	5 096.67	2957.59	6212.99

Table 10 – Total annual cereal yields for three European countries, from 1981 to 2012.

# 6.2 Definition of damage functions to relate drought events to impacts

Following the detection of meteorological drought events, the next step is to **relate the events to reported impacts**., While incipient efforts to link natural hazards with their impacts are described in recent literature, these studies mostly focused on global and long-term changes of climate features such as the increase in temperature (Nordhaus and Boyer, 2000). Little attention has been given to the impacts of extreme weather events, particularly with regard to droughts. This can be explained by several issues linked to the characterisation of extreme weather and climate events that complicate the issue.

As discussed in the previous chapters, the availability and quality of data on drought impacts in different sectors is one of the main constraints in constructing a convincing database that quantifies the losses from droughts. While different sources of drought impact data do exist (e.g. EM-DAT, EDII), they are far from complete and no consistent methodology to record drought losses is yet available. Recently, the JRC formulated technical recommendations for a European approach to standardise loss data (De Groeve et al., 2013), which propose a **conceptual framework for collecting loss data** that allows for a cost-benefit analysis of different scenarios. The framework considers loss accounting, disaster forensics and risk modelling as key applications. Unfortunately, this structure cannot directly fit the drought impacts because, at the moment, they are still sparsely reported by EU Member States, and are mainly linked to requests for solidarity funds.

Extreme weather and climatic events are - by definition - atypical and usually very rare events. This makes it hard to get a sample size that is big enough to derive a robust linkage between hazards and impacts. Moreover, drought losses include direct and indirect non-market effects that are difficult to represent using single indicators, and relationships between different sectors need to be explained. While Input-Output (IO) models are generally able to represent the relationship between different sectors, they are still not well suited for the analysis of extreme climate events (Okuyama, 2007).

Table 11 briefly presents the main **methodologies** applied **to link climate hazards with their impacts**. The methodologies presented show different levels of complexity and a number of drawbacks that determine the level of confidence achievable in the loss or damage estimation. Before choosing the damage functions as our approach to quantify the link between drought events and impacts, we analysed the published scientific literature about similar methods.

Method	Description
Climate analogues	Based on historical data of weather extremes that serve as analogue for conditions and losses that may occur in the future (Carter, 2007).
	Remarks: case-study dependent.
	Some applications:
	STARS model (PIK, Germany).
	Hoffmann et al., 2014; Gerstengarbe et al., 2013; Lutz et al., 2013; Orlowsky et al., 2010
Damage functions	Reduced formal relationship that links market and non- market impacts to climate indicators (Jenkins, 2012).
	<u>Remarks</u> : Calibrated using data from a limited number of events. Availability and quality of quantitative impact data is usually low.
	Some applications:
	Nordhaus and Boyer, 2000; Jenkins, 2012
Input-Output (I-O) models	Industries consume goods from other industries/sectors to produce their own goods (Okuyama, 2007).
	<u>Remarks</u> : Good for indirect impacts. Widely used in natural disaster studies. Assumption of linearity. Use of economic theories but not well suited for weather extremes such as droughts.
	Some applications:
	Jenkins, 2013; Wiedmann et al., 2007
Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs)	Based on a multidisciplinary analysis, can integrate multiple dimensions of climatic and economic models (Stern, 2007).
	<u>Remarks</u> : as IAMs rely on several type of models (GCM and socioeconomic), the level of uncertainty increases with model complexity. Highly developed for GCMs and RCMs, but less so for impact modelling (Vasiliades et al., 2009, van Vuuren et al., 2011).
	Some applications:
	Warren et al., 2008; Füssel, 2010; Hulme et al., 1995

#### Meteorological Droughts in Europe

The scope of analysing **damage functions** is to ultimately measure the risk of certain drought events under present and future climate scenarios: this information can be used to inform early warning systems in the short term and to develop mitigation plans for different future scenarios. The damage functions can provide a method to evaluate past impacts and project future impacts in the context of climate change. Damage functions are usually based on historical data of both drought events (physical aspects) and impacts (losses). In combination with future projections of extreme drought events, the damage functions can be useful tools for estimating future economic implications.

However, numerous **issues** in the construction of damage functions have been reported. In order to project losses under the assumption of climate change, a very good knowledge of the past impacts is needed. Usually, the data related to drought impacts are not comprehensive, they are not quantitative but just qualitative, and they are frequently biased in countries or regions that do not report every single event but only a few special cases. It follows that the damage functions can provide simplified estimations that are rarely fully calibrated against empirical evidence of past damages (Mastrandrea and Schneider, 2004). Therefore, damage functions usually do not provide definitive estimations, and they might be replaced with more accurate functions as new information and knowledge become available.

In this study, we applied damage functions to link drought events and possible impacts and damages, taking advantage of global datasets that usually report annual data for a diversity of sectors. We focused on cereal **crop production** and **hydropower generation**, assuming that they are directly or indirectly impacted by extreme droughts and can be represented by univariate functions. However, the suitability of different methodologies needs to be explored in order to address more complex relations such as indirect or non-market losses.

The effect of a natural hazard on the objects, goods or population of a particular area depends on complex interrelationships and emerging domino effects. The UN (1991) and the UNDP (2004) define a conceptual framework for risk (R) assessment, which assesses the capacity of a society or system to cope, resist and recover from certain impacts (exposure and vulnerability). Here, the hazard is related to an external factor that will be defined by the intensity of the natural phenomena that threaten the social system (Bohle, 2001). The risk and the hazard are therefore two of the basic quantities that were taken into account to construct the damage functions.

The **hazard** can be defined as the expected number of events of a certain severity in a region and period (N). The drought **risk** can then be considered as the expected damage (D) caused by an event of a certain severity for a given region and time interval (Hergarten 2004; Merz et al., 2009).

$$Risk = ND \tag{1}$$

N=expected mean number of drought events; D=expected Damage

This relation is not a universal statement, and it can only determine the risk of a drought of a certain severity. Considering all possible events, N can be represented by its cumulative density function P(s), where s represents the magnitude of a drought with a severity (s). The magnitude (s) in this context can either be the drought severity (sum of scores during dry conditions in a year), the area affected by a drought of a certain

magnitude, or even follow a bivariate density function (the 'copulas', as described in Lee et al., 2013).

Following the formulation in Hergarten, (2004), let p(s) be the probability density of an event of size "s"

$$p(s) = -\frac{P(s)}{ds}$$
(2)

and D(s) the expected damage. The expected overall damage ( $\overline{D}$ ) is then

$$\overline{D} = \int p(s)D(s)ds \tag{3}$$

and, the total drought risk can be determined by:

$$R = N\overline{D} = N \int p(s)D(s)ds$$
(4)

According to the previous definitions, the risk assessment relies on two main processes: the identification of a suitable distribution that can represent the drought events (**hazard**) and the assessment of the **damage** for a certain sector as a function of the drought severity.

Regarding the drought characterisation and modelling, considerable research has recently been carried out to model and define the **thresholds** that can be suitable for drought representation (e.g. Steinemann and Cavalcanti, 2006; Mishra and Singh, 2011; Carrao et al., 2014). On the other hand, little research is available regarding the link between damages and droughts (e.g. Jenkins, 2012; Jenkins, 2013), and no uniform methodology is universally accepted.

To estimate the damage functions, we therefore propose to link droughts to damages by simple and flexible **power-law dependence**:

$$D(s) = \alpha s^{\beta}$$
(5)

Here,  $\alpha$  is the parameter that scales the function and represents the expected drought damage for a severity of 1. The exponent  $\beta$  can be unitary in some cases, representing a linear relation. However, as depicted in Table 12, the exponent  $\beta$  can also be greater than 1 (exponential growth) or smaller than 1 (limited growth relation). The shape of this relationship conditions the type of drought risk that is expected for each sector. The relationship between drought severity and damage depends on the sector type, the interrelations with other sectors, the diversification of the sector, the mitigation measurements taken to cope with droughts, and other predictable or unpredictable forcing factors.

Exponent β	Type of relation
$\beta = 1$	Linear relation
β < 1	Limited growth relation
$\beta > 1$	Exponential growth
$\beta \approx 0$	No relation
β << 0	Possible positive effects of droughts

Table 12 – Types of relations between drought severity and damages according to  $\beta$ .

Figure 24 presents the shape of some ideal damage functions according to the value of the  $\beta$  parameter.



Figure 24 - Theoretical damage functions for different  $\beta$  values.

In most cases, the damage can be a **linear function** of the drought severity. For instance, a reduction in hydroelectric power generation or a reduction in inland waterways transportation may be determined as being proportional to the reduction in flows for a certain river basin. However, other factors can be present and may lead to changes in other sectors that cannot be taken into account using this methodology, as natural or even technological factors other than droughts can influence the sectors analysed.

Other fundamental questions need to be answered: which drought Indicator should be chosen? Which is the best aggregation or accumulation period? Are there universal thresholds or should we calibrate them depending on the case study? In the next section, we show that, unfortunately, the answers are not univocal.

# 6.3 Applying the damage functions to cereal yields and hydropower

Before testing the damage functions, we need to decide which **drought indicator** could best represent the drought hazard. Unfortunately, there is no univocal answer. Different drought indicators can be used to define drought events. In this research three meteorological drought indicators, as well as the aggregated indicator defined in previous sections, have been tested and selected in order to describe past European drought events (Spinoni et al., 2015a). These indicators are the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI; McKee et al., 1993), the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration index (SPEI; Vicente Serrano et al., 2010a, 2010b), and the Reconnaissance Drought Index (RDI; Tsakiris and Vangelis, 2005). All the indicators have been computed for 3-month and 12-month accumulation periods. As we will see in the following sections, the choice of the best indicator depends on the quantity (or quantities) under investigation.

We therefore propose the construction of damage functions at country level based on **power-law functions** (Hergarten, 2004) for two sectors where the impacts of droughts are direct and relevant, and for which quantitative and quality-checked data are available. The European countries analysed are those that did not change their borders during the past 50 years (e.g. we excluded the Czech Republic and Slovakia), to avoid data disaggregation issues. The sectors analysed are cereal **crop production** (kg/ha) and **hydroelectric power generation** (kWh) for which data were obtained from FAOSTAT and the World Bank Database. Also, inland water transportation of goods was preliminarily analysed using the Eurostat database, but it turned out that the data availability and quality are not of high enough quality to perform statistical analyses and draw conclusive results.

**Cereal yields**, measured as kilogrammes per hectare of harvested land, include wheat, rice, maize, barley, oats, rye, millet, sorghum, buckwheat, and mixed grains. Production data on cereals relate to crops harvested for dry grains only. Cereal crops harvested for hay or harvested greens for food, feed, or silage and those used for grazing were excluded. The FAO allocates production data to the calendar year in which the bulk of the harvest took place. **Hydroelectric power** generation refers to electricity produced by hydroelectric power plants in a country.

Differentiation and **detrend strategies** were tested for both sectors (Box and Jenkins, 1970). For the trend removal, a first order polynomial was fitted and then subtracted from the data, for the differencing procedure each value was subtracted from the previous one. This is equivalent to discrete-time differentiation. Also, the tri-annual differentiation was tested to avoid short term fluctuations. Finally, the degree of correlation between the detrended series and the drought indicators used in this study was assessed. In the future, the statistics dealing with the other tests could also be reported. Here we show the most relevant examples. A correlation analysis was firstly performed using the drought severity as an independent variable, but also using other drought-related characteristics, such as the total area affected by drought, the mean indicator per year, and the absolute minimum (Table 13).

Table 13 – Drought-related characteristics used to quantify annual drought magnitude. In particular, severity is computed as the sum, in absolute values, of monthly values below zero of the selected indicator.

Drought annual characteristic	Definition
Severity	$\sum Indicator < 0$
Mean	$\frac{1}{12}\sum$ Indicator
Area affected	# pixel with Indicator $< -1$
Absolute Minimum	min(Indicator)



Figure 25 – Detrended cereal production compared to drought severity as reflected in six drought indicators.



Figure 26 – Detrended hydropower generation compared to drought severity as reflected in six drought indicators.

Figure 25 and Figure 26 show the **correlation** results on a country basis. Overall, the highest correlations for **crop production** are achieved by using the **SPEI-3**. On a physical basis, the SPEI, with a seasonal aggregation period, seems to be able to effectively represent the seasonal water requirements needed for the different stages of crop growth. Usually, meteorological drought indicators such as the SPEI can also be satisfactorily applied to agricultural drought at medium-term accumulation periods (three or six months, see Mishra and Singh, 2010). Moreover, the best correlation is found for Spain and Hungary (Table 6). In some cases, such as for Spain or France, greater accumulation periods also produce good correlations (see Table 14).

	SPI-3	SPEI-3	RDI-3	SPI-12	SPEI-12	RDI-12
Greece	0.11	0.28	0.23	0.17	0.19	0.17
Spain	0.64	0.54	0.57	0.81	0.68	0.79
Italy	0.36	0.38	0.35	0.17	0.22	0.24
Portugal	0.45	0.30	0.39	0.45	0.32	0.39
Albania	0.02	-0.08	-0.08	-0.01	-0.10	-0.16
Bulgaria	0.32	0.20	0.31	0.43	0.36	0.29
France	0.22	0.41	0.39	0.17	0.45	0.44
Romania	0.16	0.42	0.43	-0.03	0.28	0.21
Hungary	0.39	0.68	0.60	0.39	0.41	0.33
Switzerland	0.18	0.23	0.36	0.24	0.16	0.25
Austria	-0.04	0.13	0.30	0.10	0.01	0.24
Germany	0.16	0.57	0.54	0.13	0.05	0.07
Poland	0.21	0.01	-0.04	-0.14	0.00	-0.03
Belgium	-0.05	0.02	0.17	-0.08	0.10	0.13
UK	0.12	0.18	0.26	0.24	-0.01	0.08
Netherlands	0.12	0.05	0.14	-0.07	0.08	0.05
Ireland	0.31	0.32	0.32	0.20	0.22	0.13
Denmark	0.04	0.03	0.12	0.07	0.10	0.07
Sweden	-0.11	0.04	0.08	0.21	0.25	0.26
Norway	0.07	-0.03	0.14	0.12	0.00	0.01
Finland	-0.15	-0.12	0.10	-0.12	0.45	0.40

Table 14 – Correlation Coefficients between detrended cereal crop production and drought severity

**Hydroelectric power generation** is best modelled with the **SPEI-12** in line with usual reservoir management timescales and the common timescale used to assess hydrological drought events. Best correlations were reported for Portugal and Belgium (Table 15).

	SPI-3	SPEI-3	RDI-3	SPI-12	SPEI-12	RDI-12
Greece	0.46	0.40	0.44	0.59	0.50	0.50
Spain	0.27	0.26	0.34	0.69	0.69	0.70
Italy	0.03	0.02	0.17	0.30	0.31	0.34
Portugal	0.51	0.51	0.59	0.77	0.82	0.81
Albania	0.45	0.57	0.47	0.47	0.58	0.62
Bulgaria	0.35	0.66	0.45	0.67	0.62	0.69
France	0.36	0.49	0.49	0.47	0.53	0.52
Romania	0.32	0.58	0.45	0.29	0.29	0.28
Hungary	0.01	0.23	0.22	0.20	0.09	0.05
Switzerland	0.37	0.34	0.49	0.72	0.73	0.60
Austria	0.32	0.23	0.30	0.15	0.40	0.35
Germany	0.29	0.46	0.35	0.30	0.29	0.26
Poland	0.35	0.39	0.09	0.27	0.37	0.37
Belgium	0.70	0.75	0.66	0.50	0.59	0.55
UK	0.16	0.15	0.16	0.38	0.10	0.10
Netherlands	-0.14	0.11	0.16	-0.07	-0.22	-0.15
Ireland	0.42	0.51	0.52	0.42	0.35	0.27
Denmark	0.38	0.42	0.16	0.40	0.29	0.31
Sweden	0.29	0.23	0.26	0.62	0.48	0.42
Norway	0.35	-0.01	0.00	0.26	0.31	0.39
Finland	0.39	0.49	0.38	0.58	0.72	0.70

Table 15 – Correlation (	Coefficients between	detrended	hydroelectric	power	and
drought seve	erity				

Drought damage functions were then computed using the detrended quantities and the drought severity derived from the SPEI-3 for the cereal production and the SPEI-12 for the hydropower generation. In Figures 27 and 28, we show the **best fit functions** together with the  $\beta$  parameter for the countries where a significant relation was found. The lack of significant relations for some countries can be due to different factors: The

lack of data is the most important obstacle to obtaining robust estimations when analysing weather/climate extremes. By definition, as extremes represent the very tail of the distribution with few data points, long-term time series are needed to obtain sufficient data for robust statistics.



Figure 27 - Drought-damage functions depicting the relationship between reduction in cereal crop production and magnitude of the drought severity. Red lines are presented only for relevant correlations: only nine out of twenty-one countries show a statistically robust correlation.

Moreover, as we discuss later, drought is not the only factor affecting the analysed sectors. The implementation of new technologies, irrigation schemes, the artificial management of water flow in European rivers or changes in policies, for example, can override the relationship between drought severity and its impacts. In order to be able to

64

separate the impacts resulting from various **external factors** from the drought impact, other methodologies such as I/O functions could be explored. However, I/O functions are not yet suited for the analysis of extreme events such as droughts, while damage functions are widely used and their relative simplicity makes it easy to communicate statistically significant and therefore robust results to decision makers.



Figure 28 – The same as Figure 27 but for hydropower generation.

In Figures 27 and 28, the uncertainties are represented with dashed lines. They have been calculated using an error propagation analysis that can be summarised in a few steps.

The damage function is defined as:

$$D(s) = \alpha s^{\beta} \tag{5}$$

The partial derivative of D with respect to s is then:

$$\frac{\partial D}{\partial s} = \pm \alpha \beta s^{\pm (\beta - 1)} \tag{6}$$

Multiplying the previous equation by  $\frac{D}{\alpha s^{\beta}} = 1$ , we obtain:

$$\frac{\partial D}{\partial s} = \frac{\pm D\alpha\beta s^{\pm(\beta-1)}}{\alpha s^{\beta}}$$
(7)

That can be reduced to:

$$\frac{\partial D}{\partial s} = \pm \frac{\beta s}{s} \tag{8}$$

And, finally, we obtain the uncertainties as:

$$\sigma_{\rm D} = \left(\frac{\pm\beta s}{s}\right)\sigma_{\rm s} \tag{9}$$

Though mathematically these uncertainties give an idea of the spread of values of the damages, other physical sources of **uncertainties** should also be taken into account. For example, one should take into account the uncertainties related to the selection of the drought indicator: those related to the computation of the indicator, those regarding the selection and the quantification of the events used to compute the functions, and those related to the quality and accuracy of the impact data.

Regarding **cereal yields** (Figure 27), an exponential relation ( $\beta$ >1) is observed for most of the Mediterranean countries. This reflects the high vulnerability of these countries where water scarcity is a tangible constraint, in particular during hot and dry summers, which have increased significantly over the past decades (IPCC, 2014). The United Kingdom, Romania and Germany also show an exponential relation with  $\beta$ >1, but in lower proportions; in some cases the relation is almost linear. On the other hand, Norway and Finland are characterised by a negative  $\beta$ , suggesting a possible beneficial relationship between crop yields and drought. This might be related to the longer sunlight periods during such events in the northern regions. Similar findings have been discussed by Olesen and Bindi (2002), Maracchi et al. (2005), Alcamo et al. (2007), and Olesen et al. (2011), where climate-related increases in crop yields during drought conditions are expected in northern Europe, while the largest reductions are expected in the Mediterranean region, in the south-western Balkans, and in southern European Russia.

On a **country basis**, the plot of the  $\beta$  parameter for the selected countries (Figure 29) shows notable regional differences between northern and southern countries. These differences can be explained by the different limitations to crop growth in northern and southern regions. Cold temperatures and short growing seasons are the biggest limitations in northern Europe, whereas high temperatures and persistent dry periods during summer usually limit the crop production in southern Europe (Olesen et al., 2011).



Figure 29 - Parameters a and  $\beta$  obtained for the relation between drought severity and reduction in cereal crop production.

With respect to **hydroelectric power generation** (Figures 28 and 30), a consistent relation is observed for most of the countries except for the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Germany, Denmark and Norway. The countries that are most vulnerable ( $\beta$ >1) are Albania, Portugal and Switzerland. These countries rely heavily on electricity production from hydroelectric sources: 100% in Albania, 55% in Switzerland, and 22% in Portugal. The absence of a relationship between droughts and hydropower generation in Norway can be due to the smooth development of their market since the deregulation that started in 1990. As depicted in Amundsen et al. (2006), this allowed the Norwegian market to deal with the 2002-03 winter drought (Finon et al., 2004; Doorman and Botterud, 2008) thanks to good management practices.



Figure 30 – The same as in Figure 29, but for hydroelectric power production.

The contribution of large and small events to the annual damage of a sector can help to understand how a sector is affected by a certain natural hazard and how the risk is perceived. Typically, more attention is given to the most severe events that are associated with high damages but also with a low probability of occurrence. On the other hand, less severe but more frequent events can lead to similar damages if compared with extreme events. Figure 31 shows the **contribution** of drought events of a certain severity on the total reduction in cereal and hydroelectric power production: both sectors have different damage behaviours. The cereal production sector is characterised by greater losses resulting from the less severe but more frequent drought events, while the hydropower sector is mainly affected by the most severe events. Further investigations should be carried out to detail this behaviour.



Figure 31 – Contribution of drought events of a given severity to the total reduction in cereal production (left) and hydroelectric power (right).

# 6.4 Sensitivity analysis and model validation

As already stressed, the damage functions presented should be considered as preliminary results. A **sensitivity analysis** and model validation is, therefore, important. To preliminarily assess the robustness of the damage functions, we studied how the uncertainties in the input factors (methodology used, selection of samples, etc.) can propagate through the overall estimation of the damage functions. To do so, different Monte Carlo simulations (e.g. Binder, 1987) were performed in order to assess the contribution of the individual sources of uncertainty to the output variance. This methodology is based on multiple evaluations of the model with different samples that generate different probabilistic density functions (the 'pdf', see for example Parzen, 1962) of the model outputs.

The analysis of extreme events is directly linked to the **sample size**. By definition, droughts are events with a low (but not extremely low) probability of occurrence. Combined with the limited availability of impact data, this makes the estimation of damage functions unstable or even unpredictable. With decreasing sample size, the uncertainties associated with the estimation could sharply increase. An example is provided in Figure 32: the estimation of the drought damage function for inland water transportation in Germany, considering all samples (n=7) and the estimation without the year 2009 (n=6). During 2009, no severe droughts were observed in Germany, but the transport performance of European inland waterways declined between 15% and 25%.

This was due to the economic and financial crisis that hit the steel industry and led to a severe reduction in transport demand for coal, iron, and metal products, but also for port-hinterland transport of containers (UNECE, 2014). As shown in Figure 32, the estimation for the year 2009 shows high uncertainties (i.e. wide confidence intervals) and low correlation coefficients. The estimation performed without the 2009 data (that can be roughly considered an outlier) shows a closer relationship between drought severity and inland water transport, as depicted by the estimation of the coefficients of determination ( $r^2$ =0.85 for exponential relation and  $r^2$ =0.93 for linear fit) and the narrower confidence intervals.

This example shows the need to **cross-check the information** on losses within different sectors and their relationship with the analysed hazard, in order to avoid introducing effects that are not related to the specific hazard. In most cases, the damage can be a linear function of the drought severity. For instance, the reduction in hydroelectric power generation or a reduction in inland waterways transportation may be determined as proportional to the reduction in river flows in a certain river basin. However, there are other factors that can lead to changes in each sector that cannot be taken into account using this methodology, as there are other natural or even technological factors apart from droughts that influence the sectors analysed.



Figure 32 - Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between Inland Water Transportation and drought magnitude in Germany. Left: all cases with relevant reduction of goods transported; right: Same sample but without year 2009.

The **complexity** of this model increases when more sectors are considered. In a recent publication, Jenkins (2013) highlighted that modified **Input-Output** models are suitable to assess the propagation of economic losses across multiple sectors. An indirect
loss assessment can provide more comprehensive estimations of drought losses for current or projected climate scenarios. However, the methodology is still not satisfactorily calibrated to consider extreme events (Okuyama, 2007) and further research is therefore needed.

The uncertainties due to the sample size and definition can be evaluated through a sensitivity analysis of the model. As described in Naumann et al. (2012), a non-parametric **bootstrap** method was applied to assess the uncertainties. The initial idea behind resampling tests is to perform a collection of artificial data batches of the same size as the actual data, and then to compute the test statistics for each artificial batch. The results provide a number of values of the test statistics corresponding to the number of artificially generated data batches (Wilks, 2011).

Let us assume that a random sample of observations (X={X1, X2,..., Xn}) is used to obtain a sample estimate ( $\theta$ s) of a parameter of interest ( $\theta$ ), which can be the shape or scale parameter that defines the gamma distribution for X. The purpose of bootstrap simulation is to estimate the uncertainty (bias and variance) associated with the sample estimate ( $\theta$ s). According to Efron and Tibshirani (1993), a random sample size of size *n* is drawn with replacement from the original sample.

Using the  $k^{th}$  bootstrap sample of a given number of *b* bootstrap simulations we have:

$$X^{*}(k) = \{X^{*}1, X^{*}2, \dots, X^{*}n\} \qquad k=1, 2, \dots, b$$
(10)

A new bootstrap estimate  $\theta k^*$  of  $\theta s$  can be obtained. The set of  $\theta^* = \{\theta^*1, \beta\theta^*2, ..., \beta\theta^*b\}$  constitutes the sampling distribution of  $\theta s$ . The bootstrap estimate of the bias is then:

$$Bias = (\theta^* m \cdot \theta s) \tag{11}$$

Where  $\theta^*m$  represents the average of all bootstrap estimates  $\theta^*$ . This leads to the bias-corrected estimator of parameter  $\theta$ , which is:

$$\theta = \theta s - Bias = 2\theta s - \theta^* m$$
 (12)

And the variance of  $\theta$ s is estimated by:

Variance = 
$$1/(b-1)$$
\*sum{k=1 to b}( $\theta$ \*k- $\theta$ \*m) (13)

Figure 33 shows the country-specific damage functions that depict the relationship between a reduction in crop production and drought severity for France, and between a reduction in hydropower generation and drought severity for Spain. This function was fitted for the original parameters of an exponential function by using the parameters obtained after the bootstrap technique (see the equations above). Figure 33 also shows the estimation and the family of functions associated with the **bootstrap resampling**. Though members of this family could vary widely, in this case they are all between the error bands.



Figure 33 – Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between a reduction in crop production and drought severity for France (left) and between hydropower generation and drought severity for Spain (right).

This approach could be used to assess and communicate uncertainties to **decision makers**. The uncertainties are intrinsically associated with the datasets, and can help better understand for which situations (and also sectors, countries, spatial resolutions) this tool is more reliable than others. Moreover, this approach could allow for the quantification of the uncertainties when the damage functions are used to assess future projections. For instance, it is possible to use the distribution information for each member of the bootstrap as initial conditions to develop drought damage scenarios. These types of scenario could also prepare decision makers and local stakeholders to take the appropriate action in high- or low-risk situations. Figures 34 and 35 show other examples of damage functions and sensitivity analyses regarding crop reduction and hydropower generation in Romania and Germany.



Figure 34 - Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between crop yield losses (left) and hydropower generation (right) and drought magnitude in Romania.



Figure 35 - Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between crop yield losses (left) and hydropower generation (right) and drought magnitude in Germany.

#### 7. Projecting drought events towards 2100

In the context of **climate change**, characterised by rising temperatures and more extreme precipitation regimes, drought is considered to be one of the most relevant natural disasters, and it is generally assumed that the situation will get worse in the coming decades, with southern Europe as a hotspot for drought (Sheffield and Wood, 2008; Forzieri et al., 2014). However, due to the intrinsic nature of drought and its multiple definitions, the evaluation of **future drought patterns** should be generally handled with care due to the various sources of uncertainties (Burke and Brown, 2008).

This section describes a methodology based on the **projections of meteorological variables**, i.e. precipitation, and potential evapotranspiration, according to the moderate emissions scenario A1b until 2100 (e.g. see IPCC, 2000, for details on climate scenarios). Potential evapotranspiration has been calculated following the Penman-Monteith methodology, which takes into account several meteorological variables as well as the aerodynamic resistance of the land surface. The projected variables formed the basis to compute two indicators, i.e. the **SPI** and the **SPEI** (at 3- and 12-month accumulation scales) over the period **1950-2100**. A set of drought variables – frequency, duration, severity, and intensity – was then derived for the whole of Europe (excluding Iceland) both at grid-point (0.25°x0.25°) and country scale.

The approach focuses on the **characteristics of the events**: namely, we discuss how the average duration, severity, and intensity of the meteorological drought events are projected to change in the near future (**period 2041-2070**) and in the far future (**period 2071-2100**) as compared to the past three decades (period 1981-2010). The last part of this section provides an overview of the European drought tendencies for future decades, based only on the comparisons of the drought indicators. Although there are possible **drawbacks** of our methodology, which we address in this report, the choice of an event-based approach greatly reduces the shortcomings compared to an approach based on the cumulated drought variables.

The projected drought variables, in particular the average drought severity of an event at country level, have been used as input in order to project drought impacts through the damage functions. As we discuss in next chapters, we applied the parameters derived from past drought events and impacts to possible **drought events in the future**, in order to account for the **projected** increase or decrease of **drought impacts** in Europe for the sectors already discussed in Section 2 (cereal crop production and hydropower electricity generation).

#### 7.1 Projecting the input variables according to the scenario A1b

In 2000, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change published a special report on emission scenarios, the SRES (IPCC, 2000). Four main categories (or scenario families) were defined: A1, A2, B1, and B2. The A1 scenario family describes a future world of very rapid economic growth, global population that peaks in the 2050s and declines thereafter, and the rapid introduction of new and more efficient technologies. The A2 scenario family describes a very heterogeneous world: economic development is mainly regionally oriented, the economic growth and technological change are slower than in other scenarios, and population will continuously increase, although the process will be slow. The B1 scenario describes a convergent world with the same global population, which peaks in the mid-century and declines thereafter, but with rapid changes in economic structures toward reductions in material intensity and the introduction of clean and resource-efficient technologies, improved equity, but no additional climate initiatives. The B2 scenario describes a world in which the emphasis is on local solutions to economic, social and environmental sustainability: the population will continuously increase in a world that has intermediate levels of economic development, and less rapid and more diverse technological change than in the A1 and B1 scenarios (IPCC, 2000, 2001).

The **A1 scenario** category can be divided into three subcategories which correspond to different directions of technological change in the energy system. They refer to the fossil-intensive energy sources (A1FI), to the non-fossil energy sources (A1T), and to a balance across all sources (A1B). 'Balance' indicates similar improvement rates which apply to all energy supply and end-use technologies (IPCC, 2000). As we can see from Figure 36, the A1B scenario is the most balanced and foresees moderate but increasing emissions of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) until the mid-century, followed by a slow but remarkable decrease thereafter. Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions are projected to be stable through the whole of the century, and the sulphur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) emissions are projected to increase until the 2030s and to decrease thereafter.



Figure 36 - Global anthropogenic emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and SO<sub>2</sub> for the six illustrative SRES scenarios (A1B, A2, B1 and B2, A1FI and A1T). The IS92a scenario is also shown for comparison (IPCC, 2000, 2001).

The **four scenario families** are expected to lead to different consequences for the climate, agricultural, and socio-economic systems. In the fifth, and latest, assessment report (IPCC AR5, 2014), it was discussed how much the various scenario models have been able to represent what effectively happened in the past decades, and it emerged that the four scenario families, and in particular the A1 class, are able to provide an effective picture of the actual global change (see Figure 37), only slightly overestimating the emissions and, more remarkably, the temperature rise.

For this reason, we selected the **A1b family** to make drought event projections towards the end of the century. Our choice was also based on two other important reasons: firstly, the climate-related analyses in the framework of the PESETA II project were performed using the moderate A1b scenario family for future projections (Ciscar et al., 2014); secondly, the fifth IPCC assessment report – with its new or refined scenario models – was not officially published when the choice of the methodologies to use regarding this report were made, i.e. at the end of 2013.



Figure 37 – Global carbon dioxide emissions, temperature, and sea level rise comparisons between scenario predictions of the five assessment reports (FAR: IPCC, 1990; SAR: IPCC, 1996; TAR: IPCC, 2001; AR4: IPCC, 2000 and 2007; and AR5 CMIP5: IPCC, 2013) and the observations (IPCC, 2014).

During the past years, many different simulations in the scenario family A1b have been created and applied to a wide range of different sectors. To name a few examples, they have been used to study the climate feedbacks between atmosphere and ocean (Soden and Held, 2006), the shift of the Arctic and Antarctic ice areas (Bracegirdle et al.,

76

2008), the sea level rise (Horton et al., 2008), the more frequent precipitation extremes (O'Gorman and Schneider, 2009), socio-economic impacts (Arnell, 2004), tourism (Hamilton et al., 2005), health issues (Selin et al., 2009), and agriculture (Lavalle et al., 2009).

However, though some studies deal with drought projections (e.g., Burke et al., 2006; Hirabayashi et al., 2008; Sheffield and Wood, 2008; Dai, 2011a), only few studies deal with **drought projections** in Europe (Lehner et al., 2006). To overcome such lack, we we selected the KNMI regional atmospheric climate model **RACMO** (version 2.1: van Meijgaard et al., 2008), provided by the Royal Meteorological Institute of the Netherlands, and its output variables (precipitation and potential evapotranspiration) modelled from 1950 to 2100. The spatial resolution is the same as the E-OBS grids provided by the KNMI ECA&D (Haylock et al., 2008), that is: 0.25°x0.25°. The data are provided with monthly temporal resolution. Iceland was excluded from the analyses, for its data failed the homogenization tests in the 2000s.

#### 7.2 Computing the drought indicators over the period 1950-2100

Gridded series of monthly temperature and potential evapotranspiration, modelled and projected from 1950 to 2100, have been used to compute two selected drought indicators, the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI: McKee et al., 1993) and the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI, Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010). Monthly series of SPI-3, SPI-12, SPEI-3 and SPEI-12 have been computed for every grid point (0.25°x0.25°), as have the corresponding averaged series at country level. Figures 38-43 show, as examples, the averaged **SPI-3 and the SPEI-3 series for Germany** for each of the three analysed 30-year periods that represent the recent past, future and far future.



Figure 38 – Average SPI-3 series for Germany for the recent past (1981-2010).



Figure 39 – Average SPEI-3 series for Germany for the recent past (1981-2010).



Figure 40 – Average SPI-3 series for Germany for the near future (2041-2070).



Figure 41 – Average SPEI-3 series for Germany for the near future (2041-2070).



Figure 42 – Average SPI-3 series for Germany for the far future (2071-2100).



Figure 43 – Average SPEI-3 series for Germany for the far future (2071-2100).

Dealing with standardised indicators, two important issues must be carefully addressed: the length of the record used (Wu et al., 2005) and the choice of the **baseline period** (Guttman, 1999). In particular, the baseline period plays a key role in the study of past and future drought events. Let us suppose that a 30-year period is chosen as the baseline: every other period will be computed as a sort of comparison to this period, e.g. 1961-90. Consequently, if the selected period has been characterised by frequent and severe drought events, this will influence the computation of the standardised indicator, and the other periods are likely to be characterised by less frequent and severe drought events. On the other hand, if we select the entire period as the baseline, this shortcoming is avoided, but it may happen that an underlying trend would bias the absolute number of events of a certain period. Figure 44 highlights the differences between the same indicator (the SPI-12) computed over two different baselines: while most of the drought events are detected by both of the series, some of them are identified in one series only.



Figure 44 – Average SPI-12 series for Romania for the recent past computed according to different baselines.

In this study, the second approach (baseline calculated over the entire period studied) was chosen, because we are not interested in the evaluation of past events for which a database has been constructed from measured data. Instead, we aimed to study the **drought tendencies** towards a drier or less dry Europe in the coming decades, and the second approach is well suited for comparisons between different periods.

For our analyses, we focused on three 30-year periods: the present or **recent past** (**1981-2010**), the **mid-term future** (**2041-2070**), and the **far future** (**2071-2100**). We performed separate analyses according to each indicator (the SPI and the SPEI) and accumulation period (3-month or 12-month periods). As the SPI is based only on precipitation as input data, and the SPEI on precipitation and PET data, the drought projections based on the SPEI are expected to be influenced by global warming, as the potential evapotranspiration is computed using temperature as one input variable (e.g. van der Schrier et al., 2013).

Using the monthly series of the indicators at grid-point level, we followed Guerrero-Salazar and Yevjevich (1975), McKee et al. (1993), and Spinoni et al. (2014a) to define the occurrence and the characteristics of meteorological drought events. A **drought event** takes place every time the drought indicator under examination goes below -1 for at least two consecutive months, and it ends every time the indicators turns positive. In a given period, the **drought frequency** is therefore defined as the number of drought events, usually reported in the maps as events *per decade*.

Once a drought event has been detected, it is assigned three fundamental properties: **duration**, **severity**, and **intensity**. Duration refers to the number of months the event lasts, severity refers to the integral area of the event (the sum of the indicator values, in absolute values, during the occurrence of the drought event), and intensity refers to the ratio between severity and duration. It follows that our analyses are based on the **characteristics of the individual events**, not on the total number of months spent in drought condition, and the total severity. Consequently, our analyses were carried out to answer the questions: will drought events be more frequent in Europe, compared to the recent past? Will they be longer, more severe, and more intense?

Although the analyses were performed for both accumulation periods, we show only the results obtained by means of the **SPI-12** and the **SPEI-12**, because longer accumulation periods lead to more stable outputs that are less sensitive to monthly or seasonal variability, which can be a critical drawback of projections based on scenarios (Burke et al., 2006).

# 7.3 Drought frequency, duration, severity, and intensity in the near future (2041-2070)

As discussed in previous chapters, we decided to base our analysis on **comparisons between different periods**. So, the drought patterns of the mid-term (or near) future, i.e. the period **2041-2070**, have been evaluated against the reference period 1981-2010. We used the averaged output data from twelve runs of the RACMO2 model with the A1b scenario for the entire period under investigation, i.e. the period 1950-2100. There was another possible choice, that is using the drought variables for the period 1981-2010 already obtained from the E-OBS (version 10) European grids as reference (Spinoni et al, 2015b). We discarded this possibility after some tests, because the combined use of data derived from the interpolation of measured in situ data for the past and data obtained as the average of multiple runs of a model for the future, caused relevant biases (even though the models have been calibrated and bias-corrected, see Haylock et al., 2008). This is particularly true for regions where the station density is low, for example Russia and Turkey.



Figure 45 – **Drought Frequency (DF)**: near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).

According to the SPI-12 (Figure 46, left), drought events are projected to be more frequent in the near future (2041-2070) than in the recent past (1981-2010) in the Mediterranean region, the Balkans, along the Black Sea coast and in general in southern

Europe. On the contrary, Scandinavia and the Baltic Republics are projected to experience fewer drought events. According to the SPEI-12 (Figure 46, right), the gradient between northern and southern Europe is more evident, but the European midlatitudes are also projected to experience more frequent droughts in the near future (up to 2.5 more events per decade).



Figure 46 – **Drought event Duration (DD)**: near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).

According to the SPI-12 (Figure 46, left), drought events are projected to be, on average, longer in the near future than in the recent past in Spain, along the French Riviera, and in Sicily, Sardinia, Greece and Turkey; they are projected to be shorter in Northern Ireland, central Europe, and Scandinavia. According to the SPEI-12 (Figure 46, right), they will be longer (and longer than projected by the SPI-12) in the entire Mediterranean region and the Balkans, and shorter in the same regions and with the same order of magnitude as highlighted by the SPI-12. It therefore seems that the temperature increase will make the drought events more frequent, but not necessarily longer everywhere.

According to both indicators, drought events are projected to follow, on average, the same spatial patterns regarding severity and duration. In Figure 47, drought severity is expressed on a dimensionless score (per decade, i.e. 10 years), while in Figure 46 the duration is expressed in months per decade. The spatial patterns seen in Figure 47 are similar to those described for drought frequency and duration.



Figure 47– **Drought event Severity (DS)**: near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).



Figure 48 – **Drought event Intensity (DI)**: near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).

Regarding the intensity of the drought events (Figure 48), the spatial patterns are less homogeneous than for the other variables. The average intensity is projected to be higher in central Spain, north-eastern France, northern Italy, the Carpathian region, the Balkans, Belarus, Greece and Turkey. By contrast, it is projected to be lower especially in Scandinavia and Ukraine. In general, it seems that the projected temperature increase will not affect the average intensity of meteorological drought events in Europe in the near future, but the differences could be related to the different precipitation variability.

# 7.4 Drought frequency, duration, severity, and intensity in the far future (2071-2100)

We repeated the analyses discussed in Chapter 7.3 for the **far future (2071-2100)**. This time we compared the far future with the recent past (1981-2010), and also with the near future (2041-2070), in order to evaluate whether global climate change simulated for the A1b scenario will project countinuous trends for drought events, or the partial emission decrease after the 2050s will introduce new feedbacks to drought events and their spatial patterns in Europe.

Figures 49 and 50 show the **comparisons between the far future and the recent past**, **and between the far future and the near future**. We can see that, according to the SPI-12, southern Europe is expected to experience more frequent meteorological drought events in the far future than in the recent past.

This higher drought frequency will be even more remarkable according to the SPEI-12, according to which only Scandinavia will see a decrease. Drought events will be more frequent in the far future than the near future at mid-European latitudes, in particular in central and eastern Europe. To summarise, it seems that the increase in temperature and potential evapotranspiration will be important drivers of the increase in drought frequency in the far future as well as in the near future for most of Europe, excluding Scandinavia and northern Russia, while the Mediterranean region could be considered a hotspot.



Figure 49 – **Drought Frequency (DF)**: far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).



Figure 50 – **Drought Frequency (DF)**: far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).



Figure 51 – **Drought event Duration (DD)**: far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).



Figure 52 – **Drought event Duration (DD)**: far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).

From figures 51 and 52 we notice that, according to the SPI-12, the Mediterranean region - and southern Europe in general - is expected to be involved by longer

meteorological drought events in the far future than in the recent past: this is evident from the SPI-12-based map, but it is even more remarkable from the SPEI-12-based map.

On the other hand, the decrease in northern European regions is lower in absolute values. According to the SPI-12, the increase in drought duration in the far future compared to the near future is only relevant in Spain, while according to the SPEI-12 it is relevant in every part of Europe below 45°N latitude. It seems that the global warming tendency may produce longer drought events (and possibly the consequent impacts) at the end of the century, even under a moderate scenario such as the RACMO2, based on the A1b family.



Figure 53 – **Drought event Severity (DS)**: far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).



Figure 54 – **Drought event Severity (DS)**: far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).

Drought event duration shows very close spatial patterns to drought event severity. Southern Europe is also projected to experience more severe events in the far future than in the recent past and, according to the SPEI-12, the increase will be higher than according to the SPI-12, as the temperature increase is a leading factor for drought severity, in particular for Spain, Greece, and Turkey, the hottest and driest European

#### Meteorological Droughts in Europe

countries (Hoerling et al., 2012). In general, no region, except for north-western Russia, is projected to experience less intense meteorological drought events in the far future compared to the near future (Figure 56). Instead, less severe events will occur in the far future, compared to the recent past, at latitudes greater than 45°N, according to the SPI-12 and only in Ireland, Northern Ireland, Scotland, western Germany, Norway, and Sweden, according to the SPEI-12.



Figure 55 – Drought event Intensity (DI): far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).



Figure 56 – **Drought event Intensity (DI)**: far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right).

Figures 55 to 56 show different spatial patterns in the comparisons between the far and near futures based on the SPI-12 and the SPEI-12 regarding the average intensity of drought events. The drought event intensity is projected to increase in the far future - compared to recent past - in southern Europe, the Balkans, and Belarus according to the SPI-12, but also in France and Central Europe according to the SPEI-12. On the other hand, both indicators foresee a decrease for Scandinavia and Ukraine.

To summarise, the drought variables most influenced by a temperature increase are severity and duration, while intensity seems to depend more on precipitation variability and trends as well as the frequency of meteorological drought events.

#### 7.5 Overview of future European drought tendencies

In order to provide with a **summary of the future European drought tendencies**, the complete monthly records of four indicators (SPI-3, SPI-12, SPEI-3, and SPEI-12) from 1950 to 2100 have been analysed. These indicators were averaged at country level and compared for the three periods already investigated in the previous chapters, i.e. the recent past (1981-2010), the near future (2041-2070), and the far future (2071-2100).



Figure 57 – European drought tendencies in the near future compared to the recent past.

According to the four indicators shown in Figure 57, the southern European countries are projected to be drier in the near future than in the recent past. In particular, the two SPEI indicators project even drier conditions than the SPI indicators for the Mediterranean countries, the Balkans, and Turkey. According to the SPI (and consequently due to precipitation variability and trends), the central and northern European countries are projected to be wetter, in particular the Baltic Republics and Finland.



Figure 58 – European drought tendencies in the far future compared to the recent past.

The comparisons between the far future and the recent past shown in Figure 58 highlight more extreme shifts toward drier conditions for southern Europe, in particular the Iberian Peninsula, Greece, the Balkans and Turkey. On the other hand, more extreme shifts towards a wetter northern Europe can be seen, involving in particular Finland but also central Europe. In the last decades of the current century, such shifts are also projected to be extreme by the SPI, especially regarding the shifts towards wetter conditions, but also towards drier conditions for the Iberian Peninsula and Greece.

The Mediterranean region and the Balkans will experience longer and more severe meteorological events as the century progresses (Figure 59), leading to drier (and hotter) climate conditions that will potentially be coupled with devastating drought events and impacts. By contrast, wetter conditions are projected to increase in the British Isles and Scandinavia as the century progresses and this, coupled with less severe and intense droughts, can be seen as a positive tendency. Unfortunately, a continuous tendency towards wetter conditions could potentially cause extreme rainfall events and floods, as discussed in the latest IPCC report (IPCC, 2013, 2014).



Figure 59 – European drought tendencies in the far future compared to the near future.

These findings reinforce the general idea of the observed climate change in Europe: from the 1950s to 2010s, **southern Europe** faced a **drying tendency** and **northern Europe** a **wetting tendency** (Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002; IPCC, 2007, 2014; Briffa et al., 2009; Bordi et al., 2009; Sheffield et al., 2009; Hannaford et al., 2011; Hoerling et al., 2012; Spinoni et al., 2014a).

This spatial pattern is projected to continue, and to increase in magnitude, until the end of the century: in southern Europe the dry regions will become drier, and in northen Europe the wet regions will become wetter, as discussed by Greve et al. (2014), Sherwood and Fu (2014), and Trenberth et al. (2014), to cite a few relevant and recent studies.

#### 8. Projecting drought impacts

### 8.1 Use of damage functions to project drought impacts at country level

As discussed in Chapter 6, **damage functions** were derived to link meteorological drought events to their impacts. The gridded E-OBS temperature and precipitation data were used to compute three drought indicators, namely the SPI, the SPEI, and RDI. It emerged that the SPEI, calculated for a 3-month accumulation period (SPEI-3) was the best choice to apply the damage functions to cereal yield reduction on an annual basis and at a country level in Europe. Regarding hydropower energy production, the best indicator proved to be SPEI-12. From the monthly series of these indicators we derived a set of parameters, and the annual cumulated drought severity was selected as the independent variable in the damage functions. Let us briefly recall the basic equations.

The damage function D(s) directly depends on the drought severity s:

$$D(s) = \alpha s^{\beta} \tag{5}$$

Using drought impacts derived from the World Bank database and drought events detected using the discussed methodology, for each country and sector analysed we obtained two parameters: a and  $\beta$ . These parameters were calculated using past data, but they can be applied to different data and periods, provided that their statistical errors are taken into account, i.e.  $\sigma_{\alpha}$  and  $\sigma_{\beta}$  (see Chapter 6).

Thus, if we consider the recent past (1981-2010, period 1), we can obtain modelled impacts  $D_1(s_1)$  just using the parameters a and  $\beta$  and the drought severity  $(s_1)$  calculated from the modelled data obtained with the A1b scenario family RACMO2.

$$D_1(s_1) = \alpha s_1^\beta \tag{14}$$

Similarly, we can **apply the damage function methodology to the near future** (2041-2070, period 2) and to the far future (2071-2100, period 3) and obtain modelled impacts for both the periods ( $D_2(s_2)$  and  $D_3(s_3)$ ).

$$D_2(s_2) = \alpha s_2^\beta \tag{15}$$

$$D_3(s_3) = \alpha s_3^\beta \tag{16}$$

Consequently, if we want to evaluate the decrease or the increase of the drought impacts for a given country, we need to compute the difference between two periods, e.g. the far and the near future.

$$\Delta_{(2,3)} = D_3(s_3) - D_2(s_2) \tag{17}$$

Of course, the difference could be provided with its error,  $\sigma_{\Delta}$ , which depends on  $\sigma_{D2}$ and  $\sigma_{D1}$ , which in turn depend on  $\sigma_{s1}$ ,  $\sigma_{s2}$ ,  $\sigma_{a}$ , and  $\sigma_{\beta}$ . The theoretical background and the computation of the errors are not included in this report. For the time being we present only the maps with differences per country. Maps with the errors per country and related to different sectors and impacts could be drawn up in the future. In order to avoid biases introduced by the use of different data sources, we decided to **calibrate the damage functions** on recorded impacts and variables, and then to apply them to the modelled RACMO2 outputs. The other option was to apply the damage functions only to modelled data regarding the near and far future, and compare the outputs with the recorded past impacts. We did not aim to obtain future drought impacts in terms of absolute values such as kg/ha or income in euros, as such values will depend on future socioeconomic and technological developments that are not considered in the damage functions. We, therefore, are mainly interested in the increasing or decreasing tendencies which were derived by applying the damage functions to the modelled data for the past, near future, and far future resulting from the runs of the RACMO2 with the A1b scenario. Based on the results we discuss whether the drought impacts.

#### 8.2 Example of projected impacts: cereal yields

By means of the damage functions, we studied whether meteorological drought events will cause less or more frequent cereal yield reductions and whether the total reduction occurring in the future is projected to be lower or higher than the total reduction that occurred in the reference period 1981-2010. The base drought indicator used is the SPEI-3.



Figure 60 – Cereal reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): near future versus recent past.

Figure 60 shows that, compared to the recent past (1981-2010), the near future (2041-2070) will see more frequent **reductions in cereal yields** in the Iberian Peninsula, the Mediterranean region and eastern Europe, and that the total reduction will be higher in the Iberian Peninsula and Romania. Scandinavia and central Europe, on the other hand, will experience less frequent reductions and lower total reductions. The British Isles and Norway will be characterised by less frequent but more severe reductions.

Compared to the recent past (1981-2010), the far future (2071-2100) will see the same spatial patterns regarding the frequency of reductions in cereal yields (Figure 61, left), however, with more pronounced increases and decreases in cereal yields than those found when comparing the near future and the recent past. Regarding the total reduction (Figure 61, right), the situation is more complex and there is no spatial homogeneity.



Figure 61 – Cereal reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus recent past.

Compared to the near future (2041-2070), meteorological drought events in the far future (2071-2100) will cause more frequent cereal yield reductions in southern Europe and less frequent reductions in parts of western and northern Europe (Figure 62). The increase in the severity of such reductions will be highest in Spain and Germany and lowest in Austria. The observed **spatial heterogeneity** suggests that projections of drought impacts should be handled with care, even though the methodology is statistically robust. Different climate and social feedbacks may influence the relationships in the future, resulting in very unstable predictions. Also the power-law function tends to overshoot, with increasing values for beta.



Figure 62 – Cereal reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus recent past.

#### 8.3 Example of projected impacts: hydropower production

The analyses of the meteorological drought impacts on hydropower production (i.e. the annual reductions at a country level) are based on the same methodology as described in Chapter 6.3. The base indicator, however, is the SPEI-12.



Figure 63 – Hydropower reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): near future versus recent past.

As shown in Figure 63, southern Europe will be more frequently hit by **hydropower reduction** due to drought events in the near future than in the recent past, but the increase in the total magnitude of such reductions will be particularly relevant in the Iberian Peninsula and south-eastern Europe only. On the other hand, a slight decrease in both frequency and total magnitude is projected for Scandinavia, excluding Norway.



Figure 64 – Hydropower reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus recent past.

The latitudinal gradient (less drought impacts in northern Europe and more in southern Europe) is more evident if we compare the far future with the recent past (Figure 64). This is true for both the frequency and the total magnitude of the impacts on hydropower generation, with the exception of Poland and Finland which show opposite effects in terms of frequency (decrease) and total magnitude (increase).



Figure 65 – Hydropower reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus near future.

More frequent reductions in hydropower caused by drought events are projected to occur in the far future than in the near future in the Iberian Peninsula, Italy, and eastern Europe, while France, the British Isles and Scandinavia will behave oppositely (Figure 65, left). A possible reason for this behaviour is that stronger climate change impacts on drought frequency and severity are expected for the former countries, while the latter countries will be less impacted. As regards the total magnitude, lower impacts are projected only for Ireland, the Netherlands, Sweden, and Hungary (Figure 65, right). This can possibly be explained by the fact that either a limited growth relationship or no clear relationship has been detected for these countries, which can reflect the relatively limited level of dependency on hydropower production and/or advanced management and mitigation practices.

#### 9. Directions for future research

The methodologies and the outputs described in this report should be considered as the basis for enlarging the spectrum of the analyses regarding the links between drought events and impacts. Here, we report a list of the most important **aspects** that should be **further analysed** in order to improve the methodology and results. These have been grouped into five categories: the database of drought events and impacts, damage functions or similar methods, drought projections, feedbacks between drought and other climate-related disasters, and the spatial and temporal resolution of the inputs and the outputs. In the following, we give a bullet-point list of suggestions for possible improvements for each category.

#### 9.1 Improving the database of past drought events and impacts

To construct the database of past drought events, we used the gridded E-OBS (version 10) as input data, the SPI, the SPEI, and the RDI as drought indicators, and a set of statistical parameters to define the events (frequency, duration, severity, peak month, area involved, etc.). This **database** could be improved according to the following suggestions:

- Use different gridded databases for precipitation (e.g. the GPCC: Rudolf et al., 2005; Schneider et al., 2014) and temperature (e.g. CRU TS3.10: Harris et al., 2014);
- Use modelled input data such as reanalysis datasets (e.g. ERA-40: Uppala et al., 2005; EURO4M: Soci et al., 2011);
- Test the data quality and homogeneity with other models (see Peterson et al., 1998; Costa and Soares, 2009; Venema et al., 2012);
- Add new meteorological drought indicators (e.g. the PDSI: Palmer, 1965; Alley, 1984; the sc-PDSI: Wells et al., 2004);
- Create a dataset of agricultural drought events (Boken et al., 2005; Wang, 2005; Rhee et al., 2010), hydrological drought events (Shiau and Shen, 2001; Tallaksen and Van Lanen, 2004; Nalbantis and Tsakiris, 2009; Fleig et al., 2011), groundwater drought events (Van Lanen and Peters, 2000; Tallaksen and Van Lanen, 2004; Peters et al., 2005), and socioeconomic drought events (Arnell, 2004; Alcamo et al., 2007; Simelton et al., 2009);
- Search for other scientific and non-scientific drought event reports to confirm the events detected with our multi-indicator approach;
- Search for other scientific and non-scientific drought impact reports and drought impact datasets such as the EDII (Stahl et al., 2012; Stagge et al., 2013; Kohn et al., 2014).

### 9.2 Testing new damage functions/methodologies for different sectors

As discussed in Chapter 2, we chose **damage functions** to study the possible links between drought events and drought impacts. We tested this methodology on two sectors, cereal yield production and hydropower energy generation, and the results are promising. However, to provide users with more detailed analyses, different approaches should be tested and new sectors should be investigated.

- Test different approaches to correlate drought events and impacts, such as climate analogues (Orlowsky et al., 2010; Lutz et al., 2013), Input-Output models (Weidmann et al., 2010; Jenkins, 2013), Integrated Assessment Models (Warren et al., 2008; Füssel, 2010), etc.;
- Test more complex mathematical models for deriving damage functions;
- Complete a robust theoretical background concerning the errors of the damage functions and other models;
- Apply the selected methodology to evaluate drought impacts over other sectors such as crop production (Kulshreshtha and Klein, 1989; Blum, 1996; Rojas et al., 2011), livestock mortality (Nkedianye et al., 2011; Cruz et al., 2014), energy supply (Hsiao, 1993; Michelsen and Young, 1993; Omer, 2010), technology (Liverman, 1990; Wilhite, 2005), forestry (Kloeppel et al., 2003; Phillips et al., 2009; Allen et al., 2010; Asner and Alencar, 2010), etc.
- Search for feedbacks between droughts and other human-induced disasters in order to suggest more effective mitigation strategies.

## 9.3 Refining drought projections with an ensemble of models and scenarios

In order to project the possible increase or decrease in drought impacts, we first had to evaluate the **projections of drought variables** until the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. To do so, we based our study on the outputs of the RACMO2 model: the average values of twelve runs were used as monthly series for the whole of Europe from January 1950 to December 2100. We assume that new models should be coupled to the A1b family in order to also provide information regarding worst-case scenarios.

- Add new runs with different initial conditions to the RACMO2 outputs;
- Compare the RACMO2 outputs with other models belonging to the A1b scenario (see Meehl et al., 2005, for a summary);
- Include model outputs from different scenario families, i.e. the A2 (e.g. Jiang et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2007; Williams et al., 2007), the B1 (Meehl et al., 2005; Ohlemüller et al., 2006; Van Lanen et al., 2013; Ashraf Vaghefi et al., 2014), and the B2 (Warren et al., 2012; Djamel and Didier, 2013; Fraser et al., 2013);
- Include the newest versions of the scenario models (IPCC, 2013, 2014);
- Perform test statistics to compute the error intervals of the climate projections.

#### 9.4 Coupling drought information with other climate extremes

The PESETA II Project (Ciscar et al., 2014) set the basis for an integrated study of the climate-related impacts of many different disasters on various economic sectors. This report accounts for **drought impacts** only. However, drought is a slowly developing and often long-lasting natural phenomenon (Vogt and Somma, 2000) that may be influenced by the simultaneous occurrence of **other climate- or weather-related disasters**. It might, therefore, be useful to

- Apply similar damage functions to the impacts caused by floods (Brujin, 2004; Lehner et al., 2006), earthquakes (Newmark, 1965; Guha-Sapir et al., 2011), forest fires (Flannigan et al., 2000; Lindner et al., 2010; Zumbrunnen et al., 2011), and heat and cold waves (Meehl and Tebaldi, 2004; Poumadere et al., 2005; Tan et al., 2007);
- Couple drought events and impacts with permanent land degradation (Agnew and Warren, 1996) and desertification (Thomas, 1997; Spinoni et al., 2014b);
- Study the possible link between droughts and heat waves (Beniston, 2004; Fischer et al., 2007), droughts and wildfires (Balling Jr. et al., 1992; Dimitrakopoulos et al., 2011; Sarris et al., 2014; Stagge et al., 2014), and droughts and other climate-related or weather-driven extremes;
- Evaluate the effect of adopted strategies to mitigate or cope with drought (Wilhite, 1993; Rossi et al., 2005; Lehner et al., 2006; Rossi et al., 2007; Iglesias et al., 2009; Mechler et al., 2010; Estrela and Vargas, 2012)

### 9.5 Increase the spatial resolution (local/small-scale) and involve more experts

This study was performed at a satisfactorily high **resolution** (0.25°x0.25°) for a large area such as Europe. However, this may not be enough to assess regional- or local-**scale** drought impacts. Moreover, we have not included Iceland and the European Atlantic Islands because of a lack of valid data. Enlarging the research network through collaborations and the acquisition or sharing of new data and models, could strongly improve the quality of our results.

- Increase the spatial resolution by also using remote sensing data;
- Create a more comprehensive network in the framework of the European Drought Observatory (http://edo.jrc.ec.europa.eu);
- Ask for the continuous support of recognised experts in drought modelling and management from different European countries;
- Establish an operational system that can compute possible drought impacts in near-real time from weekly updated online drought maps;
- Disseminate the results to the scientific community and create strict connections with politicians and stakeholders.

### **10. Conclusions and highlights**

In the past decades, **drought** has been a recurrent feature of the European climate, with striking drought events in both high- and low-rainfall areas and in any season (Lloyd-Hughes and Saunders, 2002). Historically, water shortage is a well-known problem of many south-European countries, especially Spain, southern Italy, and Greece, but in the past 30 years almost the whole of Europe has been repeatedly affected by drought, especially in the past decade (IPCC, 2014).

From 2006 to 2010, 15% of the territory and 17% of the EU population was affected by drought on an annual basis, causing considerable damages and economic losses. In the past 30 years, the costs of drought were estimated to be more than €100 billion (European Commission, 2007b). While in the past the Mediterranean area was an area of major concern in Europe, central and eastern Europe (Lloyd-Hughes, 2012) and the Carpathian region have become additional drought hotspots in the past decades (Spinoni et al., 2013). Due to climate change and increased human water needs, **drought impacts** are likely to get worse in the future (IPCC, 2014), and will therefore require constant monitoring and assessment.

Though a few recent papers deal with global drought patterns (Dai, 2011a; Sheffield et al., 2012; van der Schrier et al.; 2013, Spinoni et al., 2014a; Trenberth et al., 2014), no similar studies - updated to 2012 and based on high-quality and high-resolution datasets - exist for Europe. To overcome this lack of data, we developed a **multi-indicator approach to investigate the occurrence, frequency, duration, intensity, and severity of meteorological drought events across Europe for the <b>period 1950-2012**. We then investigated the hotspots and trends and constructed a database of drought events at different spatial scales (grid, country, region, macro-region).

In the 1950s and 1960s, the **drought hotspots** were Scandinavia and Russia, in the 1970s and 1980s no particular drought hotspot emerged, and in the 1990s and 2000s the drought hotspots were the Mediterranean area and the Carpathian Region. A **linear trend analysis** shows that Europe can be roughly split into two large areas: the north-eastern regions, which have been experiencing a decreasing drought trend over the past six decades, and the south-western regions, which have experienced an opposite increasing trend. Such results confirm what has been reported by Hoerling et al. (2012), Sheffield et al. (2012), Dai (2013), and van der Schrier et al. (2013), following different approaches.

With the exception of the European Drought Reference (EDR) database and the European Drought Impact Report Inventory (EDII), no databases for drought events and impacts exist for Europe. Nevertheless, the EDR is based only on one indicator (the SPI) and very few drought events are quantitatively described in the EDII. We therefore constructed a **new database of meteorological drought events based on a composite indicator** (based on SPI, SPEI, and RDI) and focused on two different accumulation periods (3 and 12 months). This database also reports the twenty-one major droughts that hit Europe from 1950 to 2012, six of which occurred after 2000. This database will be included in the European Drought Observatory (EDO) in 2016 as a

complete list of drought events, including a set of statistical parameters for each event detected.

Another objective of this study was the construction of a **parallel drought impacts dataset**. Starting from the structure of the EDII, we developed a preliminary version of such a database (including journal articles, peer-reviewed papers, and books) related to the drought events detected, and collected data that qualitatively and (especially) quantitatively report drought impacts in various sectors. We exploited the combination of the database of past drought events and the drought impacts, mostly arranged by country and on an annual basis, in order to develop dedicated **damage functions** that correlate the severity of the events with documented impacts or data that may have been indirectly affected by the drought events. The damage functions were calibrated by country and tested on two sectors: cereal yield production and hydropower energy generation.

After several tests, it emerged that damage functions that follow an exponential model best fit the annual **reduction in cereal yield and hydropower production**. Furthermore, the best indicators to be used as input for the damage functions proved to be the SPEI-3 for cereal yields and the SPEI-12 for hydropower production. This is physically reasonable, as 3-month accumulation periods for drought indicators are usually associated with agricultural impacts, and 12-month accumulation periods with hydrological impacts.

One of the main goals of this study was to develop a methodology that permits the **projection of drought impacts** into future decades. To do that, we decided to firstly project the meteorological variables (precipitation, PET, and temperature) from the 1950s to 2100, and thereafter computed the selected indicators (the SPI and the SPEI) on a monthly basis for the period 1950-2010. According to the PESETA II Project (Ciscar et al., 2014), we chose the scenario model RACMO2 (van Meijgaard et al., 2008), which belongs to the moderate emissions A1b family (IPCC, 2000, 2007, 2014). The data we used came from the average of twelve ensemble runs of the RACMO2 model.

Using the modelled drought series both at country level and grid-point level (spatial resolution: 0.25°x0.25°), we evaluated the **future drought tendencies** for the entire European area (excluding Iceland, due to the lack of valid data over the past). We focused our analyses on different characteristics of the drought events (i.e. frequency, average duration, severity and intensity) and compared the average properties of the meteorological drought events over three different periods: the **recent past** (1981-2010), the **near future** (2041-2070), and the **far future** (2071-2100).

We looked for the answers to a few fundamental **questions**: are the drought events likely to become more frequent in future decades? Will they be longer? Will they be more severe and intense? The answers to these questions are in the affirmative regarding most of southern Europe – in particular the Mediterranean area, but also the Balkans - which is projected to experience more frequent, longer and more severe and intense drought events. This tendency is more evident if a drought indicator based also on temperature inputs is used (i.e. the SPEI), proving that the projected **global warming** will be a key factor regarding the more extreme aspects of drought events in Europe, in particular in the last decades of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. On the other hand, northern Europe – in particular the Scandinavian countries – is projected to experience less frequent,

shorter, and less severe and intense drought events. In this case, the precipitation variability is more significant than the temperature trend.

This spatial gradient, a **projected tendency** towards a drier future for southern Europe and wetter future for northern Europe (see also Russo et al., 2013), causes an opposite behaviour regarding possible drought impacts. The damage functions, calibrated over the past recorded events and applied over the entire range of the scenario outputs, show that **cereal yield** reductions due to drought events are projected to increase in southern Europe and decrease in northern Europe. Similarly, reductions in **hydropower production** are projected to increase in southern Europe and decrease in southern Europe and decrease is northern Europe and decrease in southern Europe and decrease is northern Europe and decrease in southern Europe and decrease is northern Europe and decrease in southern Europe and decrease is northern Europe and decrease is northern Europe. However, the spatial gradient for hydropower is not as homogeneous as for cereal production.

The results shown in these deliverables were presented at the annual meeting of the European Geosciences Union 2014 in Vienna (Spinoni et al., 2014b) and at the 14<sup>th</sup> meeting of the European Meteorological Society 2014 in Prague (Spinoni et al., 2014c; Spinoni et al., 2014d). They are part of four scientific papers on the analysis of past drought trends (Spinoni et al., 2015a), the construction of the database of past drought events (Spinoni et al., 2015b), the construction and the validation of the damage functions (Naumann et al. 2015), and the projections of drought event characteristics in Europe (Spinoni et al., 2015c). Moreover, it is planned to apply the described methodologies to past and future drought trends on a seasonal basis, different climate scenarios, and more sectors which are likely to be directly or indirectly affected by drought events.

Because the methodologies described in this report are somewhat new to drought concepts, or have been rarely applied (Stahl et al., 2012; Bachmair et al., 2015), we recommend that they be handled with care. In particular, we strongly recommend that robust statistical validation tests be performed on any possible input dataset and the outputs of the projected impacts be carefully checked.

#### 11. References

- Agnew, C, Warren, A. 1996. A framework for tackling drought and land degradation. Journal of Arid Environments, 33(3), 309-320.
- Alcamo J, Flörke M, Märker M. 2007. Future long-term changes in global water resources driven by socio-economic and climatic changes. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* 52(2): 247-275.
- Allen CD, Macalady AK, Chenchouni H, Bachelet D, McDowell N, Vennetier M, Kitzberger T, Rigling A, Breshears DD, Hogg EHT, Gonzalez P, Fensham R, Zhang Z, Castro J, Demidova N, Lim JH, Allard G, Running SW, Semerci A, Cobb N. 2010. A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **259(4)**: 660-684.
- Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raes D, Smith M. 1998. Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. FAO, Rome, 15 pp.
- Alley WM. 1984. The Palmer drought severity index: limitations and assumptions. *Journal of climate and applied meteorology* **23(7)**: 1100-1109.
- Alston M, Kent J. 2004. Coping with a crisis: Human services in times of drought. *Rural Society* **14(3)**: 214-227.
- Amundsen E, Bergman L, von der Fehr NH. 2006. The Nordic Electricity Markets: Robust By Design? In: Electricity Market Reform: An International Perspective (Sioshansi FP and Pappenberger F [Eds.]), Elsevier Global Energy Policy and Economics Series. Elsevier (Amsterdam, The Netherlands), ISBN-13: 978-0-08045-030-8. Pages 145-170.
- Arnell NW. 2004. Climate change and global water resources: SRES emissions and socioeconomic scenarios. *Global environmental change* **14(1)**: 31-52.
- Archaux F, Wolters V. 2006. Impact of summer drought on forest biodiversity: what do we know? *Annals of Forest Science* **63(6)**: 645-652.
- Arpe K, Leroy SAG, Lahijani H, Khan V. 2012. Impact of the European Russia drought in 2010 on the Caspian Sea level. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* **16(1)**: *19-27*.
- Ashraf Vaghefi S, Mousavi SJ, Abbaspour KC, Srinivasan R, Yang H. 2014. Analyses of the impact of climate change on water resources components, drought and wheat yield in semiarid regions: Karkheh River Basin in Iran. *Hydrological Processes* 28(4): 2018-2032.
- Asner GP, Alencar A. 2010. Drought impacts on the Amazon forest: the remote sensing perspective. *New Phytologist* **187(3)**: 569-578.
- August D, Geiger M. 2008. Drought in the Mediterranean. Recent Developments. Published by WWF Germany, Frankfurt am Main, August 2008. Editorial Staff: Durmaz BB, Antonelli F, Dopke M, Maragou P, Gillet S, Moroz S, El Madani M,

Karivali M, Is G, Fernandez Lop A, De Stefano L. Available at: <u>http://assets.wwf.es/downloads/drought\_in\_the\_mediterranean\_2008\_1.pdf</u>.

- Balling Jr. RC, Meyer GA, Wells SG. 1992. Climate change in Yellowstone National Park: is the drought-related risk of wildfires increasing? *Climatic Change* **22(1)**: 35-45.
- Bachmair S, Kohn I, Stahl K. 2015. Exploring the link between drought indicators and impacts. Natural Hazards and Earth System Science 15(6): 1381-1397.
- Barredo JI. 2009. Normalised flood losses in Europe: 1970–2006. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* **9(1)**: 97-104.
- Beguería S, Vicente-Serrano SM, Reig F, Latorre B. 2013. Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) revisited: parameter fitting, evapotranspiration models, tools, datasets and drought monitoring. *International Journal of Climatology* **34(10)**: 3001-3023.
- Beniston M. 2004. The 2003 heat wave in Europe: A shape of things to come? An analysis based on Swiss climatological data and model simulations. *Geophysical Research Letters* **31(2)**: January 2004.
- Benson C, Clay EJ. 1998. The impact of drought on sub-Saharan African economies: a preliminary examination. *World Bank Technical Paper* **401**, Library of Congress Cataloging, Washington D.C., ISBN 0-8213-4180-4, ISSN 0253-7494.
- Binder K. 1987. Monte Carlo Methods. In: Quantum Monte Carlo Methods in Equilibrium and Nonequilibrium Systems (Suzuki M, [Ed.]), *Proc. of the 9<sup>th</sup> Tanigutchi International Symposium, Susono, Japan, November 1986. Springer series in solidstate sciences* **74**.
- Blinda M, Boufaroua M, Carmi N, Davy T, Detoc S, Froebrich J, Gabina D, Iglesias A, Khalid AL, Khalifa E, Margat J, Moneo M, Tagar Z. 2007. Mediterranean Water Scarcity and Drought (WS&D) Report. European Commission - Environment. Technical Report 009-2007. ISBN 978-92-79-06162-2. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2007.Available at: http://www.emwis.net/topics/WaterScarcity/PDF/MedWSD\_FINAL\_Edition/. Last accessed: 10 October 2014.
- Blum A. 1996. Crop responses to drought and the interpretation of adaptation. *Plant Growth Regulation* **20(2)**: 135-148.
- Bohle HG. 2001. Vulnerability and Criticality: Perspectives from Social Geography, IHDP Update **2/2001**, *Newsletter of the International Human Dimensions Programme on Global Environmental Change*: 1–7.
- Boken VK. 2005. Agricultural drought and its monitoring and prediction: some concepts. In: *Monitoring and Predicting Agricultural Drought: A Global Study: A Global Study* (Boken VK, Cracknell AP, Heathcote RL [Eds.]) Oxford University Press, New York, USA. ISBN-13 978-0-19-516234-9.
- Bordi I, Fraedrich K, Sutera A. 2009. Observed drought and wetness trends in Europe: an update, *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci.* **13**: 1519-1530.
- Bose BK. 2010. Global warming: Energy, environmental pollution, and the impact of power electronics. *Industrial Electronics Magazine (IEEE)* **4(1)**: 6-17.

- Bradford RB. 2000. Drought events in Europe. In: *Drought and Drought Mitigation in Europe* (Vogt JV, Somma F [Eds.]), pp. 7-20, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Springer Netherlands.
- Box GEP, Jenkins GM. 1970. Time Series Analysis: Forecasting and Control. San Francisco. Holden-Day.
- Bracegirdle TJ, Connolley WM, Turner J. 2008. Antarctic climate change over the twenty first century. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* **113(D3)**, D03103, doi:10.1029/2007JD008933.
- Bréda N, Huc R, Granier A, Dreyer E. 2006. Temperate forest trees and stands under severe drought: a review of ecophysiological responses, adaptation processes and long-term consequences. *Annals of Forest Science* **63(6)**: 625-644.
- Briede A, Lizuma L. 2010. Analysis of high temperature extremes and climatological drought long-term tendencies in Latvia. In: 10th EMS Annual Meeting, 10th European Conference on Applications of Meteorology (ECAM) Abstracts, EMS 2010-370. September 13-17, 2010, Zürich (SWI).
- Briffa KR, Jones PD, Hulme M. 1994. Summer moisture variability across Europe, 1892– 1991: an analysis based on the Palmer drought severity index. *International Journal of Climatology* **14(5)**: 475-506.
- Briffa KR, van Der Schrier G, Jones PD. 2009. Wet and dry summers in Europe since 1750: evidence of increasing drought. *International Journal of Climatology* **29(13)**: 1894-1905.
- Bruijn K. 2004. Resilience and flood risk management. Water Policy 6(1): 53-66.
- Buchinsky IE. 1976. Droughts and dry winds (In Russian). Gidrometeoizdat, 214pp.
- Burke EJ, Brown SJ. 2008. Evaluating uncertainties in the projection of future drought. *Journal of Hydrometeorology* 9(2): 292-299.
- Burke EJ, Brown SJ, Christidis N. 2006. Modeling the recent evolution of global drought and projections for the twenty-first century with the Hadley Centre climate model. *Journal of Hydrometeorology* **7(5)**: 1113-1125.
- Campbell D, Barker D, McGregor D. 2011. Dealing with drought: Small farmers and environmental hazards in southern St. Elizabeth, Jamaica. *Applied Geography* **31(1)**: 146-158.
- Cancelliere A, Ancarani A, Rossi G. 1998. Susceptibility of water supply reservoirs to drought conditions. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering* **3(2)**: 140-148.
- Carrão H, Singleton A, Naumann G, Barbosa P, Vogt J. 2014. An Optimized System for the Classification of Meteorological Drought Intensity with Applications in Drought Frequency Analysis. J. Appl. Meteor. Climatol. 53: 1943–1960.
- Carter TR, Jones RN, Lu X, Bhadwal S, Conde C, Mearns LO, O'Neill BC, Rounsevell MDA,
   Zurek MB. 2007. New Assessment Methods and the Characterisation of Future
   Conditions. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE.
   (Eds.): Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution

of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.* 

- Cherenkova EA. 2007. Dynamics of severe atmospheric droughts in European Russia. *Russian Meteorology and Hydrology* **32(11)**: 675-682.
- Ciais P, Reichstein M, Viovy N, Granier A, Ogée J, Allard V, Aubinet M, Buchmann N, Bernhofer C, Carrara A, Chevallier F, De Noblet N, Friend AD, Friedlingestein P, Grünwald T, Heinesch B, Keronen P, Knohl A, Krinner G, Loustau D, Manca G, Matteucci G, Miglietta F, Ourcival JM, Papale D, Pilegaard K, Rambal S, Seufert G, Soussana JF, Sanz MJ, Schulze ED, Vesala T, Valentini R. 2005. Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. *Nature* **437(7058)**: 529-533.
- Ciscar Martinez, Feyen L, Soria Ramirez A, Lavalle CS, Perry M, Raes F, Nemry F, Demirel H, Roszai M, Dosio A, Donatelli M, Srivastava AK, Fumagalli D, Niemeyer S, Shrestha S, Ciaian P, Himics M, van Doorslaer B, Barrios S, Ibanez Rivas JN, Forzieri G, Rojas Mujica RF, Bianchi A, Dowling P, Camia A, Liberta G, San-Miguel-Ayanz J, De Rigo D, Caudullo G, Barredo Cano JI, Paci D, Pycroft J, Saveyn B, Revesz T, Baranzelli C, Vandecasteele, Batista E Silva F, Ibarreta Ruiz D. 2014. Climate Impacts in Europe. The JRC Peseta II Project. *JRC-IPTS Working Paper* JRC8701. Institute for Prospective and Technological Studies, Joint Research Centre, Ispra, Italy.
- Costa AC, Soares A. 2009. Homogenization of climate data: review and new perspectives using geostatistics. *Mathematical Geosciences* **41(3)**: 291-305.
- Cruz G, Baethgen W, Picasso V, Terra R. 2014. Analysis of agronomic drought of two livestock production regions in Uruguay. *Agrociencia (Montevideo)* **18(1)**: 126-132.
- Dai A. 2011a. Drought under global warming: a review. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change* **2(1)**: 45-65.
- Dai A. 2011b. Characteristics and trends in various forms of the Palmer Drought Severity Index during 1900–2008. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984– 2012)* **116 (D12)**, 27 June 2011.
- Dai A. 2013. Increasing drought under global warming in observations and models. *Nature Climate Change* **3(1)**: 52-58.
- Dankers, R and Feyen L. 2008. Climate change impact on flood hazard in Europe: An assessment based on high-resolution climate simulations, *J. Geophys. Res.*, **113**, D19105.
- De Groeve T, Poljansek K, Ehrlich D. 2013. Recording disaster loss. Recommendations for a European approach. JRC Scientific and Policy Reports EUR 26111 EN, 2013. ISBN 978-92-79-32690-5, Luxembourg, Publication Office of the European Union.
- Dimitrakopoulos AP, Vlahou M, Anagnostopoulou CG, Mitsopoulos ID. 2011. Impact of drought on wildland fires in Greece: implications of climatic change? *Climatic change* **109 (3-4)**: 331-347.

- Djamel M, Didier G. 2013. An integration of statistic method to track droughts periods induced by global change. *EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts* **15**: 12565.
- Donatelli M, Duveiller G, Fumagalli D, Srivastava A, Zucchini A, Angileri V, Fasbender D, Loudjani P, Kay S, Juskevicius V, Toth T, Haastrup P, M'Barek R, Espinosa M, Ciaian P, Niemeyer S. 2012. Assessing agriculture vulnerabilities for the design of effective measures for adaptation to climate change (AVEMAC project). *European Union document, pp.164-168. EUR. Scientific and technical research series ;* 25249. Luxembourg : Publications Office of the European Union.
- Doorman GL, Botterud A. 2008. Analysis of generation investment under different market designs. *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on* **23(3)**: 859-867.
- Doornkamp JC, Gregory KJ, Burn AS. 1980. Atlas of Drought in Britain 1975-76. *Institute* of British Geographers, London, 82 pp.
- Dronin N, Bellinger E. 2005. Climate dependence and food problems in Russia 1900-1990. The interaction of climate and agricultural policy and their effect on food problems. *Central European University Press, Budapest, New York*.
- Eagleson PS. 1978a. Climate, soil, and vegetation: 1. Introduction to water balance dynamics. *Water Resources Research* **14(5)**: 705-712.
- Eagleson PS. 1978b. Climate, soil, and vegetation: 6. Dynamics of the annual water balance. *Water Resources Research* **14(5)**: 749-764.
- Efron B, Tibshirani RJ, 1993. An Introduction to the Bootstrap. Monographs on Statistics and Applied Probability 57 Chapman and Hall/CRC (Florida), Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data. 436 pp. ISBN 0-412-04231-2.
- Eriyagama N, Smakhtin VY, Gamage N. 2009. Mapping drought patterns and impacts: a global perspective. *IWMI Research Report 133. Colombo, Sri Lanka. ISSN 1026-0862, ISBN 978-92-9090-711-4.*
- Estrela T, Vargas E. 2012. Drought management plans in the European Union. The case of Spain. *Water resources management* **26(6)**: 1537-1553.
- European Commission, 2007a. Drought management plan report. Including agricultural drought indicators and climate change aspects. WS&D Expert Network of the European Commission - Environment. Technical Report 2008-023. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2007.
- European Commission, 2007b. Water Scarcity and Droughts, Second Interim Report, June 2007, http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/quantity/pdf/comm\_droughts/ 2nd\_int\_report.pdf. Accessed 09 March 2015.
- Falloon P, Betts R. 2010. Climate impacts on European agriculture and water management in the context of adaptation and mitigation—the importance of an integrated approach. *Science of the Total Environment* **408(23)**: 5667-5687.
- Feehan J, Harley M, van Minnen J. 2009. Climate change in Europe. 1. Impact on terrestrial ecosystems and biodiversity. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 29(3): 409-421.
- Fink AH, Brücher T, Krüger A, Leckebusch GC, Pinto JG, Ulbrich U. 2004. The 2003 European summer heatwaves and drought–synoptic diagnosis and impacts. *Weather* **59(8)**: 209-216.
- Finon D, Johnsen TA, Midttun A. 2004. Challenges when electricity markets face the investment phase. *Energy Policy* **32(12)**: 1355-1362.
- Fischer EM, Seneviratne SI, Vidale PL, Lüthi D, Schär C. 2007. Soil moisture-atmosphere interactions during the 2003 European summer heat wave. *Journal of Climate* **20(20)**: 5081-5099.
- Flannigan MD, Stocks BJ, Wotton BM. 2000. Climate change and forest fires. *Science of the total environment* **262(3)**: 221-229.
- Fleig AK, Tallaksen LM, Hisdal H, Hannah DM. 2011. Regional hydrological drought in north-western Europe: linking a new Regional Drought Area Index with weather types. *Hydrological Processes* **25(7)**: 1163-1179.
- Forzieri G, Feyen L, Rojas R, Flörke M, Wimmer F, Bianchi A. 2014. Ensemble projections of future streamflow droughts in Europe. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* **18(1)**: 85-108.
- Fouillet A, Rey G, Laurent F, Pavillon G, Bellec S, Guihenneuc-Jouyaux C, Clavel J, Jougla E, Hémon D. 2006. Excess mortality related to the August 2003 heat wave in France. International archives of occupational and environmental health 80(1): 16-24.
- Fraser ED, Simelton E, Termansen M, Gosling SN, South A. 2013."Vulnerability hotspots": Integrating socio-economic and hydrological models to identify where cereal production may decline in the future due to climate change induced drought. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 170: 195-205.
- Füssel HM. 2010. Modeling impacts and adaptation in global IAMs. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change* **1(2)**: 288-303.
- Gao R, Wang L, Yang M, Luo S, Ning D, Fu B. 2012. Application of Three Drought Indexes in Identification of Drought Capability in Nanpanjiang Basin. *Water Resources and Power* **9(004)**.
- Garcia-Herrera R, Hernández E, Barriopedro D, Paredes D, Trigo RM, Trigo IF, Mendes MA. 2007. The outstanding 2004/05 drought in the Iberian Peninsula: Associated atmospheric circulation. *Journal of Hydrometeorology* **8(3)**: 483-498.
- Gerstengarbe FW, Werner PC, Österle H, Pardowitz T, Burghoff O. 2013. Winter stormand summer thunderstorm-related loss events with regard to climate change in Germany. *Theor. Appl. Climatol.* **114**: 715-724.
- Giorgi F. 2006. Climate change hot-spots. *Geophysical Research Letters* **33(8)**, April 2006.
- Giorgi F, Lionello P. 2008. Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region. Global and Planetary Change 63(2): 90-104.
- Golubev G, Dronin N. 2004. Geography of droughts and food problems in Russia (1900–2000). Report of the International project on global environmental change and its

threat to food and water security in Russia. *Center for Environmental Systems Research, Kassel.* 

- Greene M. 1974. Impact of the Sahelian drought in Mauritania, West Africa. *The Lancet* **303(7866)**: 1093-1097.
- Greve, P, Orlowsky B, Mueller B, Sheffield J, Reichstein M, Seneviratne SI. 2014. Global assessment of trends in wetting and drying over land. *Nature geoscience* **7(10)**: 716-721.
- Guerrero-Salazar P, Yevjevich V. 1975. Analysis of drought characteristics by the theory of runs. *Fort Collins, Colorado: Colorado State University. Hydrology Papers* **80**: 1-44.
- Guha-Sapir D, Vos F, Below R, Ponserre S. 2011. Annual disaster statistical review 2010. Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters, WHO-CRED, Université Catholique de Louvain. Available at: http://www.cred.be/sites/default/files/ADSR\_2010.pdf. Last accessed on: 3 December 2014.
- Guttman NB. 1999. Accepting the Standardized Precipitation Index: a calculation. 1999. *JAWRA* **35(2)**: 311-322.
- Hajat S, Ebi KL, Kovats RS, Menne B, Edwards S, Haines A. 2005. The human health consequences of flooding in Europe: a review. In: *Extreme weather events and public health responses*: 185-196. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Hamilton JM, Maddison DJ, Tol RS. 2005. Climate change and international tourism: a simulation study. *Global environmental change* **15(3)**: 253-266.
- Hannaford J, Lloyd-Hughes B, Keef C, Parry S, Prudhomme, C. 2011. Examining the large-scale spatial coherence of European drought using regional indicators of precipitation and streamflow deficit. *Hydrological Processes* **25(7)**: 1146-1162.
- Harou JJ, Medellín-Azuara J, Zhu T, Tanaka SK, Lund JR, Stine S, Olivares MA, Jenkins MW. 2010. Economic consequences of optimized water management for a prolonged, severe drought in California. *Water Resources Research* **46(5)**, May 2010.
- Harris I, Jones PD, Osborn TJ, Lister DH. 2014. Updated high-resolution grids of monthly climatic observations-the CRU TS3. 10 Dataset. *International Journal of Climatology* 34(3): 623-642.
- Haylock MR, Hofstra N, Klein Tank AMG, Klok EJ, Jones PD, New M. 2008. A European daily high-resolution gridded data set of surface temperature and precipitation for 1950–2006. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012)* 113(D20), 27 October 2014.
- Heim Jr. RR. 2002. A review of twentieth-century drought indices used in the United States. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* **83(8)**: 1149-1165.
- Hergarten S. 2004. Aspects of risk assessment in power-law distributed natural hazards. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* **4(2)**: 309-313.

- Heyde CC. 1963. On a property of the lognormal distribution. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B (Methodological), 1963: 392-393.
- Hightower M, Pierce SA. 2008. The energy challenge. Nature 452(7185): 285-286.
- Hillier, D., and Dempsey, B. 2012. A dangerous delay: the cost of late response to early warnings in the 2011 drought in the Horn of Africa. Oxfam Policy and Practice: Agriculture, Food and Land, 12(1), 1-34.
- Hirabayashi Y, Kanae S, Emori S, Oki T, Kimoto M. 2008. Global projections of changing risks of floods and droughts in a changing climate. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* **53(4)**: 754-772.
- Hirschi M, Seneviratne SI, Alexandrov V, Boberg F, Boroneant C, Christensen OB, Formayer H, Orlowsky B, Stepanek P. 2011. Observational evidence for soilmoisture impact on hot extremes in southeastern Europe. *Nature Geoscience* **4(1)**: 17-21.
- Hisdal H, Stahl K, Tallaksen LM, Demuth S. 2001. Have streamflow droughts in Europe become more severe or frequent? *International Journal of Climatology* **21(3)**: 317-333.
- Hisdal H, Roald LA, Beldring S, Demuth S, Gustard A, Planos E, Seatena F, Servat E. 2006. Past and future changes in flood and drought in the Nordic countries. IAHS Publication **308**.
- Hlavinka P, Trnka M, Semerádová D, Dubrovský M, Žalud Z, Možný M. 2009. Effect of drought on yield variability of key crops in Czech Republic. *Agricultural and forest meteorology* **149(3)**: 431-442.
- Hoerling M, Eischeid J, Perlwitz J, Quan X, Zhang T, Pegion P. 2012. On the increased frequency of Mediterranean drought. *Journal of Climate* **25(6)**: 2146-2161.
- Hoffmann P, Österle H, Gerstengarbe FW, Holldorb C, Rumpel F. 2014. The effects of climate change on winter service in Germany. *Routes/Roads* **361**: 30-37.
- Horton R, Herweijer C, Rosenzweig C, Liu J, Gornitz V, Ruane AC. 2008. Sea level rise projections for current generation CGCMs based on the semi-empirical method. *Geophysical Research Letters* **35(2)**, January 2008.
- Hrdinka T, Novický O, Hanslík E, Rieder M. 2012. Possible impacts of floods and droughts on water quality. *Journal of Hydro-environment Research* **6(2)**: 145-150.
- Hsiao TC. 1993. Effects of drought and elevated CO2 on plant water use efficiency and productivity. *Interacting stresses on plants in a changing climate*: 435-465. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Hulme M, Raper SC, Wigley TM. 1995. An integrated framework to address climate change (ESCAPE) and further developments of the global and regional climate modules (MAGICC). *Energy Policy* **23(4)**: 347-355.
- Huynen MM, Martens P, Schram D, Weijenberg MP, Kunst AE. 2001. The impact of heat waves and cold spells on mortality rates in the Dutch population. *Environmental health perspectives* **109(5)**: 463-470.

- Iglesias A, Cancelliere A, Wilhite DA, Garrote L, Cubillo F (Eds.). 2009. Coping with drought risk in agriculture and water supply systems. Drought Management and Policy Development in the Mediterranean. *Advances in Natural and Technological Hazards Research* **26**. Dordrecht: Springer. ISBN: 978-1-4020-9044-8.
- IPCC. 1990. IPCC First Assessment Report 1990 (FAR). Working Group I: Scientific Assessment of Climate Change. Editors: Houghton JT, Jenkins GJ, Ephraums JJ. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge Great Britain, New York, USA, and Melbourne, Australia. 410pp.
- IPCC. 1996. IPCC Second Assessment Report: Climate Change 1995 (SAR). Working Group I: The Science of Climate Change. Editors: Houghton JT, Meira Filho LG, Callander BA, Harris N, Kattenberg A, Maskell K. Cambridge University Press, Cambridg, United Kingdom, New York, USA, and Melbourne, Australia. 588pp.
- IPCC, 2000. IPCC Sepecial Report: Emission Scenarios (SRES). Editors: Nakicenovic N, Swart R. Cambridge University Press, United Kingdom, pp570.
- IPCC. 2001. IPCC Third Assessment Report: Climate Change 2001 (TAR). Working Group
  I: The Scientific Basis. Editors: Houghton JT, Ding Y, Griggs DJ, Noguer M, van
  Linden PJ, Dai X, Maskell K, Johnson CA. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge,
  United Kingdom, New York, USA. 881pp.
- IPCC, 2007. IPCC Fourth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2007 (AR4). Working Group I: The Physical Science Basis. Editors: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, New York, USA. 996pp.
- IPCC. 2013. IPCC Fifth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2013 (AR5). Editors: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor MMB, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM.. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1549.
- IPCC, 2014. Summary for policymakers. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L.White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-32.
- Jactel H, Petit J, Desprez-Loustau ML, Delzon S, Piou D, Battisti A, Koricheva J. 2012. Drought effects on damage by forest insects and pathogens: a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* **18(1)**: 267-276.
- Jenkins K .2012. Modelling the economic and social consequences of drought under future projections of climate change. *Dissertation. University of Cambridge*, Available at: http://www.dspace.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/242439. Last accessed: 3 December 2014.
- Jenkins K. 2013. Indirect economic losses of drought under future projections of climate change: a case study for Spain. *Natural hazards* **69(3)**: 1967-1986.

- Jiang DB, Wang HJ, Lang XM. 2004. Multimodel ensemble prediction for climate change trend of China under SRES A2 scenario. *Chinese Journal of Geophysics* **47(5)**: 878-886.
- Jongman B, Hochrainer-Stigler S, Feyen L, Aerts J, Mechler R, Botzen WJ, Bouwer LM, Pflug G, Rojas R, Ward PJ. 2014. Increasing stress on disaster-risk finance due to large floods. *Nature Climate Change* **4** : 264–268.
- Kendon M, Marsh T, Parry S. 2013. The 2010–2012 drought in England and Wales. *Weather* **68(4)**: 88-95.
- Keyantash J, Dracup JA. 2002. The quantification of drought: an evaluation of drought indices. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* **83(8)**: 1167-1180.
- Kloeppel BD, Clinton BD, Vose JM, Cooper AR. 2003. Drought impacts on tree growth and mortality of southern Appalachian forests. Climate variability and ecosystem response at long-term ecological research sites. Oxford University Press, New York, 43-55.
- Kohn I, Stagge JH, Blauhut V, Bachmair S, Stahl K, Tallaksen LM. 2014. Impacts of European drought events: insights from an international impact report inventory. *Geophysical Resarch Abstracts* 16, EGU2014-14336, EGU General Assembly 2014, Vienna (AUT).
- Kopytko N, Perkins J. 2011. Climate change, nuclear power, and the adaptationmitigation dilemma. *Energy Policy* **39(1)**: 318-333.
- Kovats RS, Kristie LE. 2006. Heatwaves and public health in Europe. *The European Journal of Public Health* **16(6)**: 592-599.
- Kulshreshtha SN, Klein KK. 1989. Agricultural drought impact evaluation model: A systems approach. *Agricultural Systems* **30(1)**: 81-96.
- Lagadec P. 2004. Understanding the French 2003 Heat Wave Experience: Beyond the heat, a Multi-Layered Challenge. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management* **12(4)**: 160-169.
- Lavalle C, Micale F, Houston TD, Camia A, Hiederer R, Lazar C, Conte C, Amatulli G, Genovese G. 2009. Climate change in Europe. 3. Impact on agriculture and forestry. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development* **29(3)**: 433-446.
- Lee T, Modarres R, Ouarda TBMJ. 2013. Data-based analysis of bivariate copula tail dependence for drought duration and severity. *Hydrological Processes* **27(10)**: 1454-1463.
- Lehner B, Döll P, Alcamo J, Henrichs T, Kaspar F. 2006. Estimating the impact of global change on flood and drought risks in Europe: a continental, integrated analysis. *Climatic Change* **75(3)**: 273-299.
- Lei Y, Duan A. 2011. Prolonged dry episodes and drought over China. *International Journal of Climatology* **31(12)**: 1831-1840.
- Leuzinger S, Zotz G, Asshoff R, Körner C. 2005. Responses of deciduous forest trees to severe drought in Central Europe. *Tree physiology* **25(6)**: 641-650.

- Lindner M, Maroschek M, Netherer S, Kremer A, Barbati A, Garcia-Gonzalo J, Seidl R, Delzon S, Corona P, Kolström M, Lexer MJ, Marchetti, M. 2010. Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259(4): 698-709.
- Linnerud K, Mideksa TK, Eskeland GS. 2011. The impact of climate change on nuclear power supply. *Energy Journal* **32(1)**: 149-168.
- Lise W, Bakker K. 2005. Economic regulation of the water supply industry in the UK: a game theoretic consideration of the implications for responding to drought risk. *International Journal of Water* **3(1)**: 18-37.
- Liverman DM. 1990. Drought impacts in Mexico: climate, agriculture, technology, and land tenure in Sonora and Puebla. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* **80(1)**: 49-72.
- Lloyd-Hughes B, Saunders MA. 2002. A drought climatology for Europe. *International Journal of Climatology* **22(13)**:1571-1592.
- Lloyd-Hughes B. 2012. A spatio-temporal structure-based approach to drought characterisation. *International Journal of Climatology* **32(3)**: 406-418.
- Lu J, Vecchi GA, Reichler T. 2007. Expansion of the Hadley cell under global warming. *Geophysical Research Letters* **34(6)**, March 2007.
- Lukacs E. 1942. A Characterization of the Normal Distribution. *The Annals of Mathematical Statistics* **13**: 91–93.
- Lutz J, Volkholz J, Gerstengarbe FW. 2013. Climate projections for southern Africa using complementary methods. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management Special issue on climate change in Africa* **5** (2): 130-151.
- Mallya G, Zhao L, Song XC, Niyogi D, Govindaraju RS. 2013. 2012 Midwest Drought in the United States. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering* **18(7)**: 737-745.
- Maracchi G, Sirotenko O, Bindi M. 2005. Impacts of present and future climate variability on agriculture and forestry in the temperate regions: Europe. *Climatic Change* **70(1-2)**: 117-135.
- Marchi L, Borga M, Preciso E, Gaume E. 2010. Characterisation of selected extreme flash floods in Europe and implications for flood risk management. *Journal of Hydrology* **394(1)**: 118-133.
- Marsh T, Cole G, Wilby R. 2007. Major droughts in England and Wales, 1800–2006. *Weather* **62(4)**: 87-93.
- Marsh T, Harvey CL. 2012. The Thames flood series: a lack of trend in flood magnitude and a decline in maximum levels. *Hydrology Research* **43(3)**: 203-214.
- Mastrandrea MD, Schneider SH. 2004. Probabilistic integrated assessment of "dangerous" climate change. *Science* **304(5670)**: 571-575.
- McKee TB, Doeskin NJ, Kleist J. 1993. The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales. In: *Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Applied Climatology. American Meteorological Society: Boston, MA*: 179–184.

- McDaniels TL, Axelrod LJ, Cavanagh NS, Slovic P. 1997. Perception of ecological risk to water environments. *Risk analysis* **17(3)**: 341-352.
- McKee TB, Doeskin NJ, Kleist J. 1993. The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales. In: *Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Applied Climatology. American Meteorological Society: Boston, MA*: 179–184.
- Mechler R, Hochrainer S, Aaheim A, Kundzewicz Z, Lugeri N, Moriondo M, Banaszak I, Bindi M, Chorynski A, Genovese E, Kalirai H, Lavalle C, Linnerooth J, Matczak P, McEvoy D, Radziejewski M, Rubbelke D, Saelen H, Schelhaas M, Szwed M, Wredford A. 2010. A risk management approach for assessing adaptation to changing flood and drought risks in Europe. *Making climate change work for us: European perspectives on adaptation and mitigation strategies. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom*, pp. 200-229.
- Meehl GA, Tebaldi C. 2004. More intense, more frequent, and longer lasting heat waves in the 21st century. *Science* **305(5686)**: 994-997.
- Meehl GA, Arblaster JM, Tebaldi C. 2005. Understanding future patterns of increased precipitation intensity in climate model simulations. *Geophysical Research Letters* **32(18)**, September 2005.
- Merz B, Elmer F, Thieken AH. 2009. Significance of "high probability/low damage" versus "low probability/high damage" flood events. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* **9(3)**: 1033-1046.
- Merz B, Kreibich H, Schwarz, R, Thieken A. 2010. Review article: Assessment of economic flood damage. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science* **10(8)**: 1697-1724.
- Meshcherskaya AV, Blazhevich VG. 1997. The drought and excessive moisture indices in a historical perspective in the principal grain producing regions of the former Soviet Union. *Journal of Climate* **10(10)**: 2670–2682.
- Michaelides S, Pashiardis S. 2008. Monitoring drought in Cyprus during the 2007-2008 hydrometeorological year by using the standardized precipitation index (SPI). *European Water* **23(24)**: 123-131.
- Michelsen AM, Young RA. 1993. Optioning agricultural water rights for urban water supplies during drought. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* **75(4)**: 1010-1020.
- Milly PCD. 1994. Climate, soil water storage, and the average annual water balance. Water Resources Research **30(7)**: 2143-2156.
- Mishra AK, Singh VP. 2010. A review of drought concepts. *Journal of Hydrology* **391(1)**: 202-216.
- Mishra AK, Singh VP. 2011. Drought modelling: a review. J. Hydrol. 403: 157-175.
- Montz BE, Tobin GA. 2011. Natural hazards: an evolving tradition in applied geography. *Applied Geography* **31(1)**: 1-4.
- Moreira F, Viedma O, Arianoutsou M, Curt T, Koutsias N, Rigolot E, Barbati A, Corona P, Vaz P, Xanthopoulos G, Mouillot F, Bilgili E. 2011. Landscape wildfire interactions

in southern Europe: implications for landscape management. *Journal of Environmental Management* **92(10)**: 2389-2402.

- Morren Jr. GE 1980. The rural ecology of the British drought of 1975–1976. *Hum. Ecol.*, **8 (1)** (1980), pp. 33–63.
- Morris J, Graves A, Daccache A, Hess T, Knox J. 2010. Towards a framework for the economic assessment of drought risk. An ecosystems approach. In: Economics of drought and drought preparedness in a climate change context [Lopez-Francos A (eds.)]. *Options Mediterraneennes: Serie A. Seminaires Mediterraneens* **95**: 139-148.
- Nalbantis I, Tsakiris G. 2009. Assessment of hydrological drought revisited. *Water Resources Management* 23(5): 881-897.
- Naumann G, Barbosa P, Carrao H, Singleton A, Vogt A. 2012. Monitoring Drought Conditions and Their Uncertainties in Africa Using TRMM Data. J. Appl. Meteor. Climatol. **51**: 1867–1874.
- Naumann G, Spinoni J, Vogt JV, Barbosa P. 2015. Assessment of drought damages and their uncertainties in Europe. *Environmental Research Letters*, **10**, 124013. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/124013
- Newmark NM. 1965. Effects of earthquakes on dams and embankments. Geotechnique 15(2), *Fifth Rankine Lecture*: 139-160
- Nkedianye D, de Leeuw J, Ogutu JO, Said MY, Saidimu TL, Kifugo SC, Kaelo DS, Reid RS. 2011. Mobility and livestock mortality in communally used pastoral areas: the impact of the 2005-2006 drought on livestock mortality in Maasailand. *Pastoralism* 1(1): 1-17.
- Nordhaus WD, Boyer J. 2000. Warming the world: economic models of global warming. *Cambridge, MA (USA), MIT press.* ISBN 0262140713.
- O'Gorman PA, Schneider T. 2009. The physical basis for increases in precipitation extremes in simulations of 21st-century climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **106(35)**: 14773-14777.
- Ohlemüller R, Gritti ES, Sykes MT, Thomas CD. 2006. Towards European climate risk surfaces: the extent and distribution of analogous and non-analogous climates 1931–2100. *Global ecology and biogeography* **15(4)**: 395-405.
- Okuyama Y. 2007. Economic modelling for disaster impact analysis: past, present, and future. *Econ. Sys. Res.* **19(2)**:115–124.
- Olesen JE, Bindi M. 2002. Consequences of climate change for European agricultural productivity, land use and policy. *European journal of agronomy* **16(4)**: 239-262.
- Olesen JE, Trnka M, Kersebaum KC, Skjelvåg AO, Seguin B, Peltonen-Sainio P, Rossi F, Kozyra J, Micale F. 2011. Impacts and adaptation of European crop production systems to climate change. *European Journal of Agronomy* **34(2)**: 96-112.
- Omer AM. 2010. Sustainable energy development and environment. *Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences* **2(2)**: 55-75.

- Orlowsky B, Bothe O, Fraedrich K, Gerstengarbe FW, Zhu X. 2010. Future climates from bootstrapped weather analogues: an application to the Yangtze river basin. *Journal of Climate* **23**: 3509-3524.
- Pal JS, Giorgi F, Bi X. 2004. Consistency of recent European summer precipitation trends and extremes with future regional climate projections. Geophysical Research Letters: 31(13), 3 July 2004.
- Palmer WC. 1965. Meteorological drought. U.S. Weather Bureau Research Paper 45, 58pp.
- Parry S, Hannaford J, Lloyd-Hughes B, Prudhomme C. 2012. Multi-year droughts in Europe: analysis of development and causes. *Hydrology Research* **43(5)**: 689-706.
- Parzen E. 1962. On estimation of a probability density function and mode. *The annals of mathematical statistics*: 1065-1076.
- Perry AH. 1976. The long drought of 1975–76. Weather 31(10): 328-336.
- Peters E, van Lanen HAJ, Torfs PJJF, Bier G. 2005. Drought in groundwater drought distribution and performance indicators. *Journal of hydrology* **306(1)**: 302-317.
- Peterson TC, Easterling DR, Karl TR, Groisman P, Nicholls N, Plummer N, Torok S, Auer I, Boehm R, Gullett D, Vincent L, Heino R, Tuomenvirta H, Mestre O, Szentimrey T, Salinger J, Forland EJ, Hanssen-Bauer I, Alexandersson H, Jones PD, Parker D. 1998. Homogeneity adjustments of in situ atmospheric climate data: a review. *International Journal of Climatology* **18(13)**: 1493-1517.
- Phillips OL, Aragao OC, Lewis SL, Fisher JB, Lloyd J, Lopez-Gonzalez G, Malhi Y, Monteagudo A, Peacock J, Quesada CA, van der Heijden G, Almeida S, Amaral L, Arroyo L, Aymard G, Baker TR, Banki O, Blanc L, Bonal D, Brando P, Chave J, Alves de Oliveira AC, Cardozo ND, Czimczik CI, Feldpausch TR, Freitas MA, Gloor E, Higuchi N, Jimenez E, Lloyd G, Meir P, Mendoza C, Morel A, Neill DA, Nepstad D, Patino S, Penuela MC, Prieto A, Ramirez F, Schwarz M, Silva J, Silveira M, Thomas AS, ter Steege H, Stropp J, Vasquez R, Zelazowski P, Davila EA, Andelman S, Andrade A, Chao KJ, Erwin T, Di Fiore A, Honorio EC, Keeling H, Killeen TJ, Laurance WF, Pena Cruz A, Pitman NCA, Nunez Vargas P, Ramirez-Angulo H, Rudas A, Salamao R, Silva N, Terborgh J, Torres-Lezan A. 2009. Drought sensitivity of the Amazon rainforest. *Science* **323(5919)**: 1344-1347.
- Poumadere M, Mays C, Le Mer S, Blong R. 2005. The 2003 heat wave in France: dangerous climate change here and now. *Risk Analysis* **25(6)**: 1483-1494.
- Prospero JM, Nees RT. 1986. Impact of the North African drought and El Nino on mineral dust in the Barbados trade winds. *Nature* **320**: 735-738. 24 April 1986.
- Rebetez M, Mayer H, Dupont O, Schindler D, Gartner K, Kropp JP, Menzel A. 2006. Heat and drought 2003 in Europe: a climate synthesis. *Annals of Forest Science* **63(6)**: 569-577.
- Rhee J, Im J, Carbone GJ. 2010. Monitoring agricultural drought for arid and humid regions using multi-sensor remote sensing data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **114(12)**: 2875-2887.

- Roe JH, Rees M, Georges A. 2011. Suburbs: dangers or drought refugia for freshwater turtle populations? *The Journal of Wildlife Management* **75(7)**: 1544-1552.
- Rojas O, Vrieling A, Rembold F. 2011. Assessing drought probability for agricultural areas in Africa with coarse resolution remote sensing imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **115(2)**: 343-352.
- Rose A, Benavides J, Chang SE, Szczesniak P, Lim D. 1997. The regional economic impact of an earthquake: Direct and indirect effects of electricity lifeline disruptions. *Journal of Regional Science* **37(3)**: 437-458.
- Rossi G. 2000. Drought mitigation measures: a comprehensive framework. In: Drought and drought mitigation in Europe. Advances in Natural and Technological Hazards Research **14** (2000): 233-246. Springer Netherlands.
- Rossi G, Cancelliere A, Giuliano G. 2005. Case study: multicriteria assessment of drought mitigation measures. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management* **131(6)**: 449-457.
- Rossi G, Castiglione L, Bonaccorso B. 2007. Guidelines for planning and implementing drought mitigation measures. In: Editors: Rossi G, Vega T, Bonaccorso B (Eds.) *Methods and tools for drought analysis and management* (= Water Science and Technology Library, vol. 62): 325-347. *Springer, The Netherlands, http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007%2F978-1-4020-5924-7\_16.*
- Rouault G, Candau JN, Lieutier F, Nageleisen LM, Martin JC, Warzée N. 2006. Effects of drought and heat on forest insect populations in relation to the 2003 drought in Western Europe. *Annals of Forest Science* **63(6)**: 613-624.
- Rübbelke D, Vögele S. 2011. Impacts of climate change on European critical infrastructures: The case of the power sector. *Environmental Science & Policy* 14(1): 53-63.
- Rudolf B, Beck C, Grieser J, Schneider U. 2005. Global precipitation analysis products: Global Precipitation Climatology Centre (GPCC). DWD, Internet Publication.
- Ruiz-Sinoga JD, Martínez-Murillo JF. 2009. Eco-geomorphological system response variability to the 2004–06 drought along a climatic gradient of the Littoral Betic Range (southern Spain). *Geomorphology* **103(3)**: 351-362.
- Russo S, Dosio A, Sterl A, Barbosa P, Vogt J. 2013. Projection of occurrence of extreme dry-wet years and seasons in Europe with stationary and nonstationary Standardized Precipitation Indices. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* **118(14)**: 7628-7639.
- Santos MJ, Verissimo R, Fernandes S, Orlando M, Rodrigues R. 2000. Overview of meteorological drought analysis on Western Europe. *ARIDE Technical Report* **10**, Water Institute, Lisbon, Portugal.
- Santos J, Corte-Real J, Leite S. 2007. Atmospheric large-scale dynamics during the 2004/2005 winter drought in Portugal. *International journal of Climatology* **27(5)**: 571-586.
- Santos JF, Pulido-Calvo I, Portela MM. 2010. Spatial and temporal variability of droughts in Portugal. *Water Resour. Res.*, **46 (3)**: W03503.

- Sarris D, Christopoulou A, Angelonidi E, Koutsias N, Fulé PZ, Arianoutsou M. 2014. Increasing extremes of heat and drought associated with recent severe wildfires in southern Greece. *Regional Environmental Change* **14(3)**: 1257-1268.
- Schneider U, Becker A, Finger P, Meyer-Christoffer A, Ziese M, Rudolf B. 2014. GPCC's new land surface precipitation climatology based on quality-controlled in situ data and its role in quantifying the global water cycle. *Theor. Applied Climatol.* **115(1-2)**: 15-40.
- Seabrook, L., Mcalpine, C. A., & Bowen, M. E. 2011. Restore, repair or reinvent: Options for sustainable landscapes in a changing climate. *Landscape and Urban Planning* **100(4)**: 407-410.
- Seftigen K, Linderholm HW, Drobyshev I, Niklasson M. 2013. Reconstructed drought variability in southeastern Sweden since the 1650s. *International Journal of Climatology* **33(11)**: 2449-2458.
- Selin NE, Wu S, Nam KM, Reilly JM, Paltsev S, Prinn RG, Webster MD. 2009. Global health and economic impacts of future ozone pollution. *Environmental Research Letters* **4(4)**: 044014, October 2009.
- Sepulcre-Canto G, Vogt JV, Arboleda A, Antofie T. 2014. Assessment of the EUMETSAT LSA-SAF evapotranspiration product for drought monitoring in Europe. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* **30**: 190-202.
- Shaw EM. 1979. The 1975-76 Drought in England and Wales in Perspective. *Disasters* **3(1)**: 103-110.
- Sheffield J, Wood EF. 2008. Projected changes in drought occurrence under future global warming from multi-model, multi-scenario, IPCC AR4 simulations. *Climate dynamics* **31(1)**: 79-105.
- Sheffield J, Andreadis KM, Wood EF, Lettenmaier DP. 2009. Global and continental drought in the second half of the twentieth century: Severity-area-duration analysis and temporal variability of large-scale events. *Journal of Climate* **22(8)**: 1962-1981.
- Sheffield J, Wood EF, Roderick ML. 2012. Little change in global drought over the past 60 years. *Nature* **491(7424)**: 435-438.
- Sherwood S, Fu Q. 2014. A Drier Future? Science 343(6172): 737-739.
- Shiau JT, Shen HW. 2001. Recurrence analysis of hydrologic droughts of differing severity. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management* **127(1)**: 30-40.
- Shih JS, ReVelle C. 1995. Water supply operations during drought: A discrete hedging rule. *European journal of operational research* **82(1)**: 163-175.
- Shoukri MM, Mian IUH, Tracy DS. 1988. Sampling properties of estimators of the loglogistic distribution with application to Canadian precipitation data. *Canadian Journal of Statistics* **16(3)**: 223-236.
- Simelton E, Fraser ED, Termansen M, Forster PM, Dougill, AJ. 2009. Typologies of cropdrought vulnerability: an empirical analysis of the socio-economic factors that

influence the sensitivity and resilience to drought of three major food crops in China (1961–2001). *Environmental Science & Policy* **12(4)**: 438-452.

- Simsek O, Cakmak B. 2010. Drought Analysis for 2007-2008 Agricultural Year of Turkey. Journal of Tekirdag Agricultural Faculty **7(3)**: 99-109.
- Smakhtin VU, Schipper EL. 2008. Droughts: the impact of semantics and perceptions. *Water Policy* **10**: 131-143.
- Soci C, Landelius T, Bazile E, Undén P, Mahfouf JF, Martin E, Besson F. 2011. EURO4M Project–REPORT, April 2011. Available at http://www.euro4m.eu/deliverables/D2-10\_Comparison \_of\_existing\_ERAMESAN\_with\_SAFRAN\_downscaling.pdf. Last accessed 4 December 2014.
- Soden BJ, Held IM. 2006. An assessment of climate feedbacks in coupled oceanatmosphere models. *Journal of Climate* **19(14)**: 3354-3360.
- Spinoni J, Antofie T, Barbosa P, Bihari Z, Lakatos M, Szalai S, Szentimrey T, Vogt JV. 2013. An overview of drought events in the Carpathian Region in 1961–2010. *Advances in Science and Research* **10(1)**: 21-32.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Carrao H, Barbosa P, Vogt J. 2014a. World drought frequency, duration, and severity for 1951–2010. *International Journal of Climatology* **34(8)**: 2792-2804.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Vogt J, Barbosa P. 2014b. European drought climatologies for the period from 1950 to 2012. *Geophysical Research Abstracts* **16**: EGU2014-4267.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Vogt J, Barbosa P. 2014c. Meteorological drought trends in Europe for the period 1950-2012. EMS Annual Meeting Abstracts **11**: EMS2014-338.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Vogt J, Barbosa P. 2014d. Constructing a pan-European database of past meteorological drought events. EMS Annual Meeting Abstracts **11**: EMS2014-341.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Vogt J, Barbosa P. 2015a. European drought climatologies and trends based on a multi-indicator approach. Global and Planetary Change 127, 50–57.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Vogt J, Barbosa P. 2015b. The biggest drought events in Europe from 1950 to 2012. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies* **3**: 509-524.
- Spinoni J, Naumann G, Vogt J. 2015c. Spatial Patterns of European droughts under a moderate emission scenario. Advances in Science and Research. 12, 179-186. doi:10.5194/asr-12-179-2015
- Spinoni J, Vogt J, Naumann G, Carrao H, Barbosa P. 2015d. Towards identifying areas at climatological risk of desertification using the Köppen–Geiger classification and FAO aridity index. *International Journal of Climatology*, **35**: 2210–2222. doi:10.1002/ joc.4124.
- Stagge JH, Tallaksen LM, Kohn I, Stahl K, van Loon AF. 2013. A European Drought Reference (EDR) Database: design and online implementation. *DROUGHT-R&SPI*

*deliverable D1.1, Technical Report* **No. 12**. Available at: http://www.eudrought.org/technicalreports. Last accessed on 14 October 2014.

- Stagge JH, Kohn I, Tallaksen LM, Stahl K. 2014. Modeling drought impact occurrence based on climatological drought indices for four European countries. *Geophysical Research Abstracts* **16**: 15425.
- Stahl K, Blauhut V, Kohn I, Acácio V, Assimacopoulos D, Bifulco C, De Stefano L, Dias S, Eilertz D, Frielingsdorf B, Hegdahl TJ, Kampragou E, Kourentzis V, Melsen L, van Lanen HAJ, van Loon AF, Massarutto A, Musolino D, de Paoli L, Senn L, Stagge JH, Tallaksen LM, Urquijo J. 2012. A European Drought Impact Report Inventory (EDII): design and test for selected recent droughts in Europe. Drought R&SPI Project Technical Report No. 3. 25 October 2012. Available at: http://www.eu-drought.org/technicalreports/3. Last accessed on 3rd December 2014.
- Steinemann A, Cavalcanti L. 2006: Developing multiple indicators and triggers for drought plans. *WRPM* **132**: 164-174.
- Stern N (Ed.). 2007. *The* economics of climate change: the Stern review. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, 2007.
- Stothers RB. 1999. Volcanic dry fogs, climate cooling, and plague pandemics in Europe and the Middle East. *Climatic change* **42(4)**: 713-723.
- Szentimrey T. 1999. Multiple analysis of series for homogenization (MASH). In: Proceedings of the Second Seminar for Homogenization of Surface Climatological Data: 27–46.
- Szinell CS, Bussay A, Szentimrey T. 1998. Drought tendencies in Hungary. *International Journal of Climatology* **18(13)**: 1479-1491.
- Tallaksen LM, Van Lanen HA (Eds.). 2004. Hydrological drought: processes and estimation methods for streamflow and groundwater. In: *Developments in Water Science* 48. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. ISBN-13: 978-0-444-51767-8.
- Tammets T. 2007. Distribution of extreme wet and dry days in Estonia in last 50 years. *Proc. Est. Acad. Sci.* **13**: 252–259.
- Tan J, Zheng Y, Song G, Kalkstein LS, Kalkstein AJ, Tang X. 2007. Heat wave impacts on mortality in Shanghai, 1998 and 2003. *International Journal of Biometeorology* 51(3): 193-200.
- Teuling AJ, van Loon AF, Seneviratne SI, Lehner I, Aubinet M, Heinesch B, Bernhofer C, Grünwald, Prasse H, Spank U. 2013. Evapotranspiration amplifies European summer drought. *Geophysical Research Letters* **40(10)**: 2071-2075.
- Thom HC. 1958. A note on the gamma distribution. *Monthly Weather Review* **86(4)**: 117-122.
- Thomas DS. 1997. Science and the desertification debate. *Journal of Arid Environments* **37(4)**: 599-608.
- Thornton PK, van de Steeg J, Notenbaert A, Herrero M. 2009. The impacts of climate change on livestock and livestock systems in developing countries: A review of what we know and what we need to know. *Agricultural Systems* **101(3)**: 113-127.

- Thornthwaite CW. 1948. An approach toward a rational classification of climate. *Geographical review*: 55-94.
- Todd B, Macdonald N, Chiverrell RC, Caminade C, Hooke JM. 2013. Severity, duration and frequency of drought in SE England from 1697 to 2011. *Climatic change* **121(4)**: 673-687.
- Trenberth KE, Dai A. 2007. Effects of Mount Pinatubo volcanic eruption on the hydrological cycle as an analog of geoengineering. *Geophysical Research Letters* **34(15)**, August 2007.
- Trenberth KE, Dai A, van der Schrier G, Jones PD, Barichivich J, Briffa KR, Sheffield J. 2014. Global warming and changes in drought. *Nature Climate Change* **4(1)**: 17-22.
- Tsakiris G, Vangelis H. 2005. Establishing a drought index incorporating evapotranspiration. *European Water* **9(10)**: 3-11.
- Tsakiris G, Pangalou D, Vangelis H. 2007. Regional drought assessment based on the Reconnaissance Drought Index (RDI). *Water Resources Management* **21(5)**: 821-833.
- Tselepidaki I, Zarifis B, Asimakopoulos DN. 1992. Low precipitation over Greece during 1989–1990. *Theoretical and applied climatology* **46(2-3)**: 115-121.
- UN (United Nations). 1991. Mitigating Natural Disasters: Phenomena, Effects, and Options: a Manual for Policy Makers and Planners. *New York: UNDRO (United Nations Disaster Relief Organization)*. *Document* **1028**.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2004: Reducing Disaster Risk A challenge for development A Global Report. New York, USA. ISBN 92-1-126160-0.
- UNECE (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe). 2014: Can inland water transport play a larger role in global supply chains? Available at: http://www.unece.org/press/pr2010/10trans\_p03.html. Last access 3rd December 2014.
- Uppala SM, Kållberg PW, Simmons AJ, Andrae U, Bechtold V, Fiorino M, Gibson JK, Haseler J, Hernandez A, Kelly GA, Li X, Onogi K, Saarinen S, Sokka N, Allan RP, Andersson E, Arpe K, Balmaseda MA, Beljaars ACM, van de Berg L, Bidlot J, Bormann N, Caires S, Chevallier F, Dethof A, Dragosavac M, Fisher M, Fuentes M, Hagemann S, Holm E, Hoskins BJ, Isaksen L, Janssen PAEM, Jenne R, Mcnally AP, Mahfouf JF, Morcrette JJ, Rayner NA, Saunders RW, Simon P, Sterl A, Trenberth KE, Untch A, Vasiljevic D, Viterbo P, Woollen J. 2005. The ERA-40 reanalysis. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society* **131(612)**: 2961-3012.
- van der Schrier G, Briffa KR, Jones PD, Osborn TJ. 2006. Summer moisture variability across Europe. *Journal of Climate* **19(12)**: 2818-2834.
- van der Schrier G, Jones PD, Briffa KR. 2011. The sensitivity of the PDSI to the Thornthwaite and Penman-Monteith parameterizations for potential

evapotranspiration. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres (1984–2012)* **116(D3)**, 16 February 2011.

- van der Schrier G, Barichivich J, Briffa KR, Jones PD. 2013. A scPDSI-based global dataset of dry and wet spells for 1901–2009. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **118**: 4025–4048.
- van Lanen HAJ, Peters E. 2000. Definition, effects and assessment of groundwater droughts. In: *Drought and Drought Mitigation in Europe* (Vogt JV, Somma F [Eds.]), pp. 49-61, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Springer Netherlands.
- van Lanen HAJ, Wanders N, Tallaksen LM, Van Loon AF. 2013. Hydrological drought across the world: impact of climate and physical catchment structure. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* **17(5)**: 1715-1732.
- van Meijgaard E, van Ulft LH, van den Berg WJ, Bosveld FC, van den Hurk BJJM, Lenderink G, Siebesma AP. 2008. The KNMI regional atmospheric climate model RACMO version 2.1. *Technical Report TR-302, Koninklijk Nederlands Meteorologisch Instituut, De Bilt, The Netherlands*, pp50.
- van Vliet MT, Yearsley JR, Ludwig F, Vögele S, Lettenmaier DP, Kabat P. 2012. Vulnerability of US and European electricity supply to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* **2(9)**: 676-681.
- van Vuuren DP, Lowe J, Stehfest E, Gohar L, Hof AF, Hope C, Warren R, Meinshausen M, Plattner GK. 2011. How well do integrated assessment models simulate climate change? *Climatic change* **104(2)**: 255-285.
- Vasiliades L, Loukas A, Patsonas G. 2009. Evaluation of a statistical downscaling procedure for the estimation of climate change impacts on droughts. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences* **9**: 879-894.
- Venema VK, Mestre O, Aguilar E, Auer I, Guijarro JA, Domonkos P, Vertacnik G, Szentimrey T, Stepanek P, Zahradnicek P, Viarre J, Muller-Westermeier G, Lakatos M, Williams CN, Menne MJ, Lindau R, Rasol D, Rustemeier E, Kolokythas K, Marinova T, Andresen L, Acquaotta F, Fratianni S, Cheval S, Klancar M, Brunetti M, Gruber C, Prohom Duran M, Likso T, Esteban P, Brandsma, T. 2012. Benchmarking homogenization algorithms for monthly data. *Climate of the Past* 8(1): 89-115.
- Veryard RG. 1956. Looking back on 1955. Weather 11(3): 83-88.
- Vicente-Serrano SM, Beguería S, López-Moreno JI. 2010a. A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: the standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. *Journal of Climate* **23(7)**: 1696-1718.
- Vicente-Serrano SM, Beguería S, López-Moreno JI, Angulo M, El Kenawy A. 2010b. A new global 0.5 gridded dataset (1901-2006) of a multiscalar drought index: comparison with current drought index datasets based on the Palmer Drought Severity Index. *Journal of Hydrometeorology* **11(4)**: 1033-1043.
- Vicente-Serrano SM, Lopez-Moreno JI, Beguería S, Lorenzo-Lacruz J, Sanchez-Lorenzo A, García-Ruiz JM, Azorin-Molina C, Tejeda-Moran E, revuelto J, Trigo R, Coelho F, Espejo F. 2014. Evidence of increasing drought severity caused by temperature

rise in Southern Europe. *Environmental Research Letters* **9(4)**: 044001. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/9/4/044001

- Vogt JV, Somma F (Eds). 2000. Drought and Drought Mitigation in Europe. *Kluwer Academic Publishers: Dordrecht (The Netherlands), Boston, London;* 336p.
- Vogt JV, Safriel U, Von Maltitz G, Sokona Y, Zougmore R, Bastin G, Hill J. 2011. Monitoring and assessment of land degradation and desertification: Towards new conceptual and integrated approaches. *Land Degradation & Development* 22(2): 150-165.
- Wada Y, Van Beek LP, Wanders N, Bierkens MF. 2013. Human water consumption intensifies hydrological drought worldwide. *Environmental Research Letters* **8(3)**: 034036.
- Wang G. 2005. Agricultural drought in a future climate: results from 15 global climate models participating in the IPCC 4th assessment. *Climate dynamics* **25(7-8)**: 739-753.
- Ward FA, Booker JF, Michelsen AM. 2006. Integrated economic, hydrologic, and institutional analysis of policy responses to mitigate drought impacts in Rio Grande Basin. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management* **132(6)**: 488-502.
- Warren R, De la Nava Santos S, Arnell NW, Bane M, Barker T, Barton C, Ford R, Fussel HM, Hankin RKS, Klein R, Linstead C, Kohler J, Mitchell TD, Osborn TJ, Pan H, Raper SCB, Riley G, Schellnhuber HJ, Winne S, Anderson D. 2008. Development and illustrative outputs of the Community Integrated Assessment System (CIAS), a multi-institutional modular integrated assessment approach for modelling climate change. *Environmental Modelling & Software* **23(5)**: 592-610.
- Warren R, Yu RMS, Osborn TJ, de la Nava Santos S. 2012. European drought regimes under mitigated and unmitigated climate change: application of the Community Integrated Assessment System (CIAS). *Climate Research* **51(2)**: 105.
- Wells N, Goddard S, Hayes MJ. 2004. A self-calibrating Palmer drought severity index. Journal of Climate 17(12): 2335-2351.
- Wiedmann T, Lenzen M, Turner K, Barrett J. 2007. Examining the global environmental impact of regional consumption activities—Part 2: Review of input–output models for the assessment of environmental impacts embodied in trade. *Ecological Economics* 61(1): 15-26.
- Wilhite DA. 1993. Drought assessment, management and planning: theory and case studies. *Kluwer Academic Publishers*, 293 pp., ISBN 0-7923-9337-6.
- Wilhite DA, 1997. State actions to mitigate drought: lessons learned. *Journal of the American water resources association* **33(5)**: 961-968.
- Wilhite DA. 2002. Combating drought through preparedness. *Natural Resources Forum* **26(4)**: 275-285, November 2002.
- Wilhite DA (Ed.). 2005. Drought and water crises: science, technology, and management issues. Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, 406 pp. CRC Press 2005. Print ISBN: 978-0-8247-2771-0. eBook ISBN: 978-1-4200-2838-6

- Wilhite DA, Svoboda MD, Hayes MJ. 2007. Understanding the complex impacts of drought: a key to enhancing drought mitigation and preparedness. *Water Resources Management* **21(5)**: 763-774.
- Wilks, DS. 2011. Statistical Methods in the Atmospheric Sciences, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. International Geophysics, Volume 100, Pages 2-676, Elsevier Inc., Academic Press, Oxford (UK), ISBN: 978-0-12-385022-5.
- Williams JW, Jackson ST, Kutzbach JE. 2007. Projected distributions of novel and disappearing climates by 2100 AD. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **104(14)**: 5738-5742.
- Winslow MD, Vogt JV, Thomas RJ, Sommer S, Martius C, Akhtar-Schuster M. 2011. Science for improving the monitoring and assessment of dryland degradation. *Land Degradation & Development* **22(2)**, 145-149.
- WMO, 2012. Standardized Precipitation Index. User Guide. *World Meteorological Organization, Geneva (Switzerland). WMO-No. 01090*. ISBN 978-92-63-11091-6.
- Wu H, Hayes MJ, Wilhite DA, Svoboda MD. 2005. The effect of the length of record on the standardized precipitation index calculation. *International Journal of Climatology* 25(4): 505-520.
- Yevjevich VM. 1967. An objective approach to definitions and investigations of continental hydrologic droughts. *Hydrology Paper* No.23, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, 1967.
- Zaidman M, Rees G, Gustard A. 2001. Drought visualization. Assessment of the regional impact of droughts in Europe. *Final report, EU contract ENV4-CT-97-0553. Institute of Hydrology, University of Freiburg*, Freiburg, Germany.
- Zampieri M, D'Andrea F, Vautard R, Ciais P, de Noblet-Ducoudré N, Yiou P. 2009. Hot European summers and the role of soil moisture in the propagation of Mediterranean drought. *Journal of Climate* **22(18)**: 4747-4758.
- Ziese M, Schneider U, Meyer-Christoffer A, Schamm K, Vido J, Finger P, Bissolli P, Pietzsch S, Becker A. 2014. The GPCC Drought Insex a new, combined and gridded global drought index. Earth Syst. Sci. Data **6**: 285-295.
- Zumbrunnen T, Pezzatti GB, Menéndez P, Bugmann H, Bürgi M, Conedera M. 2011. Weather and human impacts on forest fires: 100 years of fire history in two climatic regions of Switzerland. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261(12)**: 2188-2199.

## List of acronyms

CRU:	Climate Research Unit
CRED:	Centre for Research on the Epidemiology and Disaster
DF:	Drought Frequency
DMCSEE:	Drought Management Centre for South-Eastern Europe
EC:	European Commission
EDC:	European Drought Centre
EDII:	European Drought Impact inventory
EDR:	European Drought Reference Database
EDO:	European Drought Observatory
EMM:	European Media Monitor
GPCC:	Global Precipitation Climatology Centre
IPCC:	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
JRC:	Joint Research Centre
KNMI:	Royal Netherland Meteorological Institute
MASH:	Multiple Analysis of Series for Homogenization (software)
NAM:	Northern Annular Mode
NAO:	North Atlantic Oscillation
NUTS:	Nomenclature of Units for Territorial Statistics
PDSI:	Palmer Drought Severity Index
PESETA:	Projection of Economic impacts of climate change in Sectors of the European Union based on bottom-up Analysis.
PET:	Potential Evapo-Transpiration
RACMO2:	Regional Atmospheric Climate Model version 2
RDI:	Reconnaissance Drought Indicator
SPEI:	Standardized Precipitation-Evaporation Index
SPI:	Standardized Precipitation Index
TDS:	Total Drought Severity
TDD:	Total Drought Duration

## List of figures

Figure 1 -	Example E-OBS daily grid of a maximum temperature for 4th August 2003, showing the hottest European day since 1950	12
Figure 2 -	Time series of the SPI-3 for the United Kingdom, averaged over the entire UK territories.	14
Figure 3 -	Classification used for the SPI. This also applies to the SPEI and the RDI	14
Figure 4 -	The composite indicator X-3 computed for Greece. In this case, the specific threshold is -0.8	17
Figure 5 –	Maps for a case study: the Iberian Peninsula drought in 2005. Indicated values correspond to June.	19
Figure 6 -	Average monthly series of X-12 for Central Europe. Drought events in red (threshold is -1).	21
Figure 7 -	Average monthly series of X-12 for Central Europe. Drought events in purple (threshold is -0.8).	21
Figure 8 -	Time series based on the composite indicator X-3. The drought events are shown in red.	22
Figure 9 -	Time series based on the composite indicator X-12. The drought events are shown in red.	22
Figure 10 -	Summary of the most relevant drought events, per country and region, from 1950 to 2012	25
Figure 11 -	European drought frequency (DF), total drought severity (TDS), and total drought duration (TDD) maps for 1951-70, 19971-90, and 1991-2010.	28
Figure 12 -	European drought trends for the period 1951-2012	30
Figure 13 -	Increase or decrease of drought variables for the period 1950-2012	31
Figure 14 -	Drought trends averaged per country for events lasting more than two months (left) and more than six months (right).	32
Figure 15 -	Areas under drought conditions, averaged per year and region, for the period 1951-2012	33
Figure 16 -	Trends (% per decade) of areas under drought conditions (1951-2010). Significant trends are indicated by the hatched lines	33
Figure 17 -	Observed trends of the main drivers of meteorological droughts in Europe (TDS: Drought Severity, P: Precipitation, PET: Potential Evapotranspiration). The signs represent the direction (slope) of the changes and the colours the overall combinations of factors.	34
Figure 18 -	Sequence of drought occurrence and resulting impacts for commonly accepted drought types. All droughts originate from a precipitation deficiency. Other drought types and impacts cascade from this deficiency.	39
Figure 19 -	Schematic presentation of drought impact categories and examples of related drought impacts (Source: Jenkins, 2011)	40

Figure 20 -	The interface of the EDII database: the impacts of droughts can be searched according to different criteria
Figure 21 -	Homepage of the European Drought Observatory
Figure 22 -	Map of drought impacts of the National Drought Mitigation Centre,
Figure 23 -	Schematic representation of the database organisation 48
Figure 24 -	Theoretical damage functions for different ß values. 59
Figure 25 –	Detrended cereal production compared to drought severity as reflected in six drought indicators
Figure 26 –	Detrended hydropower generation compared to drought severity as reflected in six drought indicators
Figure 27 -	Drought-damage functions depicting the relationship between reduction in cereal crop production and magnitude of the drought severity. Red lines are presented only for relevant correlations: only nine out of twenty-one countries show a statistically robust correlation
Figure 28 -	The same as Figure 27 but for hydropower generation
Figure 29 -	Parameters a and $\beta$ obtained for the relation between drought severity and reduction in cereal crop production
Figure 30 -	The same as in Figure 29, but for hydroelectric power production
Figure 31 -	Contribution of drought events of a given severity to the total reduction in cereal production (left) and hydroelectric power (right)
Figure 32 -	Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between Inland Water Transportation and drought magnitude in Germany. Left: all cases with relevant reduction of goods transported; right: Same sample but without year 2009
Figure 33 -	Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between a reduction in crop production and drought severity for France (left) and between hydropower generation and drought severity for Spain (right)72
Figure 34 -	Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between crop yield losses (left) and hydropower generation (right) and drought magnitude in Romania
Figure 35 -	Country-specific damage functions depicting the relationship between crop yield losses (left) and hydropower generation (right) and drought magnitude in Germany
Figure 36 -	Global anthropogenic emissions of CO2, CH4, N2O and SO2 for the six illustrative SRES scenarios (A1B, A2, B1 and B2, A1FI and A1T). The IS92a scenario is also shown for comparison (IPCC, 2000, 2001)
Figure 37 -	Global carbon dioxide emissions, temperature, and sea level rise comparisons between scenario predictions of the five assessment reports (FAR: IPCC, 1990; SAR: IPCC, 1996; TAR: IPCC, 2001; AR4: IPCC, 2000 and 2007; and AR5 CMIP5: IPCC, 2013) and the observations (IPCC, 2014)
Figure 38 -	Average SPI-3 series for Germany for the recent past (1981-2010)

Figure 39 -	Average SPEI-3 series for Germany for the recent past (1981-2010) 78
Figure 40 -	Average SPI-3 series for Germany for the near future (2041-2070)
Figure 41 -	Average SPEI-3 series for Germany for the near future (2041-2070) 78
Figure 42 -	Average SPI-3 series for Germany for the far future (2071-2100)
Figure 43 -	Average SPEI-3 series for Germany for the far future (2071-2100)79
Figure 44 -	Average SPI-12 series for Romania for the recent past computed according to different baselines
Figure 45 -	Drought Frequency (DF): near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 46 -	Drought event Duration (DD): near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 47-	Drought event Severity (DS): near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 48 -	Drought event Intensity (DI): near future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 49 -	Drought Frequency (DF): far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 50 -	Drought Frequency (DF): far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 51 -	Drought event Duration (DD): far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 52 -	Drought event Duration (DD): far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 53 -	Drought event Severity (DS): far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 54 -	Drought event Severity (DS): far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 55 -	Drought event Intensity (DI): far future compared to recent past. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 56 -	Drought event Intensity (DI): far future compared to near future. Based on SPI-12 (left) and SPEI-12 (right)
Figure 57 -	European drought tendencies in the near future compared to the recent past
Figure 58 -	European drought tendencies in the far future compared to the recent past
Figure 59 -	European drought tendencies in the far future compared to the near future
Figure 60 -	Cereal reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): near future versus recent past
Figure 61 -	Cereal reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus recent past

Figure 62 -	Cereal reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus recent past.	93
Figure 63 -	Hydropower reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): near future versus recent past	. 94
Figure 64 -	Hydropower reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus recent past.	. 94
Figure 65 -	Hydropower reduction frequency (left) and total value (right): far future versus near future.	. 95

## List of tables

Table 1 -	Computational methodology for the composite indicator Z 10	6
Table 2 -	Statistical parameters for the Iberian drought in 2005	8
Table 3 –	Thirteen macro-regions as defined for this study	0
Table 4 -	Regional drought characteristics (X-3). The highest values are in bold 23	3
Table 5 -	Regional drought characteristics (X-12). The highest values are in bold23	3
Table 6 -	Most relevant meteorological drought events per region according to the composite indicator X-3	4
Table 7 -	Most relevant meteorological drought events per region according to the composite indicator X-12	5
Table 8 -	List of the 21 most relevant inter-regional drought events that occurred in Europe in 1950-2012	6
Table 9 -	Linear trends of the most important variables analysed per country and per decade	6
Table 10-	Total annual cereal yields for three European countries, from 1981 to 2012	4
Table 11 -	Different methodologies commonly used to link hazards and impacts	6
Table 12 -	Types of relations between drought severity and damages according to $\beta5^{c}$	9
Table 13 -	Drought-related characteristics used to quantify annual drought magnitude. In particular, severity is computed as the sum, in absolute values, of monthly values below zero of the selected indicator	1
Table 14 -	Correlation Coefficients between detrended cereal crop production and drought severity	2
Table 15 -	Correlation Coefficients between detrended hydroelectric power and drought severity	3

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union

Free phone number (\*): 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

How to obtain EU publications

Our publications are available from EU Bookshop (<u>http://bookshop.europa.eu</u>), where you can place an order with the sales agent of your choice.

The Publications Office has a worldwide network of sales agents.

You can obtain their contact details by sending a fax to (352) 29 29-42758.

## JRC Mission

As the Commission's in-house science service, the Joint Research Centre's mission is to provide EU policies with independent, evidence-based scientific and technical support throughout the whole policy cycle.

Working in close cooperation with policy Directorates-General, the JRC addresses key societal challenges while stimulating innovation through developing new methods, tools and standards, and sharing its know-how with the Member States, the scientific community and international partners.

Serving society Stimulating innovation Supporting legislation



doi:10.2788/450449 ISBN 978-92-79-55098-0